
www.IndyGo.net
317.635.3344

Board Report
January 28, 2021

1



AGENDA 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Thursday, January 28, 2021 
1. Call to Order and Roll Call (Presenters - Greg Hahn, Jill Russell) 
2. Awards and Commendation (Presenter - Inez Evans) 
3. Committee Chairperson Reports (Presenters - Richard Wilson, Adairius Gardner, Greg Hahn) 

  Finance Committee - Richard Wilson 
  Service Committee - Adairius Gardner 
  Governance & Audit Committee - Greg Hahn 

4. Consent Agenda (Presenter - Greg Hahn) 

9. Consideration and Approval of Governance & Audit Risk Universe/Heat Map (Presenter - Brian Atkinson) 
10. Consideration and Approval of Procurement Review (Presenter - Brian Atkinson) 
11. Consideration and Approval of Grants Review (Presenter - Brian Atkinson) 
12. Consideration and Approval of Compliance Environment Assessment (Presenter - Brian Atkinson) 

5. Regular Agenda (Presenter - Greg Hahn) 

1. Consideration and Approval of Minutes from Board Meeting held on December 3, 2020 & January 19, 
2021 

2. Consideration and Approval of Ft Wayne Conversion Design & Construction Services - Lochmueller 
Group (Presenter - LaTeeka Washington) 

3. Consideration and Approval of IndyGo East Campus (former Celadon Property) Design – Woolpert 
(Presenter - LaTeeka Washington) 

4. Consideration and Approval of Mobility Solutions and Customer Service Center Design – The Etica Group 
(Presenter - LaTeeka Washington) 

5. Consideration and Approval of Contract with Corey Saunders, CPA PLLC (Presenter - Brian Atkinson) 
6. Consideration and Approval of In Plant Pre-Build Bus (Fixed Route and Paratransit) Inspections 

(Presenter – Aaron Vogel) 
7. Consideration and Approval of Microsoft Licensing Renewal (Presenter - Marcus Burnside) 
8. Consideration and Approval of an Amendment to WSP’s Task Order to Provide Purple Line Final Design 

Services (Presenter - Jennifer Pyrz) 
13. Consideration and Approval of Resolution to Sell and Transfer Real Property Located at 9050 E. 33rd 

Street, Indianapolis, Indiana to the City of Indianapolis on Behalf of the Indianapolis Fire Department 
(Presenter - Jill Russell) 

6. Information Items (Presenter - Greg Hahn) 

1. DBE Department Update (Presenter - Chelci Hunter) 
2. Second Chance Hiring Initiative (Presenter - Jeff Brown) 
3. CEO Report (Presenter - Inez Evans) 
4. Section 5307/5311 Update 
5. Governance & Audit Workplan Status Update 
6. Ethics Hotline Summary Report 
7. Capital Projects Updates for January 2021 
8. Department Reports (Risk & Safety, Capital Planning, Public Affairs, Operations, Human Resources, & D 

& I and Workforce Development) 

7. Adjourn (Presenter - Greg Hahn) 

Executive Session prior to Board Meeting 
[Per IC 5-14- 1.5.6.l(bl {21 (Al and (Bl & IC 5-14-1.5.6.1 (bl (9)) 

 
Our next Board Meeting will be Thursday, February 25th, 2021 

 
 
 

2



AGENDA 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS – BOARD OF FINANCE 

Thursday, January 28, 2021 
8. Call to Order and Roll Call (Presenters - Greg Hahn, Jill Russell) 
9. Regular Agenda (Presenter - Greg Hahn) 

1. Board of Finance Recommendation (Presenter - Bart Brown) 

10. Adjourn (Presenter - Greg Hahn) 

Executive Session prior to Board Meeting 
[Per IC 5-14- 1.5.6.l(bl {21 (Al and (Bl & IC 5-14-1.5.6.1 (bl (9)) 

 
Our next Board Meeting will be Thursday, February 25th, 2021 

 

3



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Awards & Commendation Recognition for November/December 2020 
 

To:   Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 
From:    President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
Date:  January 28, 2020 

 
 

December 2020 Awards & Commendations 

Employee Position Recognition 

Bryan Gray Coach Operator – Fixed Route 23 Years of Safe Driving 

Jerome Norris Coach Operator – Fixed Route 23 Years of Safe Driving 

Deatra Bellamy Radio Control Dispatcher 
November Operations Employee of the 

Month 

Adrian Lewis Coach Operator – Fixed Route December Operator of the Month 

Ryan Wilhite 
Manager of Special Projects & Regional 

Mobility Integration 
Excellence Award Winner 

Mark Emmons 
Director of Training Safety & Life 

Services 
Excellence Award Winner 

Tyrone Rowan General Laborer Excellence Award Winner 

Moctar Gueye Manager – Transportation Excellence Award Winner 

James Collins Bus Wrangler Excellence Award Winner 

Kevin France Manager – Vehicle Maintenance Excellence Award Winner 

Tracy Jennings 
Director of Human Resource 

Management System & Benefits 
Excellence Award Winner 

Mark Bryson 
Senior Director for Human Resources 

Administration 
Excellence Award Winner 

Karolyn Ratcliff Contract Specialist Excellence Award Winner 

Faith Chadwick Public Information Officer Excellence Award Winner 

Jordan Patterson Engagement Specialist Excellence Award Winner 

David Miller Clerk – Service Center Retiring after 44 Years of Service 

Roscoe S. Brown, Jr. 
Executive Director – Indianapolis Public 

Transportation Foundation (IPTF) 
Retiring after 21 Years of Service 

4



INDYGO 2020 EXCELLENCE AWARD WINNERS SCRIPT 
 

 The Excellence Awards are given to teammates who inspired our leadership team as they demonstrated strong 
communication & collaboration skills, superior work ethic, flexibility, & admirable growth in the past year.  

o I am excited to share our eleven (11) Excellence Award winners of 2020! 
 Our first winner is Manager of Special Projects & Regional Mobility Integration, Ryan Wilhite, for his exceptional 

attention to detail, ability to communicate complex information, & passion for improving & enhancing IndyGo.  
o Representing our largest division, we have 5 winners from our Operations Team:  

 Mark Emmons, Director of Training Safety & Life Services, is being recognized for going above & beyond as 
IndyGo’s Emergency Operations Center representative as well as his admirable efforts improving the New 
Operator Training Program.  

 We would like to show our appreciation for our General Laborer, Tyrone Rowan for his flexibility, strong work 
ethic, positive outlook, & leadership, especially with new teammates learning the ropes.  

 Transportation Supervisor, Moctar Gueye, champions his team through constant positivity & encouragement, he 
is the go-to for his team, & always leads by example. Thank you Moctar! 

 Bus Wrangler, James Collins, is naturally a team player & leader. James has been chosen for the excellence awards 
for his expertise & dependability as he ensures all buses are ready for service. 

 Kevin France, our Vehicle Maintenance Manager, has been recognized for his expertise & approach in coaching 
supervisors & mechanics, his flexibility & work ethic, & his communication with teammates & vendors.  

 We have two winners from the HR team, our Director of Human Resource Management System & Benefits, Tracy 
Jennings, who went above & beyond addressing HR’s responsibilities during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 And Mark Bryson, Senior Director for Human Resources Administration, for his pro-activeness, intentionality, & 
calm influence addressing the constantly changing needs throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 Contract Specialist, Karolyn Ratcliff’s is an Excellence Award winner for her positive attitude, attention to detail, 
outstanding communication, & passion for her work!  

 Faith Chadwick, IndyGo’s Public Information Officer, was nominated for her exceptional work throughout 2020, 
especially as she took on leading the Public Affairs team during the last quarter of 2020 when her leadership was 
on leave.  

 Our final winner in 2020 is Engagement Specialist, Jordan Patterson, for showcasing his flexibility, intentionality, & 
growth when creating & executing IndyGo’s public engagement programs.   

 Congratulations! We are so grateful to have you all on the IndyGo Team!  

5



INDYGO 2020 EXCELLENCE AWARD WINNERS 
The Excellence Awards are given to teammates who inspired our leadership team as they demonstrated strong 
communication and collaboration skills, superior work ethic, flexibility, and admirable growth in the past year. The 
leadership team found these eleven (11) individuals stepped up and helped lighten the load this past year.  

WINNERS & COMMENTS: 
Ryan Wilhite 

 Manager of Special Projects and Regional Mobility Integration, Ryan Wilhite, is being recognized for his 
exceptional attention to detail, his ability to communicate complex information, and his passion for improving 
and enhancing IndyGo.  

 There were many reasons why he was nominated, here are a few: 
o “Ryan is inspiring in large part because he’s a “Swiss army knife” type of employee/teammate. Meaning, 

his knowledge and expertise – when coupled with his deep-seated passion for improving and enhancing 
public transit –add value to just about any task or project.”  

o “Ryan is a highly principled practitioner. He consistently demonstrates that he cares about how he comes 
across through his attitude, character, methods of communication, tone, and the respect he has for 
others. He acts with integrity. He demonstrates a sincere commitment to excellence in his work. You can 
count on Ryan to do what he says he’ll do and that he’ll do it to the best of his ability, even if it means 
occasionally working long hours. Ryan never lets his teammates down.” 

Mark Emmons 
 Mark Emmons, Director of Training Safety & Life Services, went above and beyond in a multitude of ways in 

2020, specifically as IndyGo’s Emergency Operations Center (EOC) representative and in his efforts in improving 
the New Operator Training Program.  

 Here are a few examples: 
o “Mark was our principal liaison to the EOC, he coordinated testing with Eli Lilly and with the Marion 

County Health Department (MCHD). He worked every day to keep up with the developments and report 
updates.  He was instrumental in getting testing done efficiently and effectively and served as our eyes 
and ears with the state and local officials.”   

o “Mark is willing to help where needed. He is willing to step up at any time, day or night and for any 
needed duration to get the job done. He inspires leadership in others, to help where they can, and make 
the IndyGo family a priority.”  
 

Tyrone Rowan   
 We would like to show our appreciation for our General Laborer, Tyrone Rowan for his flexibility, strong work 

ethic, positive outlook on life, and leadership, especially with new teammates learning the ropes. 
 There were many reasons why he was nominated, here are a few:  

o “Tyrone has always been very vocal, friendly, and a clear communicator. He is not afraid to make 
suggestions. Especially in the past year with COVID-19 teammate shortages, he has been flexible when it 
comes to helping cover other’s areas, which demonstrates his commitment to IndyGo.”    

o “Tyrone’s work ethic has always been strong. He is always on time and takes pride in his work. He is 
always willing to help out and go above and beyond expectations. He is a leader who works well with 
newer employees and enjoys showing them the proper way to do things, enabling their growth as an 
employee.” 
 

Moctar Gueye 
 Transportation Supervisor, Moctar Gueye, champions his team through constant positivity and encouragement, 

he is the go-to for his team, and always leads by example.  
 Here are a few of the compliments we heard about Moctar:  

6



o “Moctar is a go-to team member, he will work any hours, and will cover any task in a timely manner.”   
o “He gives so much positive energy and encouragement to IndyGo teammates. Moctar is the people’s 

champ.”   
   
James Collins   

 Bus Wrangler, James Collins, is naturally a team player and leader. James has been chosen for the Excellence 
Awards for his expertise and dependability as he ensures all buses are ready for service. 

 Here are some antidotes:  
o “Collins is often called on by other areas to help assist. The staff relies on his expertise. He is the primary 

resource in the department for all things “bus wrangling.” He is always willing to help educate employees 
at all levels about the bus wrangling process and collaborates across the entire organization to help 
increase efficiency and resolve operational challenges.”   

o “He is a great team player, confident in his role, and a natural leader. He is quick to fill-in when needed 
and he has often worked his off days to help cover during short-and long-term staffing shortages. His 
efforts help maintain service on the street; especially during the pandemic. He has an excellent work 
ethic and is always flexible to meet the needs of the organization at a moment’s notice. Collins is quick to 
share valuable insights to help avoid service interruptions, garnering whatever resources necessary to 
make it happen. He clearly takes pride in his work and is an excellent asset to the team.” 
 

Kevin France  
 Kevin France, our Vehicle Maintenance Manager, has been recognized for his expertise and approach in 

coaching supervisors and mechanics, his flexibility and work ethic, and his communication with teammates and 
vendors. 

 Here are more praises about Kevin’s fantastic work: 
o “Kevin is the current project manager on bus barrier installations, he has proven his abilities to manage 

projects and work with outside contractors while communicating and keep leadership abreast of all 
updates.”  

o “He is willing to work whenever needed and will call-in to help his department while he is off duty. He has 
helpful technical knowledge and is willing to coach and train supervisors as well as mechanics to help 
with repair issues, managing employees, and scheduling.”    

 
Tracy Jennings  

 Tracy Jennings, Director of Human Resource Management System and Benefits, went above and beyond 
addressing HR’s responsibilities during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 Here are a few praises shared about Tracy: 
o “Processing the COVID-19 leaves and addressing the other day-to-day benefit matters was an extremely 

demanding process that required a significant amount of rigor, patience, and motivation. Undeterred, 
but under enormous pressure, she designed the new tracking and leave system by working quickly with 
departments to learn how to maximize efficiency and communications and streamline new processes for 
the entire IndyGo workforce.”  

o “Tracy prides herself in providing excellent customer service and often pushes her heavy workload aside 
to take care of the needs of others, including her colleagues. Unquestionably, Tracy is collegial, solution-
driven, and deserving of recognition from the IndyGo community.” 

Mark Bryson  
 Mark Bryson, Senior Director for Human Resources Administration, is being recognized for his pro-activeness, 

intentionality, and calm influence addressing the constantly changing needs throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic. He started in March 2020 and hit the ground running.  

 A few of the many praises Mark received were:  

7



o “Mark’s initiative for starting the first IndyGo Golf League brought non-represented and represented 
employees together on a weekly basis to play golf. Through this, Mark created a forum for employees to 
get to know each other and establish greater communication with one another.”  

o “Mark exemplifies IndyGo’s core values through his work ethic and daily interactions with IndyGo 
management, the executive team, and staff. Time and time again, Mark approaches each day with rigor 
as his work ethic, positive attitude, and attention to detail are unmatched.”  

Karolyn Ratcliff 
 It is hard to miss Contract Specialist, Karolyn Ratcliff’s positive attitude, attention to detail, excellent 

communication, and passion for her work!  
o “Karolyn is the first to plan a retirement party, make someone feel special on their birthday, or organize 

a group event. She is a very creative individual. What is inspiring is the way that she organizes the 
quarterly blood drives for IndyGo. She takes this on with enthusiasm and passion. She truly believes in 
the program and the good it can bring the community.”  

o “Karolyn shows up, no matter the time of day or weekday/weekend. For example, she had many 
contracts taken to the December board meeting that had to be contracted and issued a PO before 12/31. 
As the clock ticked down to New Year’s Eve, and even on vacation, Karolyn showed up and got her work 
done. Her work ethic is commendable.” 

Faith Chadwick 
 Faith Chadwick, Public Information Officer, was nominated for her excellent work throughout 2020, especially as 

she took on leading the Public Affairs team during the last quarter of 2020 when her leadership was on leave.  
 Here are a few of the compliments we heard about Faith: 

o “Faith stepped up and led the Public Affairs team for 2 months, meeting every goal they had in front of 
them. This is in addition to assisting government affairs. She demonstrated great leadership skills and 
has A+ communication skills.”  

o “As new team members have joined the Public Affairs team over the past year, Faith has served as a 
supervisor, mentor, and friend to all of them. She has made the IndyGo family stronger by always 
offering sound and thoughtful advice and guidance.” 

Jordan Patterson 
 Engagement Specialist, Jordan Patterson, showcased his flexibility and intentionality in 2020.   
 Here are some antidotes:  

o “Jordan took the initiative to expand our outreach efforts by creating the “IndyGo Now” videos. These 
videos were written, directed and starred Jordan and allowed our department to reach more of our riders 
and supporters.”  

o “Jordan transitioned our team efforts to a virtual, pandemic-friendly strategy seemingly overnight. With 
a very small team, he was able to increase our engagement at record levels and with very few problems. 
Jordan’s growth during this time is evident to all his co-workers. He is taking initiative, trusting his 
instincts, and putting himself out there more and more as an expert.” 

Congratulations again to all our 2020 Excellence Award winners! We are so grateful to have you apart of the IndyGo 
Team! Thank you for all you do! 

8



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

November’s 2020 Safe Drivers Recognition 

                           
 

The following Operators are recognized for their safe driving for the month of November and received a 
National Safety Council patch, pin and certificate. 

 

Operator 
ID 
# 

Years of Safe 
Driving 

Dexter Davis 1417 18 

Ricardo Oxley 4538 12 

Larry Patterson 4612 11 

Sean Cox 1190 10 

Laura Beck 8445 8 

Mercedes Ingram 8388 8 

Dewayne Sims 8456 8 

Nathan Barnes 8590 6 

LaShonda Carroll 8500 5 

Kelli Nuckolls 8809 3 

Larry Hall 9352 1 

Anthony Hudgins 9493 1 

Enrique San Pedro 9391 1 

9



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

December’s 2020 Safe Drivers Recognition 

                           
 

The following Operators are recognized for their safe driving for the month of December and received a 
National Safety Council patch, pin and certificate. 

 

Operator ID # 
Years of Safe 

Driving 

Gray, Bryan C. 2338 23 

Norris, Jerome 4405 23 

Hartwell, Geneva 2581 12 

Lewis, Adrian 8192 11 

Murray, Beth  8218 8 

Reel, Eleanor  8492 6 

McGhee, Samuel 8482 5 

Dean, Rena 8860 4 

Bellamy, Shantay 8958 3 

Cooper, McFranklin 9079 3 

Hankins, Tiona 9069 3 

Turner, Lashanda 8908 3 

Adkins. Phillip 9164 2 

Horst, Martin 9292 2 

Moncel, Maryah 9284 2 

Carter,Deborah 8953 1 

Harrison, Michael 9575 1 

10



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Finance Committee Chairperson Report – January 2021 
 

To:   President/CEO Inez Evans and Chair and Board of Directors 
From:    Finance Committee Chairperson Richard Wilson 
Date:  January 21, 2021 

 
 
ISSUE:  
A report of IndyGo January Finance Committee Meeting will be presented at the board meeting. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

Richard Wilson 
Finance Committee Chairperson’s Report 

January 21, 2021 
 

The Finance Committee scheduled for January 21, 2021 at 8:30am was cancelled due to a lack of a quorum. 
 
 
Mr. Chairman, that concludes my report.   
 

11



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Service Committee Chairperson Report – January 2021 

To: President/CEO Inez Evans and Chair and Board of Directors 
From:  Service Committee Chairperson Adairius Gardner 
Date: January 21, 2021 

ISSUE: 
A report of IndyGo January Service Committee Meeting will be presented at the board meeting. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

Adairius Gardner 
Service Committee Chairperson’s Report 

January 21, 2021 

The Service Committee met on January 21, 2021 at 10:30am. In attendance was, myself, Adairius Gardner, Chairman of 
the Service Committee, as well as Committee Member Lise Pace. Due to the Coronavirus Pandemic, this committee met 
remotely via video conferencing. 

We reviewed and recommended Board approval for the following items on tonight’s agenda: Regular Agenda Items A-1, 
thru A-9. Action Items A-5 and A-8 on the Regular Agenda for this evening was not heard by the Service Committee.  

The Service Committee did not recommend any items to the consent agenda, thus all items will be presented and heard 
during the regular agenda portion of this meeting. Therefore, I have nothing further to report. 

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my report.

12



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Governance and Audit Committee Chairperson Report – January 2021 

To: President/CEO Inez Evans and Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 
From:  Governance and Audit Committee Chairperson Greg Hahn 
Date: January 21, 2021 

ISSUE:  
A report of IndyGo January Governance and Audit Committee Meeting will be presented at the board meeting. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

Greg Hahn 
Governance and Audit Committee Chairperson’s Report 

January 21, 2021 

The Governance and Audit Committee met on January 21, 2021 at 1 PM. In attendance was, myself, Greg Hahn, 
Chairman of the Governance & Audit Committee, as well as Committee Member Adairius Gardner. Committee Member 
Rick Wilson was unable to attend this meeting. Due to the Coronavirus Pandemic, this committee met remotely via 
video conferencing. 

We reviewed and recommended Board approval for the following items on tonight’s agenda:  Consent Agenda Items A-
10, A-11, A-12 & A-13. 

An item from the Consent Agenda I would like to highlight is item A-12, Consideration and Approval of Governance & 
Audit Grants Management Assessment. Governance and Audit Deputy Director Brian Atkinson and Manager of Grants 
Cassandra Burmeister, along with consultants Corey Saunders and Pat Hagan provided the assessment of IndyGo’s 
Grants Management. The Grants function resides under the Budget Office within the Finance Department. It has two 
approved FTEs, who manage FTA required filings and grant draw downs. Grants personnel work closely with other 
departments, including Infrastructure, Operations, and Information Technology. 

As a result of the review, the team has rated the overall risk associated with this report as “High”, because they 
believe that there is:   

 Opportunity for return on investment related to certain recommendations (increased revenue or decreased
costs)

 Ability to enhance current manual or people-driven controls with automated or system-derived controls.
 Applicability of these recommendations related to anticipated significant FTA grant funding for future Bus

Rapid Transit (BRT) lines

Madam President, that concludes my report.

13



Date: January 07, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Deputy of Governance & Audit Brian Atkinson 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Governance & Audit Risk Universe/Heat Map 

ACTION ITEM A – 9 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Review and receive Governance & Audit Risk Universe/Heat Map 2021 
 See Reference Item 2020-8

BACKGROUND: 

During late 2020 the Governance & Audit team, with input from Management and its Subject Matter Advisors, compiled 
a Heat Map to identify and illustrate the Agency’s risk universe.  

DISCUSSION: 

A “heat map” is a way to capture the risks relevant to an entity (also referred to as the entity’s “risk universe”), 
measured by a combination of how likely each risk is to actually occur, and how severe the impact would be should the 
risk occur.   

We compiled the heat map after a series of 14 initial conversations with members of IndyGo management and four 
Board Members, followed by detailed review with our Subject Matter Advisors and comparison to risks across other 
similar transit agencies.  We then followed up with more detailed discussions with certain members of management and 
held a final review meeting with IndyGo’s President/CEO and also General Counsel. 

The heat map is intended to serve as a basis for how we design our workplan going forward and has thus informed the 
workplan presented to the Committee separately.  Additionally, going forward the heat map will be refreshed annually, 
with adjustments made to the ongoing workplan accordingly. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No Fiscal Impact 

14



DBE DECLARATION: 

N/A 

STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 

This action was reviewed by the Governance & Audit Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Consent 
Agenda.   

15



An
nu

al
 R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 N

o.
 2

02
0-

8 

R
ep

or
t I

ss
ue

d 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

1,
 2

02
0 

16



 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 S

U
M

M
AR

Y
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

Th
e 

Go
ve

rn
an

ce
 &

 A
ud

it 
fu

nc
tio

n 
w

as
 fo

rm
al

ize
d 

w
ith

in
 In

dy
Go

 in
 e

ar
ly

 
20

19
.  

Go
ve

rn
an

ce
 &

 A
ud

it 
(G

&
A)

 a
im

s t
o 

be
 a

 c
ol

la
bo

ra
tiv

e,
 st

ra
te

gi
ca

lly
-

fo
cu

se
d 

an
d 

cr
os

s-
fu

nc
tio

na
l s

ol
ut

io
n 

fo
r p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 ri
sk

 
m

iti
ga

tio
n.

 

O
ur

 g
oa

l i
s t

o 
bo

th
 h

el
p 

im
pr

ov
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
cr

os
s t

he
 a

ge
nc

y 
as

 w
el

l a
s  

id
en

tif
yi

ng
 a

nd
 su

pp
or

tin
g 

st
af

f e
ffo

rt
s t

o 
re

m
ed

ia
te

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 
w

ea
kn

es
se

s.

Th
e 

FY
 2

02
0 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
W

or
k 

Pl
an

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
by

 th
e 

Go
ve

rn
an

ce
 a

nd
 

Au
di

t C
om

m
itt

ee
 in

cl
ud

ed
 a

 re
fr

es
h 

of
 th

e 
ris

k 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
rig

in
al

ly
 

pe
rf

or
m

ed
 in

 e
ar

ly
 2

01
9.

 T
he

 re
su

lts
 o

f t
he

 ri
sk

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t r

ef
re

sh
 a

llo
w

 
us

 to
 d

es
ig

n 
a 

fo
rw

ar
d-

lo
ok

in
g 

w
or

k 
pr

og
ra

m
 th

at
 is

 b
ot

h 
pr

oa
ct

iv
e 

an
d 

re
ac

tiv
e,

 a
nd

 w
hi

ch
 a

dd
re

ss
es

 th
e 

fu
ll 

sp
ec

tr
um

 o
f r

isk
s i

llu
st

ra
te

d 
be

lo
w

.

O
ve

ra
ll 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
an

d 
Re

vi
ew

 H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

Th
e 

He
at

 M
ap

 a
nd

 re
su

lti
ng

 W
or

k 
Pl

an
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
pa

ge
s 

re
pr

es
en

t t
he

 re
su

lt 
of

 th
is 

ris
k 

as
se

ss
m

en
t r

ef
re

sh
. T

he
 ri

sk
s i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
re

, i
n 

ge
ne

ra
l, 

w
ha

t w
e 

w
ou

ld
 e

xp
ec

t w
ith

in
 a

 tr
an

sit
 a

ge
nc

y 
at

 th
e 

po
in

t o
n 

its
 

gr
ow

th
 c

ur
ve

 w
he

re
 In

dy
Go

 is
 a

s w
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 2
02

1.
 A

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 a

tt
en

tio
n 

to
w

ar
d 

m
an

ag
in

g 
th

es
e 

ris
ks

 in
 th

e 
ne

ar
 te

rm
 w

ill
 b

e 
cr

iti
ca

l t
o 

th
e 

co
nt

in
ue

d 
su

cc
es

s o
f t

he
 a

ge
nc

y.
W

e 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 to
 th

an
k 

In
dy

Go
 st

af
f a

nd
 a

ll 
th

os
e 

in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 a

ss
ist

in
g 

us
 in

 
co

nn
ec

tio
n 

w
ith

 th
is 

ris
k 

as
se

ss
m

en
t r

ef
re

sh
. Q

ue
st

io
ns

 sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
ad

dr
es

se
d 

to
 

th
e 

In
dy

Go
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Au

di
t a

t: 
ba

tk
in

so
n@

in
dy

go
.n

et
.

O
bj

ec
tiv

e 
an

d 
Sc

op
e

Du
rin

g 
N

ov
em

be
r 2

02
0 

w
e 

m
et

 w
ith

 a
 to

ta
l o

f 1
4 

m
em

be
rs

 o
f I

nd
yG

o 
m

an
ag

em
en

t, 
re

pr
es

en
tin

g 
ev

er
y 

fu
nc

tio
na

l d
ep

ar
tm

en
t a

cr
os

s t
he

 a
ge

nc
y 

(fi
na

nc
e,

 o
pe

ra
tio

ns
, c

om
pl

ia
nc

e,
 le

ga
l, 

HR
, e

tc
.).

 A
dd

iti
on

al
ly

, w
e 

m
et

 w
ith

 
fo

ur
 m

em
be

rs
 o

f I
nd

yG
o’

s B
oa

rd
 o

f D
ire

ct
or

s a
nd

 sp
ok

e 
w

ith
 B

KD
 L

LP
’s

 
ex

te
rn

al
 a

ud
it 

pa
rt

ne
r.

W
ith

 e
ac

h 
in

di
vi

du
al

 w
e 

di
sc

us
se

d 
ris

ks
 sp

ec
ifi

c 
to

 th
ei

r a
re

a(
s)

 o
f 

re
sp

on
sib

ili
ty

, a
s w

el
l a

s t
he

ir 
pe

rs
pe

ct
iv

e 
on

 ri
sk

s a
ge

nc
yw

id
e,

 e
xt

er
na

l r
isk

s,
 

an
d 

th
re

at
s t

o 
In

dy
Go

’s
 m

iss
io

n 
an

d 
ob

je
ct

iv
es

.
O

ur
 g

oa
l i

n 
co

m
pi

lin
g 

th
e 

He
at

 M
ap

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 h

er
ei

n 
w

as
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 th
e 

ho
lis

tic
 ri

sk
 u

ni
ve

rs
e 

re
le

va
nt

 to
 In

dy
Go

. A
cc

or
di

ng
ly

, c
er

ta
in

 ri
sk

 a
re

as
 m

ay
 

se
em

 e
as

ily
 a

ud
ita

bl
e,

 w
hi

le
 o

th
er

s l
es

s s
o.

In
 id

en
tif

yi
ng

 a
nd

 ra
nk

in
g 

th
e 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

ris
k 

ar
ea

s,
 w

e 
le

ve
ra

ge
d 

th
re

e 
pr

im
ar

y 
fil

te
rs

:


O
ur

 c
ol

le
ct

iv
e 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g 
of

 In
dy

Go
 a

nd
 it

s o
pe

ra
tin

g 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t
in

 In
di

an
ap

ol
is,


O

ur
 su

bj
ec

t m
at

te
r e

xp
er

tis
e 

in
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 tr
an

sit
 sp

ac
e,

 a
nd


O

ur
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
in

 in
te

rn
al

 a
ud

it 
an

d 
en

te
rp

ris
e 

ris
k.

17

mailto:batkinson@indygo.net


 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 
Risk Impact

LO
W

HI
G

H

Bu
s 

Pr
op

ul
sio

n 
So

lu
tio

ns

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

St
at

e 
of

 
Go

od
 

Re
pa

ir

Gr
an

ts
*

Pa
ra

tr
an

sit
 

Bu
s F

le
et

 
Pu

rc
ha

se
 

St
or

er
oo

m
 &

 
M

at
er

ia
ls 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

Vu
ln

er
ab

ili
ty

Po
lic

ie
s/

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

/ S
O

Ps
*

Bu
s 

Ra
pi

d 
Tr

an
sit

 
Li

ne
s*

In
di

an
ap

ol
is 

Pu
bl

ic
 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
Fo

un
da

tio
n

Tr
ai

ni
ng

CO
VI

D-
19

 
Im

pa
ct

*

Bu
sin

es
s 

Co
nt

in
ui

ty
 

Pl
an

ni
ng

*

*R
isk

 A
re

a 
w

as
 in

 sc
op

e 
w

ith
in

 a
 F

Y2
0 

G&
A 

pr
oj

ec
t

Sh
ad

ed
 A

re
as

 in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 P

ro
po

se
d 

FY
21

 G
&

A 
w

or
kp

la
n

Do
cu

m
en

t 
Co

nt
ro

l &
 

Re
te

nt
io

n

He
al

th
ca

re
 

Co
st

s

Pr
op

er
ty

 
Pu

rc
ha

se
s

Ch
an

ge
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Re
ad

in
es

s

M
aj

or
 

Se
rv

ic
e 

Co
nt

ra
ct

s/
 

M
O

U
s

De
ce

nt
ra

liz
at

io
n 

of
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

O
pe

ra
to

r 
Di

sp
at

ch

M
ob

ili
ty

 
as

 a
 

Se
rv

ic
e

HI
G

H

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
*

M
ic

ro
so

ft
 D

36
5 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n

Ca
pi

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Fa
re

 
Co

lle
ct

io
n

18



 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 

Pr
op

os
ed

 2
02

1 
Au

di
t W

or
kp

la
n 

Pr
oj

ec
t A

re
a 

De
sc

rip
tio

n 

IT
 S

ys
te

m
 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

ns
 

Ex
am

in
e 

th
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 su

pp
or

tin
g 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 su
pp

or
t t

he
 v

ar
io

us
 sy

st
em

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
ns

 in
 th

e 
qu

eu
e.

 F
oc

us
 o

n 
M

ic
ro

so
ft

 D
36

5,
 w

ith
 p

ot
en

tia
l f

ut
ur

e 
fo

cu
s o

n 
ot

he
r s

ys
te

m
s,

 
su

ch
 a

s H
AS

TU
S,

 e
Bu

ild
er

, A
va

il,
 F

ar
e 

Ca
rd

 R
et

ai
l N

et
w

or
k,

 L
M

S 
(L

ea
rn

in
g 

M
an

ag
em

en
t S

ys
te

m
) a

nd
 th

e 
In

tr
an

et
. C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

M
et

ho
do

lo
gi

es
 fo

llo
w

ed
 in

 th
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 e

xe
cu

tio
n 

of
 sy

st
em

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n
•

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
ar

ou
nd

 ti
m

el
in

es
, d

ea
dl

in
es

, p
ro

gr
es

s r
ep

or
tin

g,
 p

la
n 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

,
th

ird
-p

ar
ty

 v
en

do
r m

an
ag

em
en

t, 
et

c.
•

Ad
eq

ua
cy

 o
f p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

pr
oj

ec
t m

an
ag

em
en

t s
ta

ffi
ng

•
Ad

dr
es

sin
g 

of
 e

nd
 u

se
r c

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 a

nd
 re

sk
ill

in
g

Fa
re

 C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

Ex
am

in
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 h
el

p 
en

su
re

 se
cu

re
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n,
 c

us
to

dy
 a

nd
 re

po
rt

in
g 

of
 

fa
re

s a
cr

os
s I

nd
yG

o’
s S

ys
te

m
. C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s c
ur

re
nt

ly
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

ro
un

d 
fa

re
bo

x 
co

un
tin

g,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
of

ad
ap

ta
bi

lit
y 

of
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s t
o 

fo
rt

hc
om

in
g 

ne
w

 fa
ci

lit
ie

s
•

Te
ch

no
lo

gi
es

 in
 p

la
ce

 e
na

bl
in

g 
fa

re
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
ac

ro
ss

 In
dy

Go
’s

 S
ys

te
m

, b
ot

h 
TV

M
 a

nd
 v

eh
ic

le
-b

as
ed

Ca
pi

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Ex
am

in
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 su
pp

or
t s

uc
ce

ss
fu

l m
an

ag
em

en
t o

ve
r I

nd
yG

o’
s c

ap
ita

l 
pr

oj
ec

ts
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 B
us

 R
ap

id
 T

ra
ns

it 
(B

RT
) l

in
es

 a
nd

 fo
rt

hc
om

in
g 

fa
ci

lit
y 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

. C
on

sid
er

at
io

ns
 

m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

M
et

ho
do

lo
gi

es
 fo

llo
w

ed
 in

 th
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t o

f c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
pr

oj
ec

ts
•

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
ar

ou
nd

 ti
m

el
in

es
, d

ea
dl

in
es

, c
ha

ng
e 

or
de

rs
, p

ro
gr

es
s r

ep
or

tin
g,

pl
an

 a
dj

us
tm

en
ts

, e
tc

.
•

Ad
eq

ua
cy

 o
f p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

pr
oj

ec
t m

an
ag

em
en

t s
ta

ffi
ng

 re
la

tiv
e 

to
 e

ac
h 

pr
oj

ec
t/

fu
nc

tio
na

l a
re

a
•

O
ut

re
ac

h 
an

d 
ex

te
rn

al
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 re

la
te

d 
to

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 c

ap
ita

l p
ro

je
ct

s,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
ev

an
ge

lis
m

 a
nd

 p
ub

lic
 o

ut
re

ac
h

19



 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 

Pr
op

os
ed

 2
02

1 
Au

di
t W

or
kp

la
n 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)
 

Pr
oj

ec
t A

re
a 

De
sc

rip
tio

n 

He
al

th
ca

re
 C

os
ts

 

Ex
am

in
e 

tr
en

ds
 a

nd
 d

riv
er

s s
ur

ro
un

di
ng

 re
ce

nt
 in

cr
ea

se
s i

n 
he

al
th

ca
re

 c
os

ts
. C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

Th
ird

-p
ar

ty
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

to
r’s

 ro
le

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 c

on
tr

ac
t t

er
m

s a
nd

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e

•
In

dy
Go

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
 h

ea
lth

ca
re

 b
en

ef
it 

ut
ili

za
tio

n
•

O
n-

sit
e 

cl
in

ic
 c

on
tr

ac
t a

nd
 se

rv
ic

es
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 R
O

I a
nd

 im
pa

ct
 u

po
n 

ov
er

ar
ch

in
g 

he
al

th
ca

re
 c

os
ts

•
W

el
ln

es
s p

ro
gr

am
s v

s.
 re

ac
tiv

e 
se

rv
ic

es
•

Pr
em

iu
m

 c
os

ts
 a

nd
 u

se
 o

f h
ig

h-
de

du
ct

ib
le

 H
SA

s
•

Co
st

-s
ha

rin
g 

op
tio

ns
, e

.g
., 

co
m

m
un

ity
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s,

 p
hi

la
nt

hr
op

y 
op

tio
ns

St
or

er
oo

m
 &

 
M

at
er

ia
ls 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Ex
am

in
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 su
pp

or
t s

uc
ce

ss
fu

l m
an

ag
em

en
t o

ve
r I

nd
yG

o’
s c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

pr
oj

ec
ts

, 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

Bu
s R

ap
id

 T
ra

ns
it 

(B
RT

) l
in

es
. C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

Sy
st

em
s a

nd
 p

ro
ce

ss
es

 in
 p

la
ce

 to
 su

pp
or

t t
im

el
y 

re
pl

en
ish

m
en

t o
f p

ar
ts

 a
nd

 su
pp

lie
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

ac
cu

ra
te

 re
po

rt
in

g 
of

 c
os

t d
et

ai
l

•
Pr

oc
es

se
s a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
s i

n 
pl

ac
e 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
pr

op
er

 se
gr

eg
at

io
n 

of
 d

ut
ie

s
•

Po
st

-im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
Dy

na
w

ay
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

 A
ss

et
 M

an
ag

em
en

t s
ys

te
m

M
aj

or
 S

er
vi

ce
 

Co
nt

ra
ct

s/
 

M
em

or
an

du
m

s o
f 

U
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 

U
nd

er
st

an
d 

th
e 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
of

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 se

rv
ic

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
s w

ith
in

 In
dy

Go
, w

ith
 a

 fo
cu

s o
n 

th
e 

M
O

U
 w

ith
 

th
e 

ci
ty

 o
f I

nd
ia

na
po

lis
. C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

Re
vi

ew
in

g 
co

un
te

rp
ar

ty
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 te

rm
s a

nd
 c

on
di

tio
ns

•
Co

nf
irm

in
g 

m
ut

ua
l f

ul
fil

lm
en

t o
f o

bl
ig

at
io

ns
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

liv
es

 o
f a

gr
ee

m
en

ts
•

Co
ns

id
er

at
io

n 
of

 e
co

no
m

ic
 p

ro
te

ct
io

ns
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

ro
un

d 
In

dy
Go

 a
nd

 it
s i

nt
er

es
ts

An
nu

al
 R

isk
 

As
se

ss
m

en
t R

ef
re

sh
 

an
d 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
W

or
kp

la
n 

De
sig

n 

U
pd

at
e 

th
e 

ex
ist

in
g 

In
dy

Go
 ri

sk
 u

ni
ve

rs
e 

by
 p

er
fo

rm
in

g 
th

e 
an

nu
al

 ri
sk

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t r

ef
re

sh
. S

te
ps

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

in
te

rv
ie

w
 m

em
be

rs
 o

f I
nd

yG
o 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 th

e 
Bo

ar
d

•
Pr

io
rit

ize
 th

e 
ris

k 
un

iv
er

se
 a

n 
up

da
te

d 
he

at
 m

ap
•

Le
ve

ra
gi

ng
 th

e 
as

se
ss

m
en

t r
es

ul
ts

, d
es

ig
n 

th
e 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
20

22
 in

te
rn

al
 a

ud
it 

w
or

kp
la

n

20



 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
ut

ur
e 

Au
di

t A
re

as
 

Pr
oj

ec
t A

re
a 

De
sc

rip
tio

n 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 

Ex
am

in
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 h
el

p 
en

su
re

 th
e 

ad
eq

ua
te

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 o
f I

nd
yG

o 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

an
d 

Bo
ar

d 
m

em
be

rs
. C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

Dr
iv

er
 tr

ai
ni

ng
•

M
ob

ile
-e

na
bl

ed
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 o

pt
io

ns
•

O
ng

oi
ng

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 c
ar

ee
r d

ev
el

op
m

en
t

•
Fu

nc
tio

na
l c

ro
ss

-t
ra

in
in

g
•

Bo
ar

d 
m

em
be

r o
rie

nt
at

io
n 

an
d 

ed
uc

at
io

n
•

An
nu

al
 E

th
ic

s t
ra

in
in

g 
an

d 
re

-c
er

tif
ic

at
io

n

IT
 S

ys
te

m
 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

ns
 

W
e 

m
ay

 re
co

m
m

en
d 

co
nt

in
ua

tio
n 

of
 IT

 sy
st

em
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

re
vi

ew
s o

r m
on

ito
rin

g 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

, 
se

le
ct

in
g 

ad
di

tio
na

l s
ys

te
m

s n
ot

 re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 2

02
1.

 C
on

sid
er

at
io

ns
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

•
HA

ST
U

S
•

eB
ui

ld
er

•
Av

ai
l

•
Fa

re
 C

ar
d 

Re
ta

il 
N

et
w

or
k

•
Le

ar
ni

ng
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ys

te
m

 (L
M

S)
•

In
tr

an
et

IT
 –

 O
th

er
 A

re
as

 
(T

BD
) 

Ba
se

d 
up

on
 th

e 
re

su
lts

 o
f t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 y

ea
r’s

 C
om

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
IT

 R
isk

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

w
e 

w
ou

ld
 p

ro
po

se
 in

 
fu

tu
re

 y
ea

rs
 to

 in
cl

ud
e 

ad
di

tio
na

l I
T-

re
la

te
d 

ar
ea

s w
ith

in
 sc

op
e.

 C
on

sid
er

at
io

ns
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

•
IT

 g
en

er
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s (
e.

g.
, u

se
r s

ec
ur

ity
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n/

lo
gi

ca
l a

cc
es

s o
ve

r a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 d
at

a,
sy

st
em

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t l
ife

 c
yc

le
 c

on
tr

ol
s,

 sy
st

em
 a

nd
 d

at
a 

ba
ck

up
 a

nd
 re

co
ve

ry
, e

tc
.)

•
IT

 n
et

w
or

k 
an

d 
da

ta
 se

cu
rit

y
•

IT
 c

lo
ud

 m
ig

ra
tio

n
•

IT
 c

ha
ng

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t

21



 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
ut

ur
e 

Au
di

t A
re

as
 (c

on
tin

ue
d)

 

Pr
oj

ec
t A

re
a 

De
sc

rip
tio

n 

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
na

l A
re

as
 

Ex
am

in
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

s s
up

po
rt

in
g 

th
e 

su
cc

es
sf

ul
 fl

ow
 o

f t
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 in
 ro

ut
in

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 

ar
ea

s.
 C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 
•

Ac
co

un
ts

 P
ay

ab
le

•
Pa

yr
ol

l
•

Fi
xe

d 
As

se
ts

, e
tc

.
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e 

a 
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
of

 in
te

rv
ie

w
s a

nd
 o

bs
er

va
tio

n,
 p

ro
ce

ss
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
s,

 p
ro

ce
ss

 
m

ap
pi

ng
, s

ub
st

an
tiv

e 
tr

an
sa

ct
io

n 
te

st
in

g,
 a

nd
 a

na
ly

tic
al

 re
vi

ew
. 

22



 A
nn

ua
l R

is
k 

Re
fr

es
h 

&
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Au
di

t W
or

kp
la

n 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
&

 A
ud

it 
Re

po
rt

 
Is

su
ed

: D
ec

em
be

r 2
1,

 2
02

0 

20
20

 G
&

A 
Pr

oj
ec

ts
 C

om
pl

et
ed

 

Pr
oj

ec
t A

re
a 

Re
po

rt
ed

 to
 G

&
A 

Co
m

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
IT

 R
isk

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

Pl
an

ne
d 

fo
r M

ar
ch

 1
8,

 2
02

1 

Ri
sk

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ef
re

sh
 &

 2
02

1 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

W
or

k 
Pl

an
 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

21
, 2

02
1 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
21

, 2
02

1 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t R

ev
ie

w
 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

21
, 2

02
1 

Gr
an

ts
 P

ro
ce

ss
 R

ev
ie

w
 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

21
, 2

02
1 

Re
d 

Li
ne

 L
es

so
ns

 L
ea

rn
ed

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

7,
 2

02
0 

Bu
sin

es
s C

on
tin

ui
ty

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Pr

og
re

ss
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t/
Pa

nd
em

ic
 R

ea
di

ne
ss

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

7,
 2

02
0 

In
iti

al
 R

isk
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t &
 2

02
0 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
W

or
k 

Pl
an

 
Ju

ne
 1

6,
 2

02
0 

In
di

vi
du

al
 A

d 
Ho

c 
Au

di
t I

te
m

s 

N
on

-O
rd

er
 In

vo
ic

e/
Ex

pi
re

d 
Ag

re
em

en
ts

 
Ju

ne
 1

6,
 2

02
0 

O
nl

in
e 

Cr
ed

it 
Ca

rd
 E

rr
or

 
Ju

ne
 1

6,
 2

02
0 

Lo
st

 &
 F

ou
nd

 P
ol

ic
y 

Ch
an

ge
 

Ju
ne

 1
6,

 2
02

0 

Tr
an

sd
ev

 F
ue

l P
ur

ch
as

e 
Re

po
rt

in
g 

Ju
ne

 1
6,

 2
02

0 

Em
pl

oy
ee

 T
er

m
in

at
io

n 
Ti

m
el

in
es

s 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
0 

23



Date: January 07, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Deputy of Governance & Audit Brian Atkinson 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Governance & Audit Procurement Review 

ACTION ITEM A – 10 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Review and receive Governance & Audit Report 2020-9 
 Procurement Review

BACKGROUND: 

The FY 2020 Internal Audit Work Plan approved by the Governance and Audit Committee included a review of IndyGo’s 
Procurement Process. 

DISCUSSION: 

IndyGo’s Procurement team is responsible for purchasing, contracts administration, and the disadvantaged business 
enterprise program.  Procurement ensures IndyGo is compliant with Federal, State, and Local guidelines, given the 
volume and variety of grants funding the various projects and initiatives across the agency.  

As a result of our review, we have noted three opportunities for process improvement and one opportunity for 
internal control improvement.  

 Web-Based Procurement Solution
 Conflict of Interest Assertion
 Vendor Performance Evaluation
 Key Performance Metrics

We would like to recognize current Procurement leadership, and the entire Procurement team, for having 
implemented the policies and procedures that have supported the positive results of our review.  

ALTERNATIVES: 

N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No Fiscal Impact 

24



DBE DECLARATION: 
 
N/A 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was reviewed by the Governance & Audit Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Consent 
Agenda.

25



Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t P

ro
ce

ss
 R

ev
ie

w

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 N

o.
 2

02
0-

9 

R
ep

or
t I

ss
ue

d 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
4,

 2
02

1 

26



 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 S

U
M

M
AR

Y 
O

ve
ra

ll 
R

ep
or

t R
at

in
g 

&
 O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
(S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

A
 fo

r d
ef

in
iti

on
s)

R
ep

or
t 

R
at

in
g

N
um

be
r o

f O
bs

er
va

tio
ns

 b
y 

R
at

in
g

H
ig

h
M

ed
iu

m
Lo

w

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t P

ro
ce

ss
 R

ev
ie

w
M

ed
iu

m
1

2
1

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
Th

e 
FY

 2
02

0 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

W
or

k 
Pl

an
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 th

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
nd

 A
ud

it 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 in
cl

ud
ed

 a
 re

vi
ew

 o
f I

nd
yG

o’
s P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t P

ro
ce

ss
.

In
dy

Go
’s

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t t
ea

m
 is

 re
sp

on
sib

le
 fo

r p
ur

ch
as

in
g,

 c
on

tr
ac

ts
 

ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n,
 a

nd
 th

e 
di

sa
dv

an
ta

ge
d 

bu
sin

es
s e

nt
er

pr
ise

 (D
BE

) p
ro

gr
am

.  
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t e
ns

ur
es

 In
dy

Go
 is

 c
om

pl
ia

nt
 w

ith
 F

ed
er

al
, S

ta
te

, a
nd

 L
oc

al
 

gu
id

el
in

es
.  

In
dy

Go
’s

 a
nn

ua
l o

pe
ra

tin
g 

ex
pe

ns
e 

bu
dg

et
 is

 p
ro

je
ct

ed
 a

t $
11

7M
 fo

r 2
02

1,
 

w
hi

le
 th

e 
ca

pi
ta

l b
ud

ge
t i

s p
ro

je
ct

ed
 a

t $
83

.7
M

. A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

40
%

 o
f 

op
er

at
in

g 
ex

pe
ns

es
 a

re
 c

om
pr

ise
d 

of
 m

at
er

ia
ls,

 su
pp

lie
s,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l a
nd

 
ot

he
r c

on
tr

ac
te

d 
se

rv
ic

es
, a

ll 
of

 w
hi

ch
 re

qu
ire

 in
vo

lv
em

en
t f

ro
m

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t. 
Ad

di
tio

na
lly

, a
ll 

sp
en

d 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

ca
pi

ta
l i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t p

ro
gr

am
 

in
vo

lv
es

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t. 
Ac

co
rd

in
gl

y,
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

bu
dg

et
ed

 p
ro

je
ct

io
ns

, a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

$1
30

M
 o

f s
pe

nd
 

w
ill

 fl
ow

 th
ro

ug
h 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t i

n 
so

m
e 

fo
rm

 o
r f

as
hi

on
 re

la
te

d 
to

 2
02

1 
ac

tiv
ity

. 
Gi

ve
n 

th
at

 a
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 p
or

tio
n 

of
 fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r b
ot

h 
op

er
at

in
g 

ca
pi

ta
l 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t a

ct
iv

ity
 is

 d
er

iv
ed

 fr
om

 F
ed

er
al

 A
ss

ist
an

ce
, I

nd
yG

o 
m

us
t m

ai
nt

ai
n 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

Ru
le

s a
nd

 R
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 o
f t

he
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f 
Tr

an
sp

or
ta

tio
n 

(U
SD

O
T)

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

Fe
de

ra
l T

ra
ns

it 
Ad

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n 

(F
TA

).
Fi

na
lly

, i
t i

s a
lso

 h
el

pf
ul

 to
 n

ot
e 

th
at

 fr
om

 th
e 

m
os

t r
ec

en
t r

ou
nd

 o
f c

om
pl

et
ed

 
FT

A 
tr

ie
nn

ia
l r

ev
ie

w
s (

FY
19

), 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t a
nd

 D
BE

, c
om

bi
ne

d,
 a

cc
ou

nt
ed

 fo
r 

37
%

 o
f a

ll 
fin

di
ng

s i
de

nt
ifi

ed
 a

cr
os

s t
ra

ns
it 

ag
en

ci
es

 n
at

io
na

lly
.  

Fo
r c

on
te

xt
, t

he
 

ne
xt

 la
rg

es
t c

at
eg

or
y 

of
 fi

nd
in

gs
 w

as
 A

DA
 (A

m
er

ic
an

s w
ith

 D
isa

bi
lit

ie
s A

ct
), 

at
 

14
%

. T
hi

s u
nd

er
sc

or
es

 th
e 

im
po

rt
an

ce
 o

f e
ns

ur
in

g 
th

at
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t i

s 
m

an
ag

ed
 w

el
l, 

m
ai

nt
ai

ns
 st

ric
t d

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n 

st
an

da
rd

s,
 a

nd
 is

 e
na

bl
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

ag
en

cy
 to

 p
er

fo
rm

 it
s r

es
po

ns
ib

ili
tie

s e
ffe

ct
iv

el
y 

an
d 

ef
fic

ie
nt

ly
.

O
ur

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 a
re

 p
er

fo
rm

ed
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

pr
of

es
sio

na
l p

ra
ct

ic
e 

st
an

da
rd

s o
f t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

. T
hi

s r
ep

or
t w

as
 p

re
pa

re
d 

fo
r 

us
e 

by
 In

dy
Go

’s
 B

oa
rd

 o
f D

ire
ct

or
s,

 G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

Au
di

t C
om

m
itt

ee
, a

nd
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t.

O
ve

ra
ll 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
an

d 
Re

vi
ew

 H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

As
 a

 re
su

lt 
of

 o
ur

 re
vi

ew
, w

e 
ha

ve
 n

ot
ed

 th
re

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 fo

r p
ro

ce
ss

 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
ne

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 fo
r i

nt
er

na
l c

on
tr

ol
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t. 
W

e 
w

ou
ld

 
lik

e 
to

 re
co

gn
ize

 c
ur

re
nt

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t l
ea

de
rs

hi
p,

 a
nd

 th
e 

en
tir

e 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t 
te

am
, f

or
 h

av
in

g 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
th

e 
po

lic
ie

s a
nd

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s t

ha
t h

av
e 

su
pp

or
te

d 
th

e 
po

sit
iv

e 
re

su
lts

 o
f o

ur
 re

vi
ew

.

W
e 

pe
rf

or
m

ed
 su

bs
ta

nt
iv

e 
te

st
in

g 
ov

er
 m

an
y 

of
 th

e 
m

os
t s

ig
ni

fic
an

t l
ar

ge
 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
ts

 tr
an

sa
ct

ed
 re

ce
nt

ly
, e

ve
n 

ex
pa

nd
in

g 
ou

r t
es

tin
g 

pe
rio

d 
be

yo
nd

 
ou

r t
yp

ic
al

 1
2-

24
 m

on
th

s.
 W

e 
di

d 
so

 d
ue

 to
 th

e 
sig

ni
fic

an
ce

 o
f p

as
t l

ar
ge

 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

ts
 p

er
ta

in
in

g 
to

 th
e 

Re
d 

Li
ne

, a
nd

 th
e 

sim
ila

r r
isk

s r
el

at
ed

 to
 so

on
 

fo
rt

hc
om

in
g 

la
rg

e 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

ts
 re

la
te

d 
to

 th
e 

Pu
rp

le
 L

in
e.

 It
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

no
te

d 
th

at
 w

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

no
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 fa

ilu
re

s w
ith

 re
sp

ec
t t

o 
an

y 
re

ce
nt

 b
id

 
fil

es
.

Ad
di

tio
na

lly
, a

s p
ar

t o
f o

ur
 re

vi
ew

 o
f s

el
ec

te
d 

In
dy

Go
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t p

ol
ic

ie
s 

co
m

pa
re

d 
to

 F
TA

 C
irc

ul
ar

 4
22

0.
1F

, T
hi

rd
 P

ar
ty

 C
on

tr
ac

tin
g 

Gu
id

an
ce

, w
e 

fo
un

d 
In

dy
Go

’s
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t M

an
ua

l t
o 

be
 su

bs
ta

nt
iv

el
y 

co
m

pl
et

e.
 T

he
 u

pd
at

e 
cu

rr
en

tly
 

un
de

rw
ay

 a
nd

 sl
at

ed
 fo

r c
om

pl
et

io
n 

in
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

1 
w

ill
 b

e 
cr

iti
ca

l t
o 

co
m

pl
et

e 
tim

el
y.

 G
iv

en
 th

e 
vo

lu
m

e 
of

 fo
rt

hc
om

in
g 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t r

el
at

ed
 to

 b
ot

h 
Pu

rp
le

 L
in

e 
an

d 
ne

w
 fa

ci
lit

y 
re

no
va

tio
n,

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ag

ai
ns

t t
he

 m
os

t r
ec

en
t p

ol
ic

y 
gu

id
an

ce
 w

ill
 

be
 im

po
rt

an
t. 

W
e 

w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 th
an

k 
In

dy
Go

 st
af

f a
nd

 a
ll 

th
os

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
ss

ist
in

g 
us

 in
 

co
nn

ec
tio

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
re

vi
ew

. Q
ue

st
io

ns
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
to

 th
e 

In
dy

Go
 

De
pa

rt
m

en
t o

f G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

Au
di

t a
t: 

ba
tk

in
so

n@
in

dy
go

.n
et

.

27

mailto:batkinson@indygo.net


 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 S

U
M

M
AR

Y 
(C

O
N

TI
N

U
ED

) 

O
BS

ER
VA

TI
O

N
S 

SU
M

M
AR

Y 
Fo

llo
w

in
g 

is 
a 

su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 th
e 

ob
se

rv
at

io
ns

 n
ot

ed
. D

ef
in

iti
on

s o
f t

he
 o

bs
er

va
tio

n 
ra

tin
g 

sc
al

e 
ar

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 A
pp

en
di

x 
A.

 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

A
ud

it 
O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

Ti
tle

 
Ra

tin
g 

1.
W

eb
-B

as
ed

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t S
ol

ut
io

n
Hi

gh
 

2.
Co

nf
lic

t o
f I

nt
er

es
t A

ss
er

tio
n

M
ed

iu
m

 

3.
Ve

nd
or

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 E
va

lu
at

io
n

M
ed

iu
m

 

4.
Ke

y 
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 M

et
ric

s
Lo

w
 

O
bj

ec
tiv

e,
 S

co
pe

, a
nd

 A
pp

ro
ac

h
O

ve
ra

ll,
 o

ur
 o

bj
ec

tiv
e 

in
 re

vi
ew

in
g 

In
dy

Go
’s

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t f
un

ct
io

n 
w

as
 to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d 

th
e 

pe
op

le
, p

ro
ce

ss
es

, i
nt

er
na

l c
on

tr
ol

s,
 a

nd
 te

ch
no

lo
gi

es
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 b
ei

ng
 u

se
d 

to
 fu

lfi
ll 

its
 m

iss
io

n 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

ag
en

cy
. I

n 
do

in
g 

so
 w

e 
ex

am
in

ed
 th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

ar
ea

s:


Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 in
te

rn
al

 b
id

di
ng

 p
ol

ic
ie

s i
n 

th
e 

co
nt

ex
t o

f s
ig

ni
fic

an
t p

ro
cu

re
m

en
ts

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 g

oo
ds

 a
nd

 se
rv

ic
es


Co

m
pa

ris
on

 o
f t

he
 v

ar
io

us
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t m

et
ho

ds
 in

 u
se

 (e
.g

., 
In

vi
ta

tio
ns

 fo
r B

id
, R

eq
ue

st
s f

or
 P

ro
po

sa
ls,

 e
tc

.) 
to

 id
en

tif
y 

po
te

nt
ia

l o
ve

rla
p 

or
 g

ap
s i

n 
co

ve
ra

ge
.


So

le
 so

ur
ce

 ju
st

ifi
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

do
cu

m
en

ta
tio

n


Ve
nd

or
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
(p

rim
ar

ily
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

bi
d 

pr
oc

es
s)


Ve

nd
or

 m
as

te
r f

ile
 –

 sp
ec

ifi
ca

lly
, w

e 
te

st
ed

 fo
r i

m
pr

op
er

 in
cl

us
io

n 
of

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s a

s v
en

do
rs

, d
up

lic
at

e 
ve

nd
or

s,
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 se

gr
eg

at
io

n 
of

 d
ut

ie
s w

ith
in

 ro
le

as
sig

nm
en

ts
 w

ith
in

 M
ic

ro
so

ft
 D

yn
am

ic
s A

X 
re

la
tiv

e 
to

 th
e 

ve
nd

or
 m

as
te

r f
ile


Di

sp
os

al
 o

f v
eh

ic
le

s w
he

n 
re

m
ov

ed
 fr

om
 se

rv
ic

e
O

ur
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s i
nc

lu
de

d 
a 

co
m

bi
na

tio
n 

of
 in

te
rv

ie
w

s,
 in

qu
iri

es
, o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
, d

oc
um

en
t i

ns
pe

ct
io

n,
 a

na
ly

tic
al

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s,

 su
bs

ta
nt

iv
e 

te
st

in
g,

 re
vi

ew
 o

f s
ys

te
m

 
ac

ce
ss

 re
po

rt
s,

 a
nd

 re
vi

ew
 o

f s
el

ec
te

d 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t p
ol

ic
ie

s c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 F
TA

 C
irc

ul
ar

 4
22

0.
1F

, T
hi

rd
 P

ar
ty

 C
on

tr
ac

tin
g 

Gu
id

an
ce

.

28



 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

1.
W

eb
-b

as
ed

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t S
ol

ut
io

n
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

In
dy

Go
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t d

oe
s n

ot
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 b
en

ef
it 

fr
om

 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 a
 m

ul
ti-

fa
ce

te
d 

w
eb

-b
as

ed
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t 

so
lu

tio
n.

 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
W

e 
re

co
m

m
en

d 
th

at
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t m

an
ag

em
en

t 
co

ns
id

er
 lo

ok
in

g 
in

to
 p

os
sib

le
 o

pt
io

ns
 th

at
 m

ay
 fi

t 
w

el
l w

ith
in

 In
dy

Go
’s

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t p
ro

fil
e.

 

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 H

ig
h 

W
eb

-b
as

ed
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t t

oo
ls 

ca
n 

of
fe

r m
ul

tip
le

 
be

ne
fit

s t
o 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t f

un
ct

io
ns

, p
ro

vi
di

ng
 b

ot
h 

ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts
 a

nd
 h

ar
d 

co
st

 sa
vi

ng
s.

  

Su
ch

 to
ol

s c
an

 o
ffe

r a
ut

om
at

io
n 

ar
ou

nd
 v

irt
ua

lly
 

ev
er

y 
st

ep
 o

f b
id

 is
su

an
ce

 a
nd

 m
an

ag
em

en
t, 

co
nt

ra
ct

 m
an

ag
em

en
t, 

an
d 

ve
nd

or
 m

an
ag

em
en

t. 
An

ot
he

r b
es

t p
ra

ct
ic

e 
th

at
 su

ch
 a

 to
ol

 e
na

bl
es

 is
 th

e 
re

ve
rs

e 
au

ct
io

n 
ca

pa
bi

lit
y.

 T
hi

s a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 
fa

ci
lit

at
in

g 
co

m
m

od
ity

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

ts
 c

an
 g

en
er

at
e 

no
tic

ea
bl

e 
an

nu
al

 sa
vi

ng
s e

ve
n 

be
gi

nn
in

g 
th

e 
fir

st
 

ye
ar

 a
ft

er
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n.

 

Ha
vi

ng
 th

e 
le

ve
l o

f s
op

hi
st

ic
at

io
n 

an
d 

ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
su

ch
 a

ut
om

at
io

n 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

cr
ea

sin
gl

y 
im

po
rt

an
t f

or
 th

e 
ag

en
cy

 a
s a

 w
ho

le
 a

s i
t c

on
tin

ue
s 

to
 g

ro
w

 w
ith

 fu
tu

re
 B

RT
 li

ne
s,

 fo
re

ca
st

 in
cr

ea
se

s i
n 

rid
er

sh
ip

, a
nd

 th
e 

ad
di

tio
n 

of
 n

ew
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

 

Ad
di

tio
na

lly
, n

at
io

na
lly

 th
es

e 
ty

pe
s o

f s
ol

ut
io

ns
 a

re
 

co
m

m
on

 w
ith

in
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t e
nt

iti
es

 –
 fr

om
 c

iti
es

, 
co

un
tie

s a
nd

 st
at

es
, t

o 
va

rio
us

 u
til

ity
 d

ist
ric

ts
, 

ai
rp

or
ts

, a
nd

 tr
an

sit
 a

ge
nc

ie
s.

 

Fi
na

lly
, P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t a

dd
in

g 
a 

cl
ou

d-
ba

se
d 

so
lu

tio
n 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
co

ns
ist

en
t w

ith
 In

dy
Go

’s
 b

ro
ad

er
 g

o-
fo

rw
ar

d 
cl

ou
d 

m
ig

ra
tio

n 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

M
an

ag
em

en
t s

ho
ul

d 
re

se
ar

ch
 p

os
sib

le
 o

pt
io

ns
 

fo
r a

 w
eb

-b
as

ed
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t s

ol
ut

io
n 

th
at

 
w

ou
ld

 fi
t I

nd
yG

o’
s p

ur
ch

as
in

g 
pr

of
ile

.  
   

   

Be
fo

re
 a

 so
lu

tio
n 

is 
se

le
ct

ed
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
te

d,
 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t s

ho
ul

d 
w

or
k 

to
 a

lig
n 

its
 c

ur
re

nt
 

pr
oc

es
se

s w
ith

 th
e 

ca
pa

bi
lit

ie
s a

nd
 a

ut
om

at
io

n 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 so

lu
tio

n.
 P

ar
tic

ul
ar

 
at

te
nt

io
n 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
pa

id
 to

 e
ns

ur
in

g 
th

at
 th

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 se

t f
or

th
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t 

M
an

ua
l a

re
 c

om
pl

ie
d 

w
ith

, t
hu

s p
ro

vi
di

ng
 fo

r 
on

go
in

g 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 F

TA
 re

gu
la

tio
ns

 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t. 

 

Ad
di

tio
na

lly
, t

o 
he

lp
 m

ax
im

ize
 In

dy
Go

’s
 re

tu
rn

 o
n 

in
ve

st
m

en
t, 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t s

ho
ul

d 
le

ve
ra

ge
 a

n 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f t

ra
in

in
g,

 if
 a

va
ila

bl
e,

 fr
om

 
an

y  
ve

nd
or

 th
at

 su
pp

or
ts

 th
e 

to
ol

’s
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
  

Fi
na

lly
, w

hi
le

 th
e 

so
lu

tio
n 

be
in

g 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

he
re

 is
 d

ist
in

ct
 fr

om
 th

e 
ca

pa
bi

lit
ie

s o
ffe

re
d 

by
 

M
ic

ro
so

ft
 D

36
5,

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
m

an
y 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 fo
r 

au
to

m
at

io
n 

in
te

gr
at

io
n 

in
 D

36
5.

 C
ar

e 
sh

ou
ld

 a
lso

 
be

 ta
ke

n 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

D3
65

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
so

 th
at

 su
ch

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s a
re

 c
ap

tu
re

d.
  

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

A 
W

eb
-b

as
ed

 so
lu

tio
n 

w
as

 p
ro

po
se

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
20

21
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t b

ud
ge

t; 
ho

w
ev

er
, i

t w
as

 n
ot

 
ap

pr
ov

ed
. T

he
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
io

n 
of

 $
40

k 
pe

r y
ea

r 
w

as
 p

ro
po

se
d 

as
 it

 re
la

te
s t

o 
ho

w
 th

e 
In

di
an

ap
ol

is 
Ai

rp
or

t p
ro

cu
re

d 
th

ei
r w

eb
-b

as
ed

 
so

lu
tio

n.
 U

nt
il 

fu
nd

in
g 

is 
al

lo
ca

te
d 

to
 th

is 
pr

oj
ec

t b
y 

th
e 

ag
en

cy
, i

t w
ill

 b
e 

on
 h

ol
d.

 A
 

sy
st

em
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

be
ne

fic
ia

l a
s w

e 
m

ov
e 

in
to

 a
 

pa
pe

rle
ss

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t, 

as
 w

el
l a

s n
ew

 
bu

ild
in

gs
. A

 sy
st

em
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
va

lu
ab

le
 a

ss
et

 
w

ith
 th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l s

pl
in

te
rin

g 
of

 th
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t d

ep
ar

tm
en

t t
o 

m
ul

tip
le

 lo
ca

tio
ns

.  

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

ie
s:

 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

, B
ud

ge
t D

ire
ct

or
, 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t D

ire
ct

or
 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

O
n-

go
in

g 
un

til
 a

pp
ro

va
l i

s r
ec

ei
ve

d 

29



 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

2.
Co

nf
lic

ts
 o

f I
nt

er
es

t A
ss

er
tio

n
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

Em
pl

oy
ee

s w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t d
ep

ar
tm

en
t d

o 
no

t s
ig

n 
an

 a
nn

ua
l c

on
fli

ct
 in

te
re

st
 a

ss
er

tio
n.

 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t m
an

ag
em

en
t s

ho
ul

d 
w

or
k 

w
ith

 
In

dy
Go

 le
ad

er
sh

ip
 to

 a
dd

 a
 c

on
fli

ct
s o

f i
nt

er
es

t 
as

se
rt

io
n 

to
 fu

tu
re

 a
nn

ua
l E

th
ic

s c
er

tif
ic

at
io

ns
. 

 M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 M

ed
iu

m
 

Co
nf

lic
ts

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t c

an
 p

os
e 

pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
ly

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

ris
ks

 w
ith

in
 a

 p
ur

ch
as

in
g 

an
d 

co
nt

ra
ct

in
g 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t. 

FT
A 

Ci
rc

ul
ar

 4
22

0.
1F

 (C
ha

pt
er

 3
, 

Se
ct

io
n 

1a
) a

lso
 p

ro
hi

bi
ts

 c
er

ta
in

 c
irc

um
st

an
ce

s 
w

hi
ch

 c
ou

ld
 b

rin
g 

ris
e 

to
 c

on
fli

ct
s o

f i
nt

er
es

t i
n 

th
e 

co
nt

ex
t o

f p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t. 

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 th
e 

se
lf-

ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 a
nn

ua
lly

 
by

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t, 
in

 c
on

ju
nc

tio
n 

w
ith

 F
TA

 C
irc

ul
ar

 
42

20
.1

F 
(C

ha
pt

er
 3

, S
ec

tio
n 

2)
, L

ea
di

ng
 p

ra
ct

ic
es

 
co

m
m

on
ly

 a
llo

w
 fo

r a
 sp

ec
ifi

c 
co

nf
lic

ts
 o

f i
nt

er
es

t 
as

se
rt

io
n 

to
 b

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 th
e 

or
ga

ni
za

tio
n’

s 
br

oa
de

r a
nn

ua
l E

th
ic

s c
er

tif
ic

at
io

n 
at

te
st

ed
 to

 b
y 

al
l 

em
pl

oy
ee

s.
 

W
ith

in
 In

dy
Go

 th
er

e 
cu

rr
en

tly
 is

 n
o 

an
nu

al
 c

on
fli

ct
s 

of
 in

te
re

st
 a

tt
es

ta
tio

n 
fo

r e
m

pl
oy

ee
s.

 F
ur

th
er

m
or

e,
 

th
er

e 
is 

no
 o

ve
ra

rc
hi

ng
 a

nn
ua

l E
th

ic
s c

er
tif

ic
at

io
n 

pr
oc

es
s i

n 
pl

ac
e 

w
ith

in
 In

dy
Go

.  

M
an

ag
em

en
t s

ho
ul

d 
en

su
re

 th
at

 a
n 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 

le
ve

l o
f c

on
fli

ct
s o

f i
nt

er
es

t t
ra

in
in

g 
is 

pr
ov

id
ed

 to
 

ne
w

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s a

nd
 c

ov
er

ag
e 

of
 c

on
fli

ct
s o

f 
in

te
re

st
 is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 fu

tu
re

 a
nn

ua
l E

th
ic

s 
ce

rt
ifi

ca
tio

ns
. S

in
ce

 In
dy

Go
 is

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 in

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s o

f d
es

ig
ni

ng
 a

n 
an

nu
al

 E
th

ic
s t

ra
in

in
g,

 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t m
an

ag
em

en
t s

ho
ul

d 
w

or
k 

w
ith

 th
e 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 te
am

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
in

cl
us

io
n 

of
 th

e 
pr

op
er

 
co

nf
lic

ts
 o

f i
nt

er
es

t a
tt

es
ta

tio
n 

w
or

di
ng

. 

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

Th
is 

pr
oc

es
s c

an
 e

as
ily

 b
e 

in
co

rp
or

at
ed

 in
to

 th
e 

an
nu

al
 se

lf-
ce

rt
ifi

ca
tio

n 
th

at
 E

xe
cu

tiv
es

 a
lre

ad
y 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
e 

in
. A

dd
iti

on
al

ly
, i

t i
s p

ro
po

se
d 

th
at

 a
 

gi
ft

s a
nd

 g
ra

tu
iti

es
 p

ol
ic

y 
be

 v
isi

te
d 

an
nu

al
ly

 
fo

r p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t s
ta

ff 
as

 w
el

l a
s a

ll 
In

dy
Go

. 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

, L
eg

al
, P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t 

Di
re

ct
or

, V
P 

Hu
m

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

1,
 2

02
2 

30



 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

3.
Ve

nd
or

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 E
va

lu
at

io
n

O
bs

er
va

tio
n:

 
Th

er
e 

is 
cu

rr
en

tly
 n

o 
pr

oc
es

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 fo
rm

al
ly

 e
va

lu
at

e 
ve

nd
or

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 o

n 
a 

re
gu

la
r b

as
is.

 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t s
ho

ul
d 

co
ns

id
er

 im
pl

em
en

tin
g 

a 
fo

rm
al

ize
d 

pr
oc

es
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
us

er
-fr

ie
nd

ly
 

to
ol

s,
 th

at
 w

ill
 a

llo
w

 fo
r p

er
io

di
c 

ve
nd

or
 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 re
vi

ew
s.

 

 M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 M

ed
iu

m
 

W
hi

le
 In

dy
Go

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t h
as

 to
ol

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 h
el

p 
re

m
ed

y 
in

st
an

ce
s 

of
 v

en
do

r u
nd

er
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
, t

he
re

 is
 n

o 
fo

rm
al

 p
ro

ce
du

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 to

 
al

lo
w

 In
dy

Go
 d

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
 to

 q
ui

ck
ly

 e
sc

al
at

e 
in

st
an

ce
s o

f u
nd

er
-

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 o
r n

on
-p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 o

f v
en

do
rs

.  
Ce

rt
ai

n 
m

ea
su

re
s a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 w

hi
ch

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t c
an

 le
ve

ra
ge

 w
he

n 
ve

nd
or

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 is
su

es
 a

re
 id

en
tif

ie
d.

 H
ow

ev
er

, t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
m

ea
su

re
s a

re
 g

en
er

al
ly

 u
se

d 
af

te
r t

he
 fa

ct
 (p

os
t-

co
nt

ra
ct

), 
ra

th
er

 th
an

 
pr

oa
ct

iv
el

y 
(d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
 te

rm
): 


St

an
da

rd
 c

on
tr

ac
ts

 a
llo

w
 In

dy
Go

 to
 c

ha
ng

e 
ve

nd
or

s i
f

ex
pe

ct
at

io
ns

 a
re

 n
ot

 m
et

.


Se
rv

ic
e 

Le
ve

l A
gr

ee
m

en
ts

 a
re

 u
se

d 
w

he
n 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 (i

.e
.,

co
pi

er
 m

ac
hi

ne
 re

pa
ir 

ve
nd

or
).


Co

ns
um

ab
le

 p
ar

ts
 v

en
do

rs
 a

re
 m

an
ag

ed
 th

ro
ug

h 
pu

rc
ha

se
or

de
rs

 g
ov

er
ne

d 
by

 te
rm

s a
nd

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 p

ro
te

ct
in

g 
In

dy
Go

’s
rig

ht
s a

ga
in

st
 su

bs
ta

nd
ar

d 
se

rv
ic

e.
Ad

di
tio

na
lly

, t
he

re
 is

 n
o 

fo
rm

al
ize

d 
pr

oc
es

s p
ro

vi
di

ng
 fo

r p
er

io
di

c 
ve

nd
or

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 re

vi
ew

. I
nf

or
m

al
 m

ee
tin

gs
 a

re
 h

el
d 

on
 o

cc
as

io
n.

 H
ow

ev
er

 
ve

ry
 li

tt
le

 is
 d

oc
um

en
te

d 
an

d 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 to

ol
s i

n 
pl

ac
e 

to
 a

llo
w

 fo
r 

de
pa

rt
m

en
t-

le
ve

l c
on

su
m

er
s o

f g
oo

ds
 a

nd
 se

rv
ic

es
 to

 e
ffe

ct
iv

el
y 

ev
al

ua
te

 th
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 o
f t

he
ir 

ve
nd

or
s.

 
Gu

id
an

ce
 fr

om
 A

PT
A 

al
so

 re
co

m
m

en
ds

 th
e 

us
e 

of
 v

en
do

r e
va

lu
at

io
n 

to
ol

s i
n 

or
de

r t
o 

en
ha

nc
e 

ag
en

ci
es

’ l
ev

er
ag

e 
in

 c
on

tr
ac

t n
eg

ot
ia

tio
ns

 a
nd

 
ov

er
al

l c
on

tr
ol

 o
ve

r l
on

g-
te

rm
 q

ua
lit

y 
of

 g
oo

ds
 a

nd
 se

rv
ic

es
 d

el
iv

er
ed

.  

W
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
at

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t c
on

sid
er

 
cr

ea
tin

g 
a 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
ar

ou
nd

 v
en

do
r 

ev
al

ua
tio

n.
 S

uc
h 

a 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e:

 


St
an

da
rd

 fo
rm

s a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 a
ll

In
dy

Go
 d

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
. T

he
se

 w
ou

ld
al

lo
w

 fo
r a

 d
oc

um
en

te
d,

 p
er

io
di

c
fo

rm
al

 e
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 se

rv
ic

e
pr

ov
id

er
s o

r g
oo

ds
 v

en
do

rs
.


Fo

rm
al

ize
d 

po
lic

ie
s a

nd
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s.
Th

es
e 

w
ou

ld
 a

llo
w

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

 to
pr

om
pt

ly
 e

sc
al

at
e 

ve
nd

or
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 sh

or
tc

om
in

gs
 b

ef
or

e
th

ey
 b

ec
om

e 
cr

iti
ca

l f
ro

m
 a

n
op

er
at

io
na

l p
er

sp
ec

tiv
e 

or
 b

ef
or

e
In

dy
Go

 in
cu

rs
 u

nd
ue

 c
os

ts
 to

 re
m

ed
y

th
e 

su
bs

ta
nd

ar
d 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

.


A 
ro

ut
in

e 
ca

de
nc

e 
of

 o
rg

an
iza

tio
na

l
ve

nd
or

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 re
vi

ew
m

ee
tin

gs
.  

Th
is 

w
ou

ld
 a

llo
w

 a
 fo

ru
m

fo
r p

ot
en

tia
l i

ss
ue

s t
o 

be
 v

oi
ce

d,
 w

ith
pr

oa
ct

iv
e 

re
m

ed
ia

tio
n 

ef
fo

rt
s

ac
tiv

at
ed

 b
ef

or
e 

iss
ue

s b
ec

om
e 

m
or

e
se

rio
us

 a
nd

/o
r c

os
tly

.

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

Es
ta

bl
ish

 a
 c

om
m

itt
ee

 
co

m
pr

ise
d 

of
 a

ct
iv

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t 
M

an
ag

er
s,

 E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
Le

ad
er

sh
ip

, 
an

d 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t S
ta

ff 
to

 
de

ve
lo

p 
an

d 
de

fin
e 

pr
og

ra
m

. 
Th

e 
sc

al
e 

an
d 

pa
ra

m
et

er
s,

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s t

he
 ti

m
in

g 
of

 e
va

lu
at

io
n,

 
w

ill
 b

e 
di

sc
us

se
d.

 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t D

ire
ct

or
 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 
Fi

rs
t m

ee
tin

g 
an

d 
es

ta
bl

ish
ed

 
pa

ra
m

et
er

s t
o 

be
 c

om
pl

et
e 

by
 

2/
1/

21
. F

irs
t e

va
lu

at
io

n 
pe

rio
d 

to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
e 

by
 3

/1
/2

1.
 

31



 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

4.
Ke

y 
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 In

di
ca

to
rs

O
bs

er
va

tio
n:

 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t d
oe

s n
ot

 m
on

ito
r a

nd
 m

an
ag

e 
de

pa
rt

m
en

t p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
ga

in
st

 q
ua

nt
ifi

ab
le

 k
ey

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 in

di
ca

to
rs

. 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t s
ho

ul
d 

ag
re

e 
in

te
rn

al
ly

 u
po

n 
a 

se
t o

f 
ac

tio
na

bl
e 

KP
Is

 a
nd

 d
es

ig
n 

a 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
ar

ou
nd

 th
em

. 

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 L

ow
 

W
hi

le
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t m

an
ag

em
en

t h
as

 e
xp

re
ss

ed
 a

 
de

sir
e 

to
 m

an
ag

e 
ag

ai
ns

t c
er

ta
in

 k
ey

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
in

di
ca

to
rs

 (K
PI

s)
, s

ys
te

m
 li

m
ita

tio
ns

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 

pr
oh

ib
it 

th
e 

ex
tr

ac
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 d

at
a.

 

Ha
vi

ng
 v

isi
bi

lit
y 

to
 K

PI
s t

ha
t c

or
re

la
te

 w
ith

 
de

pa
rt

m
en

ta
l p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

llo
w

s m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 

te
am

 m
em

be
rs

 to
 m

an
ag

e 
re

al
-t

im
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
m

or
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y.

 B
y 

id
en

tif
yi

ng
 in

st
an

ce
s o

f c
os

t 
irr

eg
ul

ar
iti

es
 in

 re
al

-t
im

e,
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t c

an
 q

ui
ck

ly
 

ta
ke

 a
ct

io
ns

 to
 in

ve
st

ig
at

e 
th

e 
iss

ue
. 

Ex
am

pl
es

 o
f K

PI
s t

ha
t P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t l

ea
de

rs
 o

ft
en

 
fin

d 
he

lp
fu

l i
n 

m
an

ag
in

g 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
ei

r 
fu

nc
tio

n  
m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e:
  s

pe
nd

 u
nd

er
 m

an
ag

em
en

t, 
co

st
 p

er
 in

vo
ic

e 
an

d 
pu

rc
ha

se
 o

rd
er

, p
ur

ch
as

e 
or

de
r 

cy
cl

e 
tim

e,
 p

ur
ch

as
e 

or
de

r a
nd

 in
vo

ic
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

 
(s

om
et

im
es

 tr
ac

ke
d 

by
 th

e 
in

ve
rs

e 
m

et
ric

 o
r e

rr
or

 
ra

te
), 

su
pp

lie
r l

ea
d 

tim
e,

 ra
te

 o
f e

m
er

ge
nc

y 
pu

rc
ha

se
s,

 c
os

t a
vo

id
an

ce
 o

r r
ed

uc
tio

n,
 m

an
ag

ed
 v

s.
 

to
ta

l s
pe

nd
, e

tc
. 

W
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
at

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 C
om

m
itt

ee
 in

 a
dv

an
ce

 o
f t

he
 

fo
rt

hc
om

in
g 

up
gr

ad
e 

to
 M

ic
ro

so
ft

 D
yn

am
ic

s 3
65

 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 re
qu

isi
te

 d
at

a 
fe

ed
s a

re
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

in
, s

o 
th

at
 d

es
ire

d 
KP

Is
 w

ill
 b

e 
ea

sil
y 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
.  

O
nc

e 
th

e 
av

ai
la

bi
lit

y 
of

 K
PI

s i
s c

on
fir

m
ed

, 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t s
ho

ul
d 

w
or

k 
in

te
rn

al
ly

 to
 a

gr
ee

 
up

on
 th

e 
op

tim
al

 se
t o

f K
PI

s t
o 

tr
ac

k.
 F

in
al

ly
, a

 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

sig
ne

d 
w

ith
 ro

le
s a

nd
 

re
sp

on
sib

ili
tie

s a
ss

ig
ne

d 
so

 th
at

 m
an

ag
in

g 
ag

ai
ns

t t
he

 K
PI

s c
an

 b
e 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 in

to
 c

ur
re

nt
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t p

ro
ce

ss
es

.  

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

Ke
y 

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 In
di

ca
to

rs
 w

er
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 to
 

th
e 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

od
 in

 2
01

9.
 

Si
nc

e 
th

en
, a

 th
ird

-p
ar

ty
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r h
as

 b
ee

n 
se

le
ct

ed
 a

nd
 a

w
ar

de
d 

to
 b

eg
in

 w
or

k 
on

 th
e 

Em
pl

oy
ee

 In
tr

an
et

. W
ith

in
 th

e 
sc

op
e 

of
 th

is 
w

or
k 

w
ill

 b
e 

a 
KP

I D
as

hb
oa

rd
 im

pl
em

en
te

d 
to

 
de

ve
lo

p 
th

e 
re

po
rt

in
g 

of
 th

e 
m

et
ric

s p
ro

vi
de

d 
in

 2
01

9.
 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

od
, E

m
pl

oy
ee

 
In

tr
an

et
 P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
, P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t 

Di
re

ct
or

 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

O
n-

go
in

g 
ef

fo
rt

 th
at

 is
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

th
e 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
sc

he
du

le
 o

f t
he

 E
m

pl
oy

ee
 

In
tr

an
et

 

32



 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t P
ro

ce
ss

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1 

AP
PE

N
DI

X 
A 

– 
RA

TI
N

G
 D

EF
IN

IT
IO

N
S

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g 
De

fin
iti

on
s

Ra
tin

g
De

fin
iti

on

Lo
w

Pr
oc

es
s i

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 e
xi

st
 b

ut
 a

re
 n

ot
 a

n 
im

m
ed

ia
te

 p
rio

rit
y 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o.
 T

ak
in

g 
ad

va
nt

ag
e 

of
 

th
es

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 b

es
t 

pr
ac

tic
e 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o.

M
ed

iu
m

Pr
oc

es
s i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s e

xi
st

 to
 h

el
p 

In
dy

Go
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 g
oa

ls,
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 a
nd

 fu
rt

he
r p

ro
te

ct
 it

s 
br

an
d 

or
 p

ub
lic

 p
er

ce
pt

io
n.

 T
hi

s o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 sh
ou

ld
 

be
 c

on
sid

er
ed

 in
 th

e 
ne

ar
 te

rm
.

Hi
gh

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s e
xi

st
 

to
 h

el
p 

In
dy

Go
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 g
oa

ls,
 m

ee
t o

r 
im

pr
ov

e 
its

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 st
ru

ct
ur

e,
 a

nd
 fu

rt
he

r 
pr

ot
ec

t i
ts

 b
ra

nd
 o

r p
ub

lic
 p

er
ce

pt
io

n 
pr

es
en

ts
. T

hi
s 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
im

m
ed

ia
te

ly
.

N
ot

 R
at

ed

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
is 

no
t c

on
sid

er
ed

 a
 c

on
tr

ol
 

or
 p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 b
ut

 sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 b
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t o

r t
he

 b
oa

rd
, a

s 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

.

Re
po

rt
 R

at
in

g 
De

fin
iti

on
s

Ra
tin

g
Ex

pl
an

at
io

n

Lo
w

Ad
eq

ua
te

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s a
re

 in
 p

la
ce

 a
nd

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y.
 F

ew
, i

f 
an

y,
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 st
ru

ct
ur

e 
ar

e 
re

qu
ire

d.
O

bs
er

va
tio

n 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

lim
ite

d 
to

 o
nl

y 
lo

w
 ri

sk
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

or
 

m
od

er
at

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

ns
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 n
ot

 p
er

va
siv

e 
in

 n
at

ur
e.

M
ed

iu
m

Ce
rt

ai
n 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s a
re

 e
ith

er
:

1.
N

ot
 in

 p
la

ce
 o

r a
re

 n
ot

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y,
 w

hi
ch

 in
 th

e
ag

gr
eg

at
e,

 re
pr

es
en

t a
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 la
ck

 o
f c

on
tr

ol
 in

 o
ne

 o
r m

or
e 

of
th

e 
ar

ea
s w

ith
in

 th
e 

sc
op

e 
of

 th
e 

re
vi

ew
.

2.
Se

ve
ra

l m
od

er
at

e 
co

nt
ro

l w
ea

kn
es

se
s i

n 
on

e 
pr

oc
es

s,
 o

r a
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
of

 h
ig

h 
an

d 
m

od
er

at
e 

w
ea

kn
es

se
s w

hi
ch

 c
ol

le
ct

iv
el

y
ar

e 
no

t p
er

va
siv

e.

Hi
gh

Fu
nd

am
en

ta
l i

nt
er

na
l c

on
tr

ol
s a

re
 n

ot
 in

 p
la

ce
 o

r o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
fo

r s
ub

st
an

tia
l a

re
as

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
sc

op
e 

of
 th

e 
re

vi
ew

. S
ys

te
m

ic
 b

us
in

es
s 

ris
ks

 e
xi

st
 w

hi
ch

 h
av

e 
th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l t

o 
cr

ea
te

 si
tu

at
io

ns
 th

at
 c

ou
ld

 
sig

ni
fic

an
tly

 im
pa

ct
 th

e 
co

nt
ro

l e
nv

iro
nm

en
t.

1.
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

/s
ev

er
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 w
ea

kn
es

se
s (

br
ea

kd
ow

n)
 in

 th
e 

ov
er

al
l

co
nt

ro
l e

nv
iro

nm
en

t i
n 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 b

us
in

es
s o

r t
he

 p
ro

ce
ss

 b
ei

ng
re

vi
ew

ed
.

2.
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 n
on

-c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 la
w

s a
nd

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
.

3.
Hi

gh
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 p
er

va
siv

e 
in

 n
at

ur
e.

N
ot

 R
at

ed
Ad

eq
ua

te
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

nd
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y.

 N
o 

re
po

rt
ab

le
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 w

er
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
.

33



Date: January 07, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Deputy of Governance & Audit Brain Atkinson 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Governance & Audit Grants Management Assessment 

ACTION ITEM A – 11 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Review and receive Governance & Audit Report 2020-10 
 Grants Management Assessment

BACKGROUND: 

The FY 2020 Internal Audit Work Plan approved by the Governance and Audit Committee included a Capital Project 
Management assessment.  This report focuses on the Grants Management process within overall Capital Project 
Management activities.    

DISCUSSION: 

The Grants function resides under the Budget Office within the Finance Department. It has two approved FTEs, who 
manage FTA required filings and grant draw downs. Grants personnel work closely with other departments, including 
Infrastructure, Operations, and Information Technology.    

Attached in the G & A Audit report is a summary of observations noted in the areas reviewed.  The report includes 
seven recommendations.  The recommendations address both opportunities for revenue enhancement or process 
improvement, as well as risks related to communication or internal controls.  

As a result of the review, we have rated the overall risk associated with this report as “High”, because we believe 
that there is:   

 Opportunity for return on investment related to certain recommendations (increased revenue or decreased
costs)

 Ability to enhance current manual or people-driven controls with automated or system-derived controls.
 Applicability of these recommendations related to anticipated significant FTA grant funding for future Bus

Rapid Transit (BRT) lines

ALTERNATIVES: 

N/A 

34



FISCAL IMPACT: 

No Fiscal Impact 

DBE DECLARATION: 

N/A 

STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 

This action was reviewed by the Governance & Audit Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Consent 
Agenda.

35



G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 N

o.
 2

02
0-

10
 

R
ep

or
t I

ss
ue

d 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
7,

 2
02

1 
 

36



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 S

U
M

M
AR

Y
O

ve
ra

ll 
R

ep
or

t R
at

in
g 

&
 O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
(S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

A
 fo

r d
ef

in
iti

on
s)

R
ep

or
t 

R
at

in
g

N
um

be
r o

f O
bs

er
va

tio
ns

 b
y 

R
at

in
g

H
ig

h
M

ed
iu

m
Lo

w

G
ra

nt
s 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

M
ed

iu
m

2
3

2

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
Th

e 
FY

 2
02

0 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

W
or

k 
Pl

an
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 th

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
nd

 
Au

di
t C

om
m

itt
ee

 in
cl

ud
ed

 a
 C

ap
ita

l P
ro

je
ct

 M
an

ag
em

en
t a

ss
es

sm
en

t. 
   

  
Th

is 
re

po
rt

 fo
cu

se
s o

n 
th

e 
Gr

an
ts

 M
an

ag
em

en
t p

ro
ce

ss
 w

ith
in

 o
ve

ra
ll 

Ca
pi

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

em
en

t a
ct

iv
iti

es
.  

   
 

In
dy

Go
 h

ad
 1

1 
ac

tiv
e 

gr
an

ts
 fr

om
 th

e 
Fe

de
ra

l T
ra

ns
it 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n 
(F

TA
), 

w
ith

 a
w

ar
de

d 
va

lu
es

 to
ta

lin
g 

$2
56

.9
 m

ill
io

n,
 a

s o
f O

ct
ob

er
 2

02
0.

 D
ur

in
g 

fis
ca

l 2
01

9,
 In

dy
Go

 e
xp

en
de

d 
$5

3.
4 

m
ill

io
n 

of
 fe

de
ra

l f
un

ds
. 

In
dy

Go
’s

 p
rim

ar
y 

FY
 2

01
9 

fe
de

ra
l f

un
ds

 w
er

e 
re

ce
iv

ed
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Ca
pi

ta
l 

In
ve

st
m

en
t G

ra
nt

s,
 F

or
m

ul
a 

Gr
an

ts
, a

nd
 B

us
 a

nd
 B

us
 F

ac
ili

tie
s p

ro
gr

am
s.

   
In

 F
Y 

20
20

, I
nd

yG
o 

w
as

 a
lso

 a
w

ar
de

d 
$4

4.
2 

m
ill

io
n 

un
de

r t
he

 C
AR

ES
 A

ct
, 

fo
r C

or
on

av
iru

s A
id

, R
el

ie
f, 

an
d 

Ec
on

om
ic

 S
ec

ur
ity

 p
ur

po
se

s.
  

O
ur

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 a
re

 p
er

fo
rm

ed
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

pr
of

es
sio

na
l 

pr
ac

tic
e 

st
an

da
rd

s o
f t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

. T
hi

s r
ep

or
t w

as
 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r u

se
 b

y 
In

dy
Go

’s
 B

oa
rd

 o
f D

ire
ct

or
s,

 G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

Au
di

t 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

, a
nd

 m
an

ag
em

en
t.

O
bj

ec
tiv

e 
an

d 
Sc

op
e


O

bt
ai

n 
an

 u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 o

f I
nd

yG
o’

s p
ro

ce
ss

es
 a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
s r

el
at

ed
 to

re
ce

iv
in

g 
an

d 
di

sb
ur

sin
g 

gr
an

t f
un

ds
.


As

se
ss

 th
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s o
f t

he
 d

es
ig

n 
an

d 
op

er
at

io
n 

of
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s

re
la

te
d 

to
 g

ra
nt

s a
dm

in
ist

ra
tio

n 
an

d 
m

on
ito

rin
g.


Se

le
ct

 a
 sa

m
pl

e 
of

 g
ra

nt
s a

nd
 re

vi
ew

 In
dy

Go
’s

 fi
lin

g 
of

 F
ed

er
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
Re

po
rt

s a
nd

 M
ile

st
on

e 
Pr

og
re

ss
 re

po
rt

s,
 a

nd
 te

st
 se

le
ct

ed
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
s

fo
r c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 F

TA
 p

ro
gr

am
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
.


Id

en
tif

y 
po

te
nt

ia
l o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s f

or
 p

ro
ce

ss
 a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
or

 re
ve

nu
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t.

O
ve

ra
ll 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
an

d 
Re

vi
ew

 H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

Th
e 

Gr
an

ts
 fu

nc
tio

n 
re

sid
es

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
Bu

dg
et

 O
ffi

ce
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Fi
na

nc
e 

De
pa

rt
m

en
t. 

It 
ha

s t
w

o 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 F

TE
s,

 w
ho

 m
an

ag
e 

FT
A 

re
qu

ire
d 

fil
in

gs
 a

nd
 

gr
an

t d
ra

w
 d

ow
ns

. G
ra

nt
s p

er
so

nn
el

 w
or

k 
cl

os
el

y 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

, 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
, O

pe
ra

tio
ns

, a
nd

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
.  

 

O
ur

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
re

po
rt

 in
cl

ud
es

 se
ve

n 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
. T

he
se

 a
dd

re
ss

 b
ot

h 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 fo

r r
ev

en
ue

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t o
r p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t, 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

ris
ks

 re
la

te
d 

to
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
or

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s.
 

W
e 

ha
ve

 ra
te

d 
th

e 
ov

er
al

l r
isk

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 th
is 

re
po

rt
 a

s “
M

ed
iu

m
”,

 
be

ca
us

e 
w

e 
be

lie
ve

 th
at

 th
er

e 
is:

  


O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 fo
r r

et
ur

n 
on

 in
ve

st
m

en
t r

el
at

ed
 to

 c
er

ta
in

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 (i
nc

re
as

ed
 re

ve
nu

e 
or

 d
ec

re
as

ed
 c

os
ts

)


Ab
ili

ty
 to

 e
nh

an
ce

 c
ur

re
nt

 m
an

ua
l o

r p
eo

pl
e-

dr
iv

en
 c

on
tr

ol
s w

ith
au

to
m

at
ed

 o
r s

ys
te

m
-d

er
iv

ed
 c

on
tr

ol
s.


Ap

pl
ic

ab
ili

ty
 o

f t
he

se
 re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 re

la
te

d 
to

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

sig
ni

fic
an

t F
TA

 g
ra

nt
 fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r f
ut

ur
e 

Bu
s R

ap
id

 T
ra

ns
it 

(B
RT

) l
in

es

W
e 

w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 th
an

k 
In

dy
Go

 st
af

f a
nd

 a
ll 

th
os

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
ss

ist
in

g 
us

 in
 

co
nn

ec
tio

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
re

vi
ew

. Q
ue

st
io

ns
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
to

 th
e 

In
dy

Go
 

De
pa

rt
m

en
t o

f G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

Au
di

t a
t: 

ba
tk

in
so

n@
in

dy
go

.n
et

.

37

mailto:batkinson@indygo.net


   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

O
BS

ER
VA

TI
O

N
S 

SU
M

M
AR

Y

Fo
llo

w
in

g 
is 

a 
su

m
m

ar
y 

of
 th

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

ns
 n

ot
ed

. D
ef

in
iti

on
s o

f t
he

 o
bs

er
va

tio
n 

ra
tin

g 
sc

al
e 

ar
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 A

pp
en

di
x 

A.
 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

A
ud

it 
O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

Ti
tle

 
Ra

tin
g 

1.
In

di
re

ct
 C

os
t P

la
n

Hi
gh

 

2.
Di

re
ct

 L
ab

or
 C

ha
rg

es
 to

 G
ra

nt
s

Hi
gh

 

3.
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
M

ed
iu

m
 

4.
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
Ac

ro
ss

 O
rg

an
iz

at
io

na
l, 

an
d 

St
af

fin
g 

Le
ve

ls
M

ed
iu

m
 

5.
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 S
ys

te
m

s a
nd

 D
at

a 
Re

po
rt

in
g

M
ed

iu
m

 

6.
La

ps
in

g 
of

 F
un

ds
Lo

w
 

7.
Tr

ai
ni

ng
Lo

w
 

38



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

1.
In

di
re

ct
 C

os
t P

la
n

O
bs

er
va

tio
n:

 
In

dy
Go

 d
oe

s n
ot

 u
til

ize
 a

ny
 in

di
re

ct
 c

os
t p

la
n 

to
 

ch
ar

ge
 o

r r
ec

ov
er

 c
os

ts
 fr

om
 fe

de
ra

l g
ra

nt
s.

  

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Ad

op
t t

he
 1

0%
 d

e 
m

in
im

us
 ru

le
, t

o 
be

gi
n 

re
co

ve
ry

 
of

 in
di

re
ct

 c
os

ts
, f

or
 fu

tu
re

 g
ra

nt
s.

   
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 H

ig
h 

In
dy

Go
 d

oe
s n

ot
 u

til
ize

 a
 c

os
t a

llo
ca

tio
n 

pl
an

 fo
r 

in
di

re
ct

 c
os

t r
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t. 

 F
TA

 a
nd

 fe
de

ra
l 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
 a

llo
w

 th
es

e 
co

st
s t

o 
be

 c
ha

rg
ed

 to
 fe

de
ra

l 
gr

an
ts

.  

In
di

re
ct

 c
os

ts
 in

cl
ud

e 
ite

m
s s

uc
h 

as
 o

ve
rh

ea
d,

 u
til

iti
es

, 
re

nt
, c

le
an

in
g,

 te
ch

no
lo

gy
, s

al
ar

ie
s o

f a
dm

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
st

af
f (

CE
O

 a
nd

 V
ic

e 
Pr

es
id

en
ts

), 
fr

in
ge

 b
en

ef
its

, e
tc

. 

In
dy

Go
 a

lso
 d

oe
s n

ot
 u

til
ize

 th
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fe

de
ra

l 
10

%
 d

e 
m

in
im

us
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t r

ul
e.

   

As
 a

 re
su

lt,
 p

os
sib

le
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 in

di
re

ct
 c

os
ts

 
ha

s n
ot

 b
ee

n 
re

qu
es

te
d 

or
 re

ce
iv

ed
.  

 

Du
rin

g 
fis

ca
l 2

01
9,

 In
dy

Go
 e

xp
en

de
d 

$5
3.

4 
m

ill
io

n 
of

 
fe

de
ra

l f
un

ds
.  

W
hi

le
 a

n 
in

di
re

ct
 c

os
t p

la
n 

m
ay

 n
ot

 
re

co
ve

r a
 fu

ll 
10

%
 o

f t
he

 g
ra

nt
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
s i

ni
tia

lly
, 

it 
w

ou
ld

 re
su

lt 
in

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 re

ve
nu

e 
/ c

os
t r

ec
ov

er
y.

  

Th
is 

re
im

bu
rs

em
en

t i
s t

yp
ic

al
ly

 in
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 th
e 

di
re

ct
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

an
d 

ot
he

r c
os

ts
 n

eg
ot

ia
te

d 
in

 a
 

gr
an

t a
gr

ee
m

en
t, 

an
d 

ge
ne

ra
lly

 in
cr

ea
se

s t
he

 to
ta

l 
am

ou
nt

 o
f a

n 
in

di
vi

du
al

 g
ra

nt
. N

o 
cu

rr
en

t g
ra

nt
 

fu
nd

in
g 

ha
s b

ee
n 

lo
st

.  
   

  

M
os

t f
ed

er
al

 g
ra

nt
s a

llo
w

 fo
r r

ei
m

bu
rs

em
en

t o
f 

in
di

re
ct

 c
os

ts
, w

he
n 

re
qu

es
te

d 
by

 th
e 

gr
an

te
e 

ag
en

cy
. I

nd
yG

o 
sh

ou
ld

 re
vi

ew
 a

ll 
gr

an
ts

 to
 

de
te

rm
in

e 
w

he
th

er
 a

n 
ad

m
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

co
st

 
co

m
po

ne
nt

 is
 a

llo
w

ab
le

 fo
r i

nd
ire

ct
 c

os
t c

ha
rg

es
.  

In
dy

Go
 sh

ou
ld

: 


Ad

op
t t

he
 1

0%
 d

e 
m

in
im

us
 ru

le
.  

Th
is 

al
lo

w
s

ch
ar

ge
s t

o 
gr

an
ts

 o
f 1

0%
 o

f m
od

ifi
ed

 to
ta

l
di

re
ct

 c
os

ts
, a

s d
es

cr
ib

ed
 in

 2
 C

FR
, P

ar
t 2

00
an

d 
Ap

pe
nd

ix
 V

II.
  T

hi
s s

im
pl

ifi
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h
do

es
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

 a
 c

om
pl

et
e 

co
st

 a
llo

ca
tio

n
pl

an
, o

r s
pe

ci
fic

 c
om

pu
ta

tio
ns

. I
t w

ill
 a

llo
w

fo
r g

re
at

er
 c

os
t r

ec
ov

er
y 

or
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

gr
an

t
am

ou
nt

s.


N

eg
ot

ia
te

 in
di

re
ct

 c
os

ts
 o

r a
dm

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
co

st
re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t i

nt
o 

fu
tu

re
 g

ra
nt

 a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

an
d 

ag
re

em
en

ts
.


Co

ns
id

er
 re

qu
es

tin
g 

Am
en

dm
en

ts
 to

 c
ur

re
nt

gr
an

ts
 to

 c
ap

tu
re

 so
m

e 
co

st
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t.

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
  I

nd
yG

o 
w

ill
 c

on
sid

er
 a

do
pt

in
g 

th
e 

10
%

 d
e 

m
in

im
us

 c
os

t a
llo

ca
tio

n 
pl

an
.  

W
e 

w
ill

 
as

se
ss

 th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f b
ud

ge
tin

g 
gr

an
t f

un
ds

 fo
r 

in
di

re
ct

 c
os

ts
 in

 a
dd

iti
on

 to
 o

ur
 c

ur
re

nt
 d

ire
ct

 
co

st
 re

co
ve

ry
 u

nd
er

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
je

ct
s.

  W
e 

w
ill

 
al

so
 c

on
sid

er
 F

TA
’s

 c
ha

ng
es

 to
 fu

nd
in

g 
of

 th
e 

Se
ct

io
n 

53
07

 (U
rb

an
ize

d 
Ar

ea
 F

or
m

ul
a 

Gr
an

ts
) 

an
d 

Se
ct

io
n 

53
39

 (B
us

 a
nd

 B
us

 F
ac

ili
tie

s G
ra

nt
s)

 
as

 w
el

l a
s p

ot
en

tia
l n

ew
 su

br
ec

ip
ie

nt
s.

   
 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

ie
s:

 
In

dy
Go

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

er
 

Du
e 

Da
te

s:
 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 fo

r t
he

 a
do

pt
io

n 
of

 th
e 

de
 m

in
im

us
 

co
st

 a
llo

ca
tio

n 
pl

an
 w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

Ju
ne

 
30

, 2
02

1.
   

   
 

39



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

2.
Di

re
ct

 L
ab

or
 C

ha
rg

es
 to

 G
ra

nt
s

O
bs

er
va

tio
n:

 
In

dy
Go

 d
oe

s n
ot

 c
on

sis
te

nt
ly

 c
ha

rg
e 

di
re

ct
 la

bo
r c

os
ts

 
to

 fe
de

ra
l g

ra
nt

s.
  

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
De

ve
lo

p 
a 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
to

 c
ap

tu
re

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
 ti

m
e 

ch
ar

ge
s f

or
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t f

ro
m

 fe
de

ra
l g

ra
nt

s.
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 H

ig
h 

FT
A 

an
d 

fe
de

ra
l r

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 a

llo
w

 p
ay

ro
ll 

an
d 

fr
in

ge
 

be
ne

fit
s t

o 
be

 c
ha

rg
ed

 a
s d

ire
ct

 c
os

ts
 to

 fe
de

ra
l 

gr
an

ts
. (

Th
es

e 
ar

e 
no

t “
fo

rc
e 

ac
co

un
t”

 c
ha

rg
es

, s
in

ce
 

In
dy

Go
 d

oe
s n

ot
 u

se
 it

s o
w

n 
la

bo
r f

or
ce

 d
ire

ct
ly

 o
n 

ca
pi

ta
l p

ro
je

ct
s)

.  
 

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 th

e 
ab

ili
ty

 to
 c

ap
tu

re
 in

di
vi

du
al

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
 

tim
e 

ch
ar

ge
s t

hr
ou

gh
 th

e 
us

e 
of

 p
ay

 c
od

es
 in

 th
e 

AD
P 

pa
yr

ol
l s

ys
te

m
. H

ow
ev

er
, d

ire
ct

 la
bo

r c
os

ts
 w

er
e 

ch
ar

ge
d 

to
 th

e 
Re

d 
Li

ne
 g

ra
nt

 fo
r o

ne
 y

ea
r o

nl
y 

(d
ue

 
to

 b
ud

ge
t o

ve
rr

un
s a

nd
 o

th
er

 c
os

ts
). 

Al
so

, f
rin

ge
 

be
ne

fit
s w

er
e 

no
t c

ha
rg

ed
.  

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 c

ha
rg

ed
 la

bo
r a

nd
 fr

in
ge

 b
en

ef
its

 to
 F

TA
 

Pr
ev

en
ta

tiv
e  

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 g
ra

nt
s.

 In
 th

is 
ca

se
, t

ot
al

 
ge

ne
ra

l l
ed

ge
r l

ab
or

 c
os

ts
 w

er
e 

us
ed

, r
at

he
r t

ha
n 

in
di

vi
du

al
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 ti
m

e 
ch

ar
ge

s.
 H

ow
ev

er
, s

om
e 

ot
he

r g
ra

nt
s h

av
e 

ha
d 

no
 la

bo
r c

ha
rg

es
 a

pp
lie

d 
at

 a
ll.

  

As
 a

 re
su

lt 
of

 th
is 

in
co

ns
ist

en
t m

et
ho

do
lo

gy
, 

re
im

bu
rs

em
en

t o
f c

er
ta

in
 a

llo
w

ab
le

 la
bo

r c
ha

rg
es

 
an

d 
fr

in
ge

 b
en

ef
its

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
re

qu
es

te
d 

or
 

re
ce

iv
ed

.  

Th
is 

re
im

bu
rs

em
en

t i
s i

n 
ad

di
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

di
re

ct
 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

or
 o

th
er

 c
os

ts
 n

eg
ot

ia
te

d 
in

 a
 g

ra
nt

 
ag

re
em

en
t, 

an
d 

ge
ne

ra
lly

 in
cr

ea
se

s t
he

 to
ta

l a
m

ou
nt

 
of

 a
n 

in
di

vi
du

al
 g

ra
nt

.  
   

To
 se

cu
re

 th
is 

ad
di

tio
na

l e
lig

ib
le

 fu
nd

in
g,

 In
dy

Go
 

sh
ou

ld
:  


Se

ek
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t o

f a
llo

w
ab

le
 p

ro
je

ct
ad

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n 

an
d 

pr
ev

en
ta

tiv
e 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

di
re

ct
 la

bo
r c

ha
rg

es
, p

lu
s f

rin
ge

 b
en

ef
its

, o
n 

al
l 

gr
an

ts
, a

s d
ef

in
ed

 in
 C

irc
ul

ar
 5

01
0.

1E
.


Co

ns
id

er
 re

qu
es

tin
g 

Am
en

dm
en

ts
 to

 c
ur

re
nt

gr
an

ts
 to

 c
ap

tu
re

 so
m

e 
co

st
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t.


De

ve
lo

p 
an

d 
do

cu
m

en
t a

 p
ro

ce
du

re
 to

co
ns

ist
en

tly
 re

co
rd

 in
di

vi
du

al
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 ti
m

e
ch

ar
ge

s,
 b

y 
pr

oj
ec

t.


Co

m
m

un
ic

at
e 

an
d 

tr
ai

n 
th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t
M

an
ag

er
s a

nd
 o

th
er

s o
n 

th
e 

fe
de

ra
l

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r t

im
e 

ch
ar

gi
ng

.


Co

ns
id

er
 h

ow
 th

e 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 n

ew
 M

ic
ro

so
ft

Dy
na

m
ic

s 3
65

 sy
st

em
 c

an
 c

ap
tu

re
 a

nd
 re

po
rt

tim
e 

ch
ar

ge
s i

n 
co

nj
un

ct
io

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
AD

P
pa

yr
ol

l s
ys

te
m

, i
f t

ha
t w

ill
 b

e 
re

ta
in

ed
.

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
  W

e 
w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
 to

 d
ra

w
 

re
im

bu
rs

em
en

t f
or

 la
bo

r c
os

ts
 o

n 
th

e 
an

nu
al

 
Pr

ev
en

tiv
e 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 g
ra

nt
.  

 

W
e 

w
ill

 a
lso

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
De

pa
rt

m
en

t o
n 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 to

 b
ud

ge
t p

ro
je

ct
 

ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n 
la

bo
r c

os
ts

 in
 fu

tu
re

 g
ra

nt
s.

   
   

 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

ie
s:

 

In
dy

Go
 G

ra
nt

s M
an

ag
er

 

Du
e 

Da
te

s:
 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 fo

r p
ro

je
ct

 a
dm

in
ist

ra
tio

n 
co

st
 

re
im

bu
rs

em
en

t w
ill

 b
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 b

y 
De

ce
m

be
r 

31
, 2

02
1.

  

40



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

3.
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

In
dy

Go
 d

oe
s n

ot
 h

av
e 

an
y 

ad
op

te
d 

po
lic

ie
s r

el
at

ed
 to

 
gr

an
t m

an
ag

em
en

t. 
In

dy
Go

 a
lso

 h
as

 n
ot

 d
oc

um
en

te
d 

its
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s u
se

d 
in

 g
ra

nt
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n.

  

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Ad

op
t h

ig
h-

le
ve

l g
ra

nt
 P

ol
ic

es
, r

el
at

in
g 

to
 m

aj
or

 
gr

an
t f

un
ct

io
ns

.  
Cr

ea
te

 a
 se

pa
ra

te
 P

ro
ce

du
re

s 
M

an
ua

l, 
in

co
rp

or
at

in
g 

cu
rr

en
t p

ra
ct

ic
es

.  

 M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 M

ed
iu

m
 

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 v

ar
io

us
 d

isp
ar

at
e 

po
lic

y 
st

at
em

en
ts

 in
 

m
ul

tip
le

 se
pa

ra
te

 d
oc

um
en

ts
, s

uc
h 

as
 th

e 
FY

 2
02

0 
Bu

dg
et

, o
n 

a 
Sh

ar
eP

oi
nt

 si
te

, a
nd

 e
m

be
dd

ed
 in

 p
rio

r 
Bo

ar
d 

ac
tio

ns
.  

Th
er

e 
is 

no
 c

en
tr

al
ize

d 
re

po
sit

or
y 

fo
r 

Bo
ar

d-
ap

pr
ov

ed
 p

ol
ic

y 
st

at
em

en
ts

.  
 

Th
er

e 
is 

al
so

 n
o 

ad
op

te
d 

po
lic

y 
fo

r a
ny

 p
or

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
Gr

an
ts

 p
ro

ce
ss

.  
It 

is 
no

t c
le

ar
 w

hi
ch

 p
ol

ic
ie

s w
ou

ld
 

ne
ed

 to
 b

e 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Bo

ar
d.

   

Th
er

e 
is 

al
so

 n
o 

do
cu

m
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 m
an

y 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 
us

ed
 in

 g
ra

nt
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n.

 T
he

re
 a

re
 d

ra
ft

 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

, s
uc

h 
as

 th
e 

“G
ra

nt
s C

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

Fo
rm

” 
th

at
 h

av
e 

be
en

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 b

ut
 a

re
 n

ot
 fi

na
liz

ed
 o

r 
fu

lly
 im

pl
em

en
te

d.
   

   

Th
is 

co
ul

d 
le

ad
 to

 in
co

ns
ist

en
t a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
of

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
or

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s,

 o
r p

ur
su

it 
of

 n
on

-s
tr

at
eg

ic
 g

ra
nt

s.
  

W
e 

ar
e 

aw
ar

e 
of

 a
 p

rio
r g

ra
nt

 a
w

ar
d 

fo
r s

ol
ar

 p
an

el
s,

 
fo

r w
hi

ch
 th

e 
lo

ca
l m

at
ch

 h
ad

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

pr
io

r t
o 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

  L
ac

k 
of

 p
ol

ic
ie

s a
nd

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s 

ca
n 

al
so

 li
m

it 
th

e 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 o

f n
ew

 o
r t

ra
ns

fe
rr

ed
 

em
pl

oy
ee

s.
   

In
dy

Go
 sh

ou
ld

 p
re

pa
re

 a
 h

ig
h-

le
ve

l g
ra

nt
 P

ol
ic

y 
st

at
em

en
t. 

 T
hi

s p
ol

ic
y 

co
ul

d 
be

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
by

 th
e 

CE
O

, a
nd

 a
do

pt
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

Bo
ar

d,
 th

en
 p

os
te

d 
to

 
an

 e
nt

ity
-w

id
e 

in
tr

an
et

 o
r S

ha
re

Po
in

t s
ite

 (w
he

n 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
an

d 
av

ai
la

bl
e)

.  
 

Ke
y 

gr
an

t f
un

ct
io

ns
 th

at
 c

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
in

 
th

e 
Po

lic
y 

in
cl

ud
e:

   


Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

an
d 

lin
ka

ge
 to

 st
ra

te
gi

c 
pr

io
rit

ie
s


Gr

an
t m

an
ag

em
en

t


Bu
dg

et
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n


Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
m

on
ito

rin
g


Fe

de
ra

l d
ra

w
s


Cl

os
e-

ou
ts

In
dy

Go
 sh

ou
ld

 a
lso

 c
re

at
e 

a 
se

pa
ra

te
 G

ra
nt

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
e 

M
an

ua
l. 

 T
hi

s w
ou

ld
 d

oc
um

en
t o

r 
en

ha
nc

e 
th

e 
st

ep
s c

ur
re

nt
ly

 b
ei

ng
 u

se
d 

in
 th

e 
ab

ov
e  

fu
nc

tio
na

l a
re

as
.  

Th
e 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
M

an
ua

l 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
us

ef
ul

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 to
ol

 a
nd

 sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
up

da
te

d 
pe

rio
di

ca
lly

.  
It 

w
ou

ld
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

 B
oa

rd
 

ad
op

tio
n.

   

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
 S

in
ce

 h
iri

ng
 n

ew
 st

af
f i

n 
20

20
, w

or
k 

on
 u

pd
at

in
g 

po
lic

ie
s h

as
 b

eg
un

, w
ith

 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 fo

llo
w

. A
 G

ra
nt

 P
ro

ce
du

re
s 

M
an

ua
l i

s n
ee

de
d 

an
d 

w
ill

 b
e 

th
e 

pa
th

 w
ill

 w
e 

ta
ke

 w
he

n 
up

da
tin

g 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

. 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

In
dy

Go
 G

ra
nt

s M
an

ag
er

 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 M

an
ua

l d
ra

ft
 c

om
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

M
ay

 
20

21
. 

41



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

4.
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
Ac

ro
ss

 O
rg

an
iz

at
io

n,
 a

nd
 S

ta
ff

in
g 

Le
ve

ls
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

ac
ro

ss
 In

dy
Go

 a
bo

ut
 g

ra
nt

s-
re

la
te

d 
st

at
us

, b
ud

ge
t a

nd
 sc

he
du

le
s h

as
 b

ee
n 

in
fo

rm
al

.  
De

pa
rt

m
en

ts
 h

av
e 

no
t a

ss
ig

ne
d 

gr
an

t l
ia

iso
ns

.  
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Es

ta
bl

ish
 re

cu
rr

in
g 

fo
rm

al
ize

d 
Gr

an
ts

 m
ee

tin
gs

.  
Co

ns
id

er
 a

dd
in

g 
an

ot
he

r g
ra

nt
s p

os
iti

on
.  

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 M

ed
iu

m
 

Th
e 

Gr
an

ts
 d

iv
isi

on
 re

sid
es

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
Fi

na
nc

e 
De

pa
rt

m
en

t a
nd

 c
on

sis
ts

 o
f t

w
o 

FT
Es

. T
he

ir 
re

sp
on

sib
ili

tie
s s

pa
n 

m
ul

tip
le

 p
ha

se
s o

f t
he

 g
ra

nt
s 

pr
oc

es
s.

  T
he

se
 in

cl
ud

e 
fil

in
g 

of
 th

e 
qu

ar
te

rly
 F

ed
er

al
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
ts

 a
nd

 M
ile

st
on

e 
Pr

og
re

ss
 R

ep
or

ts
 o

n 
th

e 
FT

A’
s T

ra
ns

it 
Aw

ar
d 

M
an

ag
em

en
t S

ys
te

m
 

(T
rA

M
S)

 a
nd

 re
qu

es
tin

g 
dr

aw
do

w
ns

 o
n 

FT
A’

s 
El

ec
tr

on
ic

 C
le

ar
in

g 
Ho

us
e 

O
pe

ra
tio

n 
(E

CH
O

) s
ys

te
m

, 
fo

r u
p 

to
 1

1 
ac

tiv
e 

gr
an

ts
.  

   
  

Th
e 

gr
an

ts
 p

ro
ce

ss
 re

qu
ire

s c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

an
d 

co
or

di
na

tio
n 

ac
ro

ss
 m

ul
tip

le
 In

dy
Go

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

.  

Th
e 

G
ra

nt
s d

iv
is

io
n 

cu
rr

en
tly

 fa
ci

lit
at

es
 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

an
d 

ho
ld

s q
ua

rt
er

ly
 m

ee
tin

gs
 a

nd
 

ha
s d

ev
el

op
ed

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 tr
ac

ki
ng

 re
po

rt
s.

  
Ho

w
ev

er
, t

he
 m

ee
tin

g 
fr

eq
ue

nc
y 

an
d 

m
at

er
ia

ls 
co

ul
d 

be
 b

et
te

r f
or

m
al

ize
d 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

ed
. A

lso
, 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 m
at

er
ia

ls 
or

 p
ro

ce
ss

 fl
ow

 o
ve

rv
ie

w
s h

av
e 

no
t b

ee
n 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
to

 g
ui

de
 st

af
f m

em
be

rs
.  

 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ta

l a
tt

en
de

es
 c

ou
ld

 b
e 

be
tt

er
 p

re
pa

re
d 

to
 

sh
ar

e 
bu

dg
et

 u
pd

at
es

, p
ro

je
ct

 c
an

ce
lla

tio
ns

, a
nd

 
sc

he
du

le
 re

vi
sio

ns
.  

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 h
av

e 
no

t 
co

ns
ist

en
tly

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
de

sig
na

te
d 

gr
an

t l
ia

iso
ns

, a
nd

 
th

ei
r c

om
m

itm
en

t a
nd

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n 
ha

s v
ar

ie
d.

  

In
dy

Go
 sh

ou
ld

 c
ol

le
ct

iv
el

y 
en

ha
nc

e 
th

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s o

f t
he

 g
ra

nt
s p

ro
ce

ss
, a

nd
 p

la
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
gr

an
t a

ct
iv

ity
 fr

om
 th

e 
$1

00
 m

ill
io

n 
Pu

rp
le

 L
in

e 
BR

T 
pr

oj
ec

t. 
 A

ct
io

ns
 c

ou
ld

 in
cl

ud
e:

  


Th

e 
De

pa
rt

m
en

ts
 –

 a
pp

oi
nt

 g
ra

nt
 li

ai
so

ns
(fr

om
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

, F
in

an
ce

, O
pe

ra
tio

ns
,

an
d 

IT
) w

ho
 w

ill
 a

ct
iv

el
y 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
e 

an
d

pr
ov

id
e 

bu
dg

et
, s

ch
ed

ul
e 

an
d 

ot
he

r u
pd

at
es


G

ra
nt

s d
iv

is
io

n 
– 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 h

ol
d 

re
cu

rr
in

g
m

ee
tin

gs
, w

ith
 p

la
nn

ed
 a

ge
nd

as
 a

nd
pr

ep
ar

ed
 m

at
er

ia
ls 

to
 re

vi
ew

.


M

an
ag

em
en

t –
 c

on
sid

er
 a

dd
in

g 
an

 F
TE

 to
 th

e
Gr

an
ts

 p
ro

ce
ss

. T
hi

s p
os

iti
on

 c
ou

ld
 b

e
pa

rt
ia

lly
 g

ra
nt

 fu
nd

ed
.  

Th
e 

pe
rs

on
 c

ou
ld

 b
e

re
sp

on
sib

le
 fo

r l
oc

at
in

g 
an

d 
ap

pl
yi

ng
 fo

r
gr

an
ts

, a
nd

/o
r f

ul
fil

lin
g 

th
e 

FT
A 

fil
in

g,
dr

aw
do

w
n 

an
d 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 fo

r
th

e 
Pu

rp
le

 L
in

e.

Al
so

, I
nd

yG
o 

sh
ou

ld
 e

st
ab

lis
h 

a 
sh

ar
ed

 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

sit
e 

an
d/

or
 st

or
ag

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 

fo
r s

ig
ni

fic
an

t i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

pr
oj

ec
t 

bu
dg

et
 c

ha
ng

es
 o

r r
ev

isi
on

s a
nd

 F
TA

 re
po

rt
in

g 
m

at
te

rs
.  

Th
es

e 
sh

ou
ld

 c
om

pl
em

en
t e

m
ai

l 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
.  

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
  A

ss
ig

ne
d 

gr
an

t l
ia

iso
ns

 fr
om

 th
e 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
be

ne
fic

ia
l a

nd
 o

ur
 

qu
ar

te
rly

 G
ra

nt
 M

ee
tin

gs
 w

ou
ld

 b
ec

om
e 

m
or

e 
ef

fic
ie

nt
.  

Fo
r s

ta
ffi

ng
, w

e 
ar

e 
cu

rr
en

tly
 w

or
ki

ng
 w

ith
 th

e 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t t

o 
de

ve
lo

p 
a 

jo
b 

de
sc

rip
tio

n 
fo

r a
n 

FT
E 

th
at

 w
ou

ld
 sh

ar
e 

so
m

e 
re

sp
on

sib
ili

tie
s b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
.  

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

In
dy

Go
 G

ra
nt

s M
an

ag
er

 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 


Gr

an
t L

ia
iso

ns
 in

 p
la

ce
 b

y 
Se

pt
em

be
r 3

0,
20

21


FT

E 
es

tim
at

ed
 h

ire
 d

at
e 

by
 Ju

ne
 3

0,
 2

02
1,

de
pe

nd
in

g 
on

 m
ul

tip
ly

 fa
ct

or
s

42



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

5.
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 S
ys

te
m

s a
nd

 D
at

a 
Re

po
rt

in
g

O
bs

er
va

tio
n:

 
Th

e 
e-

Bu
ild

er
 a

nd
 M

ic
ro

so
ft

 A
X 

sy
st

em
s a

re
 n

ot
 

in
te

rf
ac

ed
, w

hi
ch

 m
ay

 c
au

se
 ti

m
in

g 
an

d 
re

co
nc

ili
ng

 
di

ffe
re

nc
es

.  

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Co

ns
id

er
 th

e 
tim

in
g 

an
d 

ob
je

ct
iv

es
 fo

r u
pc

om
in

g 
sy

st
em

 u
pg

ra
de

s,
 to

 re
du

ce
 re

du
nd

an
t d

at
a 

en
tr

y 
an

d 
in

cr
ea

se
 P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
s’

 o
ve

rs
ig

ht
.  

 

 M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 M

ed
iu

m
 

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 d

isp
ar

at
e 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 sy

st
em

s w
hi

ch
 m

ay
 

no
t p

ro
vi

de
 a

de
qu

at
e 

an
d 

tim
el

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fo

r t
he

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
f l

ar
ge

 g
ra

nt
s a

nd
 c

ap
ita

l p
ro

je
ct

s.
   

Th
e 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t u
se

s e
-B

ui
ld

er
 fo

r i
ts

 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
m

an
ag

em
en

t s
of

tw
ar

e 
sy

st
em

. T
he

 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
ha

s m
od

ul
es

 fo
r d

oc
um

en
t r

et
en

tio
n,

 
pl

an
ni

ng
, d

es
ig

n 
an

d 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n.
  H

ow
ev

er
, t

he
 

Co
st

 m
od

ul
e 

ha
s n

ot
 b

ee
n 

fu
lly

 im
pl

em
en

te
d.

  
Pr

oj
ec

t M
an

ag
er

s c
ur

re
nt

ly
 re

ly
 o

n 
Ex

ce
l 

sp
re

ad
sh

ee
ts

 fo
r c

os
t a

nd
 b

ud
ge

t m
an

ag
em

en
t. 

 

Th
e 

Fi
na

nc
e 

De
pa

rt
m

en
t u

se
s M

ic
ro

so
ft

 D
yn

am
ic

s 
AX

 fo
r i

ts
 g

en
er

al
 le

dg
er

 sy
st

em
. A

X 
ha

s f
in

an
ci

al
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 o

th
er

 m
od

ul
es

. I
nd

yG
o 

us
es

 
pr

oj
ec

t  c
od

es
 to

 m
an

ag
e 

al
lo

w
ab

le
 c

os
ts

 to
 b

e 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 g
ra

nt
s.

 H
ow

ev
er

, t
he

 B
ud

ge
t a

nd
 P

ro
je

ct
 

Ac
co

un
tin

g  
m

od
ul

e 
ha

ve
 n

ot
 b

ee
n 

fu
lly

 
im

pl
em

en
te

d.
  

Th
e 

e-
Bu

ild
er

 a
nd

 M
ic

ro
so

ft
 A

X 
sy

st
em

s a
re

 n
ot

 
in

te
gr

at
ed

 o
r i

nt
er

fa
ce

d.
 A

s a
 re

su
lt,

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
co

nt
ra

ct
or

s’
 in

vo
ic

es
 m

us
t b

e 
re

-e
nt

er
ed

 in
to

 A
X 

by
 

Fi
na

nc
e 

to
 b

e 
pa

id
.  

Th
is 

ca
n 

ca
us

e 
tim

in
g 

an
d 

re
co

nc
ili

ng
 d

iff
er

en
ce

s a
nd

 a
ffe

ct
 th

e 
ab

ili
ty

 o
f t

he
 

Pr
oj

ec
t M

an
ag

er
s t

o 
ov

er
se

e 
th

ei
r p

ro
je

ct
s a

nd
 

gr
an

ts
.  

 

Th
e 

la
ck

 o
f u

pd
at

ed
 o

r i
nt

er
fa

ce
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 b

ud
ge

t s
ys

te
m

s i
nc

re
as

es
 th

e 
ov

er
sig

ht
 a

nd
 d

el
iv

er
y 

ris
k 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o’
s l

ar
ge

 
ca

pi
ta

l p
ro

je
ct

s.
 It

 c
ou

ld
 a

lso
 a

ffe
ct

 th
e 

tim
el

in
es

s 
an

d 
ac

cu
ra

cy
 o

f t
he

 re
qu

ire
d 

Fe
de

ra
l F

in
an

ci
al

 
Re

po
rt

 fi
lin

gs
 w

ith
 th

e 
FT

A.
   

 

Th
er

e 
ar

e 
tw

o 
co

nc
ur

re
nt

 sy
st

em
 u

pg
ra

de
s b

ei
ng

 
co

ns
id

er
ed

. T
he

 F
in

an
ce

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t h

as
 is

su
ed

 a
 

Re
qu

es
t f

or
 Q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
ns

 fo
r t

he
 M

ic
ro

so
ft

 
Dy

na
m

ic
s 3

65
 p

ro
du

ct
.  

Se
pa

ra
te

ly
, t

he
 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t i
s i

m
pl

em
en

tin
g 

th
e 

  
e-

Bu
ild

er
 C

os
t m

od
ul

e.

W
e 

su
gg

es
t t

ha
t t

he
 F

in
an

ce
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 a
nd

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

, t
o 

m
or

e 
fu

lly
 c

oo
rd

in
at

e 
or

 
se

qu
en

tia
lly

 im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 sy
st

em
s.

 T
hi

s c
ou

ld
: 


El

im
in

at
e 

re
du

nd
an

t e
nt

ry
 o

f c
on

tr
ac

to
rs

’
in

vo
ic

e 
da

ta
 (p

er
ha

ps
 b

y 
cs

v 
da

ta
 fi

le
 tr

an
sf

er
)


Re

du
ce

 ti
m

in
g 

de
la

ys
 a

nd
 in

cr
ea

se
 th

e
ac

cu
ra

cy
 o

f t
he

 b
ud

ge
t t

o 
ac

tu
al

 re
po

rt
s


U

til
ize

 th
e 

fu
ll 

fu
nc

tio
na

lit
y 

of
 th

e 
ne

w
sy

st
em

s (
i.e

., 
th

e 
Bu

dg
et

 a
nd

 P
ro

je
ct

Ac
co

un
tin

g 
m

od
ul

es
)


Re

du
ce

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f o
ut

sid
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
s

ut
ili

ze
d 

th
e 

m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

es
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
  W

e 
w

ill
 sp

ea
k 

w
ith

 th
e 

Ac
co

un
ts

 
Pa

ya
bl

es
 g

ro
up

, a
s t

he
y 

w
ill

 b
e 

af
fe

ct
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

da
ta

 e
nt

ry
 a

nd
 sy

st
em

 re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

.  
 

W
e 

w
ill

 a
lso

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ac
to

rs
 

fo
r t

he
 e

-B
ui

ld
er

 u
pg

ra
de

 a
nd

 D
36

5 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n,

 to
 id

en
tif

y 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 
re

du
nd

an
ci

es
.  

  

W
e 

w
ill

 a
sk

 fo
r i

np
ut

 a
nd

 su
pp

or
t f

ro
m

 th
e 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t a
nd

 T
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

gr
ou

p 
on

 th
es

e 
in

iti
at

iv
es

, a
nd

 th
e 

ro
le

 o
f e

ac
h 

sy
st

em
.  

 

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

In
dy

Go
 C

hi
ef

 F
in

an
ci

al
 O

ffi
ce

r 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

22
, t

he
 p

ro
je

ct
ed

 e
nd

 o
f t

he
 e

-B
ui

ld
er

 
up

gr
ad

e 
an

d 
D3

65
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n.

  

M
ar

ch
 2

02
1,

 to
 in

iti
at

e 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 w

ith
 

ot
he

r I
nd

yG
o 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 th
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 
sy

st
em

 im
pl

em
en

te
rs

 re
ga

rd
in

g 
te

ch
no

lo
gy

 
so

lu
tio

ns
.  

43



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

6.
La

ps
in

g 
of

 F
un

ds
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 tw

o 
ol

de
r g

ra
nt

s w
ith

 fu
nd

s t
ot

al
in

g 
$2

.9
 

m
ill

io
n 

th
at

 m
ay

 b
e 

la
ps

in
g.

   
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
O

bt
ai

n 
bu

dg
et

 u
pd

at
es

 fr
om

 P
ro

je
ct

 M
an

ag
er

s.
 

W
or

k 
w

ith
 F

TA
 to

 e
xt

en
d 

or
 re

-a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 th
e 

fu
nd

s b
ef

or
e 

th
ey

 la
ps

e.
  

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 L

ow
 

In
dy

Go
’s

 F
TA

 g
ra

nt
s a

re
 g

en
er

al
ly

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 d
ra

w
 

up
on

 fo
r p

ro
je

ct
 p

ur
po

se
s d

ur
in

g 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 a
n 

FT
A-

de
fin

ed
 “

pe
rio

d 
of

 a
va

ila
bi

lit
y”

.  
Th

is 
pe

rio
d 

in
cl

ud
es

 
th

e 
ye

ar
 th

e 
aw

ar
d 

is 
gr

an
te

d,
 p

lu
s f

ou
r s

ub
se

qu
en

t 
ye

ar
s.

   

If 
th

e 
gr

an
ts

 fu
nd

s a
re

 n
ot

 e
xp

en
de

d 
on

 a
 ti

m
el

y 
ba

sis
, t

he
y 

ca
n 

“l
ap

se
” 

w
hi

ch
 re

qu
ire

s a
dd

iti
on

al
 

ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
In

dy
Go

 e
ffo

rt
 a

nd
 b

ud
ge

t r
ev

isi
on

. 
Fu

nd
s c

an
 b

e 
re

-a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

d 
w

ith
 F

TA
’s

   
ap

pr
ov

al
.  

It 
is 

im
po

rt
an

t f
or

 th
e 

Gr
an

ts
 d

iv
isi

on
 to

 b
e 

aw
ar

e 
of

 
an

y 
po

te
nt

ia
l f

un
ds

 th
at

 m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

us
ed

 o
n 

a 
tim

el
y 

ba
sis

, d
ue

 to
 p

ro
je

ct
 c

an
ce

la
tio

ns
, d

el
ay

s o
r s

ch
ed

ul
e 

ch
an

ge
s.

  T
he

re
 a

re
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 n
o 

sy
st

em
 g

en
er

at
ed

 
re

po
rt

s t
ha

t m
ay

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

.  
Th

er
ef

or
e,

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s 

re
lie

s o
n 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t 

m
an

ag
er

s a
nd

 G
ra

nt
s d

iv
isi

on
.  

   

W
e 

no
te

d 
tw

o 
gr

an
ts

 w
ith

 $
2.

9 
m

ill
io

n 
in

 fu
nd

s t
ha

t 
co

ul
d 

la
ps

e 
in

 fu
tu

re
 p

er
io

ds
.  

   
 

In
dy

Go
’s

 G
ra

nt
s d

iv
isi

on
 sh

ou
ld

 o
bt

ai
n 

cu
rr

en
t 

bu
dg

et
 a

nd
 p

ro
je

ct
 sc

he
du

le
 u

pd
at

es
 fr

om
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t M
an

ag
er

s.
  P

M
s s

ho
ul

d 
be

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 th

es
e 

on
 a

 ti
m

el
y 

ba
sis

, s
o 

th
at

 th
e 

Gr
an

ts
 d

iv
isi

on
 c

an
 

be
 a

w
ar

e 
of

 a
ny

 p
ot

en
tia

lly
 la

ps
in

g 
fu

nd
s  

  

Th
e 

Gr
an

ts
 d

iv
isi

on
 sh

ou
ld

: 


Co

nt
in

ue
 to

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
FT

A 
to

 e
xt

en
d 

or
re

-a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 th
e 

fu
nd

s.


Co

m
m

un
ic

at
e 

an
y 

po
te

nt
ia

lly
 la

ps
in

g 
fu

nd
s

re
gu

la
rly

 to
 se

ni
or

 m
an

ag
em

en
t, 

to
 k

ee
p 

al
l

pa
rt

ie
s i

nf
or

m
ed

 a
nd

 a
vo

id
 th

e 
lo

ss
 o

f
fu

nd
in

g.


Cr

ea
te

 a
 sy

st
em

-g
en

er
at

ed
 re

po
rt

 (f
ro

m
e-

Bu
ild

er
 o

r u
pc

om
in

g 
M

ic
ro

so
ft

 D
36

5)
 w

hi
ch

co
ul

d 
be

 d
ist

rib
ut

ed
 re

gu
la

rly
.  

Th
is 

w
ou

ld
 

al
lo

w
 th

e 
PM

s t
o 

re
vi

ew
 re

po
rt

s a
nd

 p
er

m
it 

th
e 

Gr
an

ts
 d

iv
isi

on
 to

 b
et

te
r m

on
ito

r a
ct

iv
ity

 
an

d 
fo

cu
s o

n 
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

 o
r i

m
pa

ct
 o

n 
FT

A 
re

po
rt

in
g.

   
   

  

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
  I

nd
yG

o 
w

ill
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 F
TA

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
w

e 
ar

e 
be

st
 u

til
izi

ng
 o

ur
 o

ld
er

 fu
nd

in
g.

   
Cu

rr
en

tly
, a

ll 
of

 In
dy

Go
’s

 la
ps

ed
 fu

nd
in

g 
ha

s 
be

en
 re

-a
llo

ca
te

d 
in

 c
ur

re
nt

 p
ro

je
ct

s.
   

   
 

W
e 

w
ill

 a
lso

 d
isc

us
s r

ep
or

tin
g 

op
tio

ns
 w

ith
 th

e 
sy

st
em

 im
pl

em
en

te
r d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
di

sc
ov

er
y 

ph
as

e 
of

 th
e 

D3
65

 u
pg

ra
de

.  

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

In
dy

Go
 G

ra
nt

s M
an

ag
er

  

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

Bu
dg

et
 re

-a
pp

ro
pr

ia
tio

ns
 fo

r o
ur

 o
pe

n 
gr

an
ts

 
ar

e 
do

ne
 a

nd
 h

av
e 

be
en

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
by

 F
TA

.  
   

Sy
st

em
 o

pt
io

ns
 w

ill
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
1.

 

44



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

7.
Tr

ai
ni

ng
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 li

m
ite

d 
fo

rm
al

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

gr
am

s,
 a

nd
 

no
ne

 h
av

e 
be

en
 h

el
d 

re
la

te
d 

to
 G

ra
nt

s.
   

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
Im

pl
em

en
t s

om
e 

“L
un

ch
 a

nd
 L

ea
rn

” 
or

 in
fo

rm
al

 
pr

og
ra

m
s,

 fo
r p

er
so

nn
el

 fr
om

 a
ll 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 
in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ith
 G

ra
nt

s a
dm

in
ist

ra
tio

n.
  

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 L

ow
 

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 p

er
so

nn
el

 in
vo

lv
ed

 fr
om

 m
ul

tip
le

 g
ro

up
s 

an
d 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 in
vo

lv
ed

 w
ith

 g
ra

nt
s 

ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n.
  S

ev
er

al
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
 h

av
e 

al
so

 
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

 st
af

f t
ra

ns
iti

on
 a

nd
 tu

rn
ov

er
.  

In
dy

Go
 h

as
 li

m
ite

d 
fo

rm
al

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

gr
am

s,
 a

nd
 n

o 
se

ss
io

ns
 h

av
e 

be
en

 h
el

d 
re

la
te

d 
to

 G
ra

nt
s.

  M
os

t 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 o

cc
ur

s o
n 

th
e 

jo
b.

  

In
dy

Go
’s

 g
ra

nt
 fu

nd
in

g 
ha

s i
nc

re
as

ed
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
 d

ue
 

to
 th

e 
Re

d 
Li

ne
 B

us
 R

ap
id

 T
ra

ns
it 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

nd
 n

ew
 

CA
RE

S 
Ac

t a
w

ar
ds

.  
  

Fe
de

ra
l g

ra
nt

 p
ro

gr
am

s,
 re

gu
la

tio
ns

, c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

an
d 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t T

rie
nn

ia
l R

ev
ie

w
) 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 h
av

e 
co

nt
in

ue
d 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 a

nd
 e

vo
lv

e.
 

N
on

-c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

co
ul

d 
re

su
lt 

in
 d

isa
llo

w
ed

 c
os

ts
 

(a
lth

ou
gh

 w
e 

no
te

d 
th

at
 In

dy
Go

 h
ad

 n
o 

sig
ni

fic
an

t 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
de

vi
at

io
ns

 re
po

rt
ed

 in
 re

ce
nt

 S
in

gl
e 

Au
di

t 
re

po
rt

s p
re

pa
re

d 
by

 th
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 a
ud

ito
rs

). 
   

 

Br
ie

f t
ra

in
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
s c

ou
ld

 e
nh

an
ce

 n
ew

 a
nd

 
ex

ist
in

g 
st

af
f’s

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

an
d 

he
lp

 in
cr

ea
se

 
in

te
ra

ct
io

n 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

di
ffe

re
nt

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

.  

Co
ns

id
er

 b
rie

f “
Lu

nc
h 

an
d 

Le
ar

n”
 o

r o
th

er
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 

pr
og

ra
m

s.
  T

op
ic

s c
ou

ld
 in

cl
ud

e:
  


Al

lo
w

ab
le

 c
os

ts
 to

 b
e 

ch
ar

ge
d 

to
 g

ra
nt

s


M
ic

ro
so

ft
 A

X 
w

or
kf

lo
w


In

dy
Go

 G
ra

nt
 A

gr
ee

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 fu

nd
in

g


Au
di

t r
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 fo

r g
ra

nt
s

Go
od

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 m
at

er
ia

ls 
co

ul
d 

be
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 fr
om

:


Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
Re

se
ar

ch
 B

oa
rd

 R
ep

or
t:

Cu
rr

ic
ul

um
 fo

r N
ew

 S
ta

te
 D

O
T 

Tr
an

sit
 G

ra
nt

M
an

ag
er

s i
n 

Ad
m

in
ist

er
in

g 
Fe

de
ra

l a
nd

 S
ta

te
Tr

an
sit

 G
ra

nt
s (

20
14

)


O
M

B 
Ci

rc
ul

ar
 5

01
0.

1E
, (

Gr
an

t)
 A

w
ar

d
M

an
ag

em
en

ts
 R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts


Re

gi
on

al
 F

TA
 T

ra
in

in
g 

M
at

er
ia

ls

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

W
e 

ag
re

e.
  T

ra
in

in
g 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
be

ne
fic

ia
l. 

 W
e 

w
ill

 
pa

rt
ne

r w
ith

 o
th

er
 In

dy
Go

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

 (s
uc

h 
as

 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

, L
eg

al
, e

tc
.) 

to
 h

el
p 

de
ve

lo
p 

an
d 

pr
es

en
t t

op
ic

s.
   

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

y:
 

In
dy

Go
 G

ra
nt

s M
an

ag
er

   

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

Fa
ll 

20
21

 fo
r t

he
 fi

rs
t t

ra
in

in
g 

se
ss

io
n 

to
 b

e 
he

ld
.  

   

45



   
   

 G
ra

nt
s M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

AP
PE

N
DI

X 
A 

– 
RA

TI
N

G
 D

EF
IN

IT
IO

N
S

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g 
De

fin
iti

on
s

Ra
tin

g
De

fin
iti

on

Lo
w

Pr
oc

es
s i

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 e
xi

st
 b

ut
 a

re
 n

ot
 a

n 
im

m
ed

ia
te

 p
rio

rit
y 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o.
 T

ak
in

g 
ad

va
nt

ag
e 

of
 

th
es

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 b

es
t 

pr
ac

tic
e 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o.

M
ed

iu
m

Pr
oc

es
s i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s e

xi
st

 to
 h

el
p 

In
dy

Go
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 g
oa

ls,
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 a
nd

 fu
rt

he
r p

ro
te

ct
 it

s 
br

an
d 

or
 p

ub
lic

 p
er

ce
pt

io
n.

 T
hi

s o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 sh
ou

ld
 

be
 c

on
sid

er
ed

 in
 th

e 
ne

ar
 te

rm
.

Hi
gh

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s e
xi

st
 

to
 h

el
p 

In
dy

Go
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 g
oa

ls,
 m

ee
t o

r 
im

pr
ov

e 
its

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 st
ru

ct
ur

e,
 a

nd
 fu

rt
he

r 
pr

ot
ec

t i
ts

 b
ra

nd
 o

r p
ub

lic
 p

er
ce

pt
io

n 
pr

es
en

ts
. T

hi
s 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
im

m
ed

ia
te

ly
.

N
ot

 R
at

ed

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
is 

no
t c

on
sid

er
ed

 a
 c

on
tr

ol
 

or
 p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 b
ut

 sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 b
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t o

r t
he

 b
oa

rd
, a

s 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

.

Re
po

rt
 R

at
in

g 
De

fin
iti

on
s

Ra
tin

g
Ex

pl
an

at
io

n

Lo
w

Ad
eq

ua
te

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s a
re

 in
 p

la
ce

 a
nd

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y.
 F

ew
, i

f 
an

y,
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 st
ru

ct
ur

e 
ar

e 
re

qu
ire

d.
O

bs
er

va
tio

n 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

lim
ite

d 
to

 o
nl

y 
lo

w
 ri

sk
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

or
 

m
od

er
at

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

ns
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 n
ot

 p
er

va
siv

e 
in

 n
at

ur
e.

M
ed

iu
m

Ce
rt

ai
n 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s a
re

 e
ith

er
:


N

ot
 in

 p
la

ce
 o

r a
re

 n
ot

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y,
 w

hi
ch

 in
 th

e
ag

gr
eg

at
e 

re
pr

es
en

t a
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 la
ck

 o
f c

on
tr

ol
 in

 o
ne

 o
r m

or
e 

of
 th

e
ar

ea
s w

ith
in

 th
e 

sc
op

e 
of

 th
e 

re
vi

ew
.


Se

ve
ra

l m
od

er
at

e 
co

nt
ro

l w
ea

kn
es

se
s i

n 
on

e 
pr

oc
es

s,
 o

r a
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
of

 h
ig

h 
an

d 
m

od
er

at
e 

w
ea

kn
es

se
s w

hi
ch

 c
ol

le
ct

iv
el

y
ar

e 
no

t p
er

va
siv

e.

Hi
gh

Fu
nd

am
en

ta
l i

nt
er

na
l c

on
tr

ol
s a

re
 n

ot
 in

 p
la

ce
 o

r o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
fo

r s
ub

st
an

tia
l a

re
as

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
sc

op
e 

of
 th

e 
re

vi
ew

. S
ys

te
m

ic
 b

us
in

es
s 

ris
ks

 e
xi

st
 w

hi
ch

 h
av

e 
th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l t

o 
cr

ea
te

 si
tu

at
io

ns
 th

at
 c

ou
ld

 
sig

ni
fic

an
tly

 im
pa

ct
 th

e 
co

nt
ro

l e
nv

iro
nm

en
t.


Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

/s
ev

er
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 w
ea

kn
es

se
s (

br
ea

kd
ow

n)
 in

 th
e 

ov
er

al
l

co
nt

ro
l e

nv
iro

nm
en

t i
n 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 b

us
in

es
s o

r t
he

 p
ro

ce
ss

 b
ei

ng
re

vi
ew

ed
.


Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 n
on

-c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 la
w

s a
nd

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
.


O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 p
er

va
siv

e 
in

 n
at

ur
e.

N
ot

 R
at

ed
Ad

eq
ua

te
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

nd
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y.

 N
o 

re
po

rt
ab

le
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 w

er
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
.

46



Date: January 07, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Deputy of Governance & Audit Brain Atkinson 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Governance & Audit Compliance Assessment 

ACTION ITEM A – 12 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Review and receive Governance & Audit Report 2020-11 
 Compliance Assessment

BACKGROUND: 

The FY 2020 Internal Audit Work Plan approved by the Governance and Audit Committee included an 
assessment of IndyGo’s Compliance Process.  The objective in assessing IndyGo’s Compliance function was to 
understand the people and processes currently in place to fulfill its mission within the agency.  

DISCUSSION: 

IndyGo’s Compliance function is presently comprised of one FTE, the Director of Compliance and Civil Rights, who is also 
an attorney who reports to IndyGo’s General Counsel. An additional FTE is budgeted for 2021, and a search is presently 
underway. 

After initial discussions with Compliance leadership, we concluded that it made the most sense to limit the assessment’s 
scope specifically to compliance with Federal Transit Administration (FTA) standards considering the ongoing 
agencywide preparation supporting the forthcoming FTA triennial review. 

As a result of our assessment activities, we have noted the potential opportunity for significant streamlining to what is 
currently a time-consuming process which is detailed in the attached Report No. 2020-11 

ALTERNATIVES: 

N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No Fiscal Impact 

DBE DECLARATION: 

N/A 

47



STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 

This action was reviewed by the Governance & Audit Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Consent 
Agenda.

48



Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t A

ss
es

sm
en

t

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 N

o.
 2

02
0-

11
 

R
ep

or
t I

ss
ue

d 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
7,

 2
02

1 

49



 F
TA

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

As
se

ss
m

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 S

U
M

M
AR

Y 
O

ve
ra

ll 
R

ep
or

t R
at

in
g 

&
 O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
(S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

A
 fo

r d
ef

in
iti

on
s)

R
ep

or
t 

R
at

in
g

N
um

be
r o

f O
bs

er
va

tio
ns

 b
y 

R
at

in
g

H
ig

h
M

ed
iu

m
Lo

w

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t

M
ed

iu
m

0
1

0

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
Th

e 
FY

 2
02

0 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

W
or

k 
Pl

an
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 th

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
nd

 A
ud

it 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 in
cl

ud
ed

 a
n 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f I
nd

yG
o’

s C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

Pr
oc

es
s.

In
dy

Go
’s

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

fu
nc

tio
n 

is 
pr

es
en

tly
 c

om
pr

ise
d 

of
 o

ne
 F

TE
, t

he
 D

ire
ct

or
 o

f 
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
an

d 
Ci

vi
l R

ig
ht

s,
 w

ho
 is

 a
lso

 a
n 

at
to

rn
ey

 w
ho

 re
po

rt
s t

o 
In

dy
Go

’s
 

Ge
ne

ra
l C

ou
ns

el
. A

n 
ad

di
tio

na
l F

TE
 is

 b
ud

ge
te

d 
fo

r 2
02

1,
 a

nd
 a

 se
ar

ch
 is

 
pr

es
en

tly
 u

nd
er

w
ay

.
O

ve
ra

ll,
 in

di
vi

du
al

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

 a
cr

os
s t

he
 a

ge
nc

y 
ar

e 
re

sp
on

sib
le

 to
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

in
 th

ei
r a

re
as

. T
ha

t s
ai

d,
 th

e 
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
fu

nc
tio

n 
is 

ac
co

un
ta

bl
e 

fo
r p

ro
vi

di
ng

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 th

at
 a

ge
nc

yw
id

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
is 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d.

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

al
so

 a
ct

s a
s a

 re
so

ur
ce

 fo
r c

om
pl

ia
nc

e-
re

la
te

d 
qu

es
tio

ns
 a

nd
 is

su
es

. 
O

ur
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 a

re
 p

er
fo

rm
ed

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
pr

of
es

sio
na

l p
ra

ct
ic

e 
st

an
da

rd
s o

f t
he

 In
st

itu
te

 o
f I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
ito

rs
. T

hi
s r

ep
or

t w
as

 p
re

pa
re

d 
fo

r u
se

 
by

 In
dy

Go
’s

 B
oa

rd
 o

f D
ire

ct
or

s,
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Au

di
t C

om
m

itt
ee

, a
nd

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t.

O
ve

ra
ll 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
an

d 
Hi

gh
lig

ht
s

Gi
ve

n 
th

at
 o

ur
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t s
co

pe
 w

as
 li

m
ite

d 
to

 F
TA

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e,

 w
e 

at
te

m
pt

ed
 to

 sp
ec

ifi
ca

lly
 id

en
tif

y 
ho

w
 In

dy
Go

 m
ay

 b
e 

ab
le

 to
 m

or
e 

ef
fic

ie
nt

ly
 m

an
ag

e 
its

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

. I
n 

do
in

g 
so

, w
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 p

ot
en

tia
l i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s f

or
 b

ot
h 

pr
oc

es
s 

ow
ne

rs
 a

nd
 In

dy
Go

’s
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
fu

nc
tio

n 
m

an
ag

em
en

t. 
As

 a
 re

su
lt 

of
 o

ur
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t a
ct

iv
iti

es
, w

e 
ha

ve
 n

ot
ed

 th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l 
op

po
rt

un
ity

 fo
r s

ig
ni

fic
an

t s
tr

ea
m

lin
in

g 
to

 w
ha

t i
s c

ur
re

nt
ly

 a
 ti

m
e-

co
ns

um
in

g 
pr

oc
es

s.
 A

 re
la

tiv
el

y 
st

ra
ig

ht
fo

rw
ar

d 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e-
fo

cu
se

d 
te

ch
no

lo
gy

 so
lu

tio
n 

co
ul

d 
su

pp
or

t b
ot

h 
pr

oc
es

s o
w

ne
rs

 a
nd

 
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
lik

e.
 S

uc
h 

a 
so

lu
tio

n 
co

ul
d 

pr
ov

id
e:


A 

da
sh

bo
ar

d 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

re
al

-t
im

e 
vi

sib
ili

ty
 to

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e

st
at

us
 a

cr
os

s a
ll 

ar
ea

s a
nd

 se
rv

e 
as

 a
 to

ol
 fo

r m
or

e 
fr

eq
ue

nt
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
an

d 
qu

al
ity

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
an

d,


A 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

to
 st

re
am

lin
e 

w
ha

t i
s c

ur
re

nt
ly

 a
 o

nc
e 

ev
er

y
th

re
e-

ye
ar

 e
xe

rc
ise

 to
 d

em
on

st
ra

te
 F

TA
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e,
 a

nd


A 
ce

nt
ra

liz
ed

 p
or

ta
l t

ha
t c

ou
ld

 re
ta

in
 a

ge
nc

yw
id

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n.

Fu
rt

he
r d

et
ai

l i
s p

ro
vi

de
d 

in
 th

e 
bo

dy
 o

f t
he

 re
po

rt
.

W
e 

w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 th
an

k 
In

dy
Go

 st
af

f a
nd

 a
ll 

th
os

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
ss

ist
in

g 
us

 in
 c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
re

vi
ew

. Q
ue

st
io

ns
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
to

 
th

e 
In

dy
Go

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

Au
di

t a
t: 

ba
tk

in
so

n@
in

dy
go

.n
et

.

O
bj

ec
tiv

e,
 S

co
pe

, a
nd

 A
pp

ro
ac

h
O

ve
ra

ll,
 o

ur
 o

bj
ec

tiv
e 

in
 a

ss
es

sin
g 

In
dy

Go
’s

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

fu
nc

tio
n 

w
as

 to
 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 th

e 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 in
 p

la
ce

 to
 fu

lfi
ll 

its
 m

iss
io

n 
w

ith
in

 
th

e 
ag

en
cy

. 
Af

te
r i

ni
tia

l d
isc

us
sio

ns
 w

ith
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
le

ad
er

sh
ip

, w
e 

co
nc

lu
de

d 
th

at
 it

 m
ad

e 
th

e 
m

os
t s

en
se

 to
 li

m
it 

th
e 

as
se

ss
m

en
t’s

 sc
op

e 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 to
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 

Fe
de

ra
l T

ra
ns

it 
Ad

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n 

(F
TA

) s
ta

nd
ar

ds
. I

t m
ad

e 
fu

rt
he

r s
en

se
 to

 li
m

it 
th

e 
sc

op
e 

 g
iv

en
 th

e 
tim

in
g 

of
 th

e 
on

go
in

g 
ag

en
cy

w
id

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

fo
rt

hc
om

in
g 

FT
A 

tr
ie

nn
ia

l r
ev

ie
w

.
W

e 
in

te
rv

ie
w

ed
 a

 to
ta

l o
f 1

4 
in

di
vi

du
al

s a
cr

os
s t

he
 a

ge
nc

y,
 e

ac
h 

re
sp

on
sib

le
 fo

r 
on

e 
or

 m
or

e 
ar

ea
s r

eq
ui

rin
g 

FT
A 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e.

 T
o 

fu
rt

he
r u

nd
er

st
an

d 
th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

In
dy

Go
’s

 re
qu

ire
d 

re
po

rt
in

g 
in

to
 F

TA
’s

 N
at

io
na

l T
ra

ns
it 

Da
ta

ba
se

 
(N

TD
), 

w
e 

al
so

 in
te

rv
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

ag
en

cy
’s

 re
pr

es
en

ta
tiv

e 
re

sp
on

sib
le

 fo
r t

ha
t 

re
po

rt
in

g 
pr

oc
es

s.
  

50

mailto:batkinson@indygo.net


 F
TA

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

As
se

ss
m

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 S

U
M

M
AR

Y 
(C

O
N

TI
N

U
ED

) 
O

BS
ER

VA
TI

O
N

S 
SU

M
M

AR
Y 

Fo
llo

w
in

g 
is 

a 
su

m
m

ar
y 

of
 th

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

ns
 n

ot
ed

. D
ef

in
iti

on
s o

f t
he

 o
bs

er
va

tio
n 

ra
tin

g 
sc

al
e 

ar
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 A

pp
en

di
x 

A.
 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

A
ud

it 
O

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

Ti
tle

 
Ra

tin
g 

1.
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
Pr

og
ra

m
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
En

ab
le

m
en

t
M

ed
iu

m
 

51



 F
TA

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

As
se

ss
m

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

1.
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
Pr

og
ra

m
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
En

ab
le

m
en

t
O

bs
er

va
tio

n:
 

Th
er

e 
is 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 to

 e
nh

an
ce

 th
e 

ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
an

d 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
flo

w
 su

rr
ou

nd
in

g 
In

dy
Go

’s
 o

ng
oi

ng
 F

TA
 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

ac
tiv

iti
es

. 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 
W

e 
re

co
m

m
en

d 
th

at
 In

dy
Go

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

co
ns

id
er

 o
pt

io
ns

 to
 p

ro
vi

de
 te

ch
no

lo
gy

 e
na

bl
em

en
t i

n 
su

pp
or

t o
f t

he
 a

ge
nc

y’
s o

ng
oi

ng
 F

TA
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
ef

fo
rt

s.
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 R
es

po
ns

e:
 

W
e 

ag
re

e 
th

at
 a

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e-

fo
cu

se
d 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 w

ou
ld

 e
nh

an
ce

 o
ur

 a
bi

lit
y 

to
 

m
on

ito
r F

TA
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ag
en

cy
 a

nd
 re

su
lt 

in
 a

 m
or

e 
ef

fic
ie

nt
 a

nd
 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
pr

oc
es

s.
  

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 M

ed
iu

m
 

Do
cu

m
en

tin
g 

ag
en

cy
w

id
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 F
TA

 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
, a

nd
 su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

tr
ie

nn
ia

l F
TA

 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
re

vi
ew

 p
ro

ce
ss

, i
s c

ur
re

nt
ly

 a
n 

ar
du

ou
s 

an
d 

tim
e-

co
ns

um
in

g 
pr

oc
es

s.
 H

un
dr

ed
s o

f h
ou

rs
 a

re
 

co
ns

um
ed

 a
cr

os
s v

irt
ua

lly
 a

ll 
In

dy
Go

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

 in
 

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

of
 e

ac
h 

tr
ie

nn
ia

l r
ev

ie
w

 p
ro

ce
ss

.  

Ad
di

tio
na

lly
, n

ei
th

er
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t n
or

 
ag

en
cy

 E
xe

cu
tiv

es
 h

av
e 

re
ad

y 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 a

ny
 si

ng
le

 
so

ur
ce

 o
f i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
as

su
ra

nc
e 

th
at

 th
e 

ag
en

cy
 is

 c
on

sis
te

nt
ly

 m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e.

 

Du
rin

g 
ou

r r
ev

ie
w

 w
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
th

at
 th

e 
ar

ea
s 

re
qu

iri
ng

 F
TA

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

co
ul

d 
be

 sp
lit

 in
to

 tw
o 

di
ffe

re
nt

 c
at

eg
or

ie
s –

 th
os

e 
re

qu
iri

ng
 a

ct
iv

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
an

d 
th

os
e 

re
qu

iri
ng

 p
as

siv
e,

 o
ng

oi
ng

 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e.
 


Ac

tiv
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

re
fe

rs
 to

 th
os

e 
ar

ea
s

re
qu

iri
ng

 p
er

io
di

c 
re

po
rt

in
g 

to
 e

ith
er

 th
e

N
TD

 o
r o

th
er

w
ise

 to
 th

e 
FT

A.
 E

xa
m

pl
es

in
cl

ud
e 

AD
A 

(A
m

er
ic

an
s w

ith
 D

isa
bi

lit
y 

Ac
t)

,
DB

E 
(D

isa
dv

an
ta

ge
d 

Bu
sin

es
s E

nt
iti

es
), 

an
d

Gr
an

t A
w

ar
d 

M
an

ag
em

en
t.


Pa

ss
iv

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
re

fe
rs

 to
 th

os
e 

ar
ea

s t
ha

t
ar

e 
sim

pl
y 

re
qu

ire
d 

to
 c

on
sis

te
nt

ly
 m

ai
nt

ai
n

W
eb

-b
as

ed
 S

aa
S 

(S
of

tw
ar

e 
as

 a
 S

er
vi

ce
) s

ol
ut

io
ns

 e
xi

st
 

th
at

 c
an

 h
el

p 
fa

ci
lit

at
e 

pe
rio

di
c 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

ac
tiv

iti
es

. 
Su

ch
 so

lu
tio

ns
 a

re
 a

lso
 a

bl
e 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 c

us
to

m
iza

bl
e 

da
sh

bo
ar

ds
 fo

r t
op

-le
ve

l M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 B

oa
rd

 
re

po
rt

in
g.

 

Be
yo

nd
 d

as
hb

oa
rd

 re
po

rt
in

g,
 su

ch
 a

 so
lu

tio
n 

co
ul

d 
pr

ov
id

e 
a 

cu
st

om
iza

bl
e 

pl
at

fo
rm

 fo
r p

er
io

di
c 

se
lf-

ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n.

 P
ro

ce
ss

 o
w

ne
rs

 c
ou

ld
 se

lf-
ce

rt
ify

 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
on

 a
 p

er
io

di
c 

ba
sis

, i
.e

., 
qu

ar
te

rly
 o

r s
em

i-
an

nu
al

ly
. T

he
y 

co
ul

d 
al

so
 u

pl
oa

d 
th

ei
r s

up
po

rt
in

g 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n,

 i.
e.

, t
he

 d
at

a 
re

po
rt

ed
 in

to
 th

e 
FT

A’
s 

N
TD

.  

Be
ne

fit
s f

ro
m

 su
ch

 a
 sy

st
em

 w
ou

ld
 in

cl
ud

e 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

In
dy

Go
 le

ad
er

sh
ip

 re
al

-t
im

e 
vi

sib
ili

ty
 in

to
 b

ot
h 

ag
en

cy
w

id
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

st
at

us
 a

nd
 d

ril
ld

ow
n 

ca
pa

bi
lit

y 
in

to
 sp

ec
ifi

c 
ar

ea
s.

 It
 w

ou
ld

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 v

eh
ic

le
 fo

r t
im

el
y 

an
d 

st
ra

ig
ht

fo
rw

ar
d 

es
ca

la
tio

n 
of

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

ch
al

le
ng

es
. I

t w
ou

ld
 a

lso
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

 w
ay

 to
 c

on
ve

rt
 F

TA
 

tr
ie

nn
ia

l p
re

pa
ra

to
ry

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 fr

om
 a

 o
nc

e-
ev

er
y-

th
re

e-
ye

ar
s i

nt
en

siv
e 

ef
fo

rt
 to

 a
 st

re
am

lin
ed

, o
ng

oi
ng

 
pr

oc
es

s.
 

Be
yo

nd
 F

TA
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e,
 su

ch
 a

 to
ol

 c
ou

ld
 a

lso
 b

e 
us

ed
 

in
 th

e 
fu

tu
re

 fo
r o

th
er

 a
re

as
 re

qu
iri

ng
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e,
 

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
: 

M
an

ag
em

en
t w

ill
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 D
ire

ct
or

 o
f 

Go
ve

rn
an

ce
 a

nd
 A

ud
it 

an
d 

hi
s c

on
su

lti
ng

 
pa

rt
ne

r t
o 

id
en

tif
y 

an
d 

ev
al

ua
te

 p
ot

en
tia

l 
so

ft
w

ar
e 

so
lu

tio
ns

.  

Re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

Pa
rt

ie
s:

 

Di
re

ct
or

 o
f C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
an

d 
Ci

vi
l R

ig
ht

s 

Du
e 

Da
te

: 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 1
, 2

02
2 

52



 F
TA

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

As
se

ss
m

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

ce
rt

ai
n 

po
lic

ie
s,

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s,

 o
r s

er
vi

ce
s.

 
Ex

am
pl

es
 in

cl
ud

e 
Pr

oc
ur

em
en

t, 
Le

ga
l, 

an
d 

th
e 

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s &
 F

le
et

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

. 

Al
so

, p
ro

vi
di

ng
 o

ng
oi

ng
 v

isi
bi

lit
y 

ov
er

 a
ll 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

ar
ea

s,
 w

he
th

er
 re

qu
iri

ng
 a

ct
iv

e 
or

 p
as

siv
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e,

 c
an

 e
nh

an
ce

 th
e 

lo
ng

-t
er

m
 d

ur
ab

ili
ty

 o
f 

th
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s.
 T

hi
s w

ou
ld

 th
en

 le
ad

 to
 

hi
gh

er
 le

ve
ls 

of
 c

on
fid

en
ce

 a
he

ad
 o

f e
ac

h 
FT

A 
tr

ie
nn

ia
l r

ev
ie

w
.  

Fi
na

lly
, e

nh
an

ci
ng

 le
ad

er
sh

ip
 v

isi
bi

lit
y 

ov
er

 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
m

at
te

rs
 c

an
 a

lso
 sh

ed
 n

ew
 li

gh
t o

n 
ch

al
le

ng
es

 fa
ce

d 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

ag
en

cy
. T

hi
s c

an
, i

n 
tu

rn
, 

al
lo

w
 fo

r t
he

 ra
pi

d 
ch

an
ne

lin
g 

of
 re

so
ur

ce
s w

he
n 

an
d 

w
he

re
 n

ee
de

d.
 

su
ch

 a
s H

IP
AA

 (H
ea

lth
 In

su
ra

nc
e 

Po
rt

ab
ili

ty
 a

nd
 

Ac
co

un
ta

bi
lit

y 
Ac

t)
, p

rim
ar

ily
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 
th

e 
pr

iv
ac

y 
of

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s’

 h
ea

lth
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n)
 a

nd
 P

CI
 

(P
ay

m
en

t C
ar

d 
In

du
st

ry
, w

hi
ch

 re
qu

ire
s t

he
 e

ffe
ct

iv
e 

op
er

at
io

n 
of

 c
er

ta
in

 IT
 c

on
tr

ol
s i

nt
en

de
d 

to
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

pr
iv

ac
y 

ov
er

 c
re

di
t c

ar
d 

da
ta

). 

Su
ch

 sy
st

em
s e

xi
st

 in
 th

e 
m

ar
ke

t a
nd

 c
ou

ld
 b

e 
ea

sil
y 

pr
oc

ur
ed

 a
nd

 c
us

to
m

ize
d 

fo
r t

hi
s p

ur
po

se
. C

os
ts

 o
f 

su
ch

 sy
st

em
s r

an
ge

 b
et

w
ee

n 
$2

0,
00

0 
an

d 
$3

0,
00

0,
 

w
hi

ch
 w

ou
ld

 in
cl

ud
e 

al
l c

us
to

m
iza

tio
n 

ef
fo

rt
s a

nd
 u

se
r 

tr
ai

ni
ng

. C
on

sid
er

in
g 

th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l s
av

in
gs

 o
f I

nd
yG

o 
st

af
f h

ou
rs

 o
ve

r t
im

e 
co

m
bi

ne
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t 

of
 th

e 
ag

en
cy

’s
 o

ve
ra

ll 
FT

A 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t, 
re

tu
rn

 o
n 

in
ve

st
m

en
t m

ay
 b

e 
sw

ift
. 

It 
is 

im
po

rt
an

t t
o 

no
te

 th
at

 in
 h

ig
hl

y 
re

gu
la

te
d 

in
du

st
rie

s,
 su

ch
 a

s p
ub

lic
 tr

an
sit

 w
hi

ch
 re

ce
iv

es
 

sig
ni

fic
an

t f
ed

er
al

 g
ra

nt
 fu

nd
in

g,
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
fu

nc
tio

ns
 

of
te

n 
re

ce
iv

e 
a 

sig
ni

fic
an

t i
nt

er
na

l f
oc

us
. T

o 
ill

us
tr

at
e 

w
he

re
 w

e 
re

co
m

m
en

d 
th

at
 In

dy
Go

 d
riv

e 
its

 
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
fu

nc
tio

n,
 w

e 
ha

ve
 in

cl
ud

ed
 a

 M
at

ur
ity

 
M

od
el

 in
 A

pp
en

di
x 

B.
  P

re
se

nt
ly

 In
dy

Go
 a

pp
ea

rs
 to

 b
e 

sit
tin

g 
re

la
tiv

el
y 

lo
w

 o
n 

th
e 

m
at

ur
ity

 c
ur

ve
. W

ith
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 a

 sy
st

em
 li

ke
 w

ha
t w

e 
ar

e 
re

co
m

m
en

di
ng

 w
e 

fe
el

 it
 re

as
on

ab
le

 to
 e

xp
ec

t 
sig

ni
fic

an
t i

te
ra

tiv
e 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t, 

at
 a

 re
la

tiv
el

y 
lo

w
 

co
st

.  

53



 F
TA

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

As
se

ss
m

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

AP
PE

N
DI

X 
A 

– 
RA

TI
N

G
 D

EF
IN

IT
IO

N
S

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

Ra
tin

g 
De

fin
iti

on
s

Ra
tin

g
De

fin
iti

on

Lo
w

Pr
oc

es
s i

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 e
xi

st
 b

ut
 a

re
 n

ot
 a

n 
im

m
ed

ia
te

 p
rio

rit
y 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o.
 T

ak
in

g 
ad

va
nt

ag
e 

of
 

th
es

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 b

es
t 

pr
ac

tic
e 

fo
r I

nd
yG

o.

M
ed

iu
m

Pr
oc

es
s i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s e

xi
st

 to
 h

el
p 

In
dy

Go
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 g
oa

ls,
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 a
nd

 fu
rt

he
r p

ro
te

ct
 it

s 
br

an
d 

or
 p

ub
lic

 p
er

ce
pt

io
n.

 T
hi

s o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 sh
ou

ld
 

be
 c

on
sid

er
ed

 in
 th

e 
ne

ar
 te

rm
.

Hi
gh

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s e
xi

st
 

to
 h

el
p 

In
dy

Go
 m

ee
t o

r i
m

pr
ov

e 
its

 g
oa

ls,
 m

ee
t o

r 
im

pr
ov

e 
its

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 st
ru

ct
ur

e,
 a

nd
 fu

rt
he

r 
pr

ot
ec

t i
ts

 b
ra

nd
 o

r p
ub

lic
 p

er
ce

pt
io

n 
pr

es
en

ts
. T

hi
s 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
im

m
ed

ia
te

ly
.

N
ot

 R
at

ed

O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
is 

no
t c

on
sid

er
ed

 a
 c

on
tr

ol
 

or
 p

ro
ce

ss
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 b
ut

 sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 b
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t o

r t
he

 b
oa

rd
, a

s 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

.

Re
po

rt
 R

at
in

g 
De

fin
iti

on
s

Ra
tin

g
Ex

pl
an

at
io

n

Lo
w

Ad
eq

ua
te

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s a
re

 in
 p

la
ce

 a
nd

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y.
 F

ew
, i

f 
an

y,
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 st
ru

ct
ur

e 
ar

e 
re

qu
ire

d.
O

bs
er

va
tio

n 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

lim
ite

d 
to

 o
nl

y 
lo

w
 ri

sk
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

or
 

m
od

er
at

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

ns
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 n
ot

 p
er

va
siv

e 
in

 n
at

ur
e.

M
ed

iu
m

Ce
rt

ai
n 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s a
re

 e
ith

er
:

1.
N

ot
 in

 p
la

ce
 o

r a
re

 n
ot

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y,
 w

hi
ch

 in
 th

e
ag

gr
eg

at
e,

 re
pr

es
en

t a
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 la
ck

 o
f c

on
tr

ol
 in

 o
ne

 o
r m

or
e 

of
th

e 
ar

ea
s w

ith
in

 th
e 

sc
op

e 
of

 th
e 

re
vi

ew
.

2.
Se

ve
ra

l m
od

er
at

e 
co

nt
ro

l w
ea

kn
es

se
s i

n 
on

e 
pr

oc
es

s,
 o

r a
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
of

 h
ig

h 
an

d 
m

od
er

at
e 

w
ea

kn
es

se
s w

hi
ch

 c
ol

le
ct

iv
el

y
ar

e 
no

t p
er

va
siv

e.

Hi
gh

Fu
nd

am
en

ta
l i

nt
er

na
l c

on
tr

ol
s a

re
 n

ot
 in

 p
la

ce
 o

r o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
fo

r s
ub

st
an

tia
l a

re
as

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
sc

op
e 

of
 th

e 
re

vi
ew

. S
ys

te
m

ic
 b

us
in

es
s 

ris
ks

 e
xi

st
 w

hi
ch

 h
av

e 
th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l t

o 
cr

ea
te

 si
tu

at
io

ns
 th

at
 c

ou
ld

 
sig

ni
fic

an
tly

 im
pa

ct
 th

e 
co

nt
ro

l e
nv

iro
nm

en
t.

1.
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

/s
ev

er
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 w
ea

kn
es

se
s (

br
ea

kd
ow

n)
 in

 th
e 

ov
er

al
l

co
nt

ro
l e

nv
iro

nm
en

t i
n 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 b

us
in

es
s o

r t
he

 p
ro

ce
ss

 b
ei

ng
re

vi
ew

ed
.

2.
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 n
on

-c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 la
w

s a
nd

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
.

3.
Hi

gh
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 p
er

va
siv

e 
in

 n
at

ur
e.

N
ot

 R
at

ed
Ad

eq
ua

te
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

nd
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y.

 N
o 

re
po

rt
ab

le
 o

bs
er

va
tio

ns
 w

er
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
.

54



 F
TA

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

As
se

ss
m

en
t 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

&
 A

ud
it 

Re
po

rt
 

Is
su

ed
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
02

1 

St
ag

e
1:

R
ea

ct
in

g

St
ag

e
2:

An
tic

ip
at

in
g

St
ag

e
3:

C
ol

la
bo

ra
tin

g

St
ag

e
4:

O
rc

he
st

ra
tin

g

So
ur

ce
:A

M
R

Re
se

ar
ch

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

M
at

ur
ity

M
od

el
M

an
ag

in
g

in
U

ni
so

n

Ch
ec

k
th

e
Bo

x/
Pa

ni
c!

Ac
ce

pt
an

ce

Co
or

di
na

tio
n

ac
ro

ss
De

pa
rt

m
en

ts

•
Ju

st
ge

tt
in

g
it

do
ne

•
O

pe
ra

tin
g

in
re

la
tiv

e
iso

la
tio

n
•

G
et

tin
g

re
so

ur
ce

sf
ro

m
w

he
re

ve
ra

va
ila

bl
e,

th
ou

gh
no

te
ve

ry
tim

e
ne

ed
ed

•
Ef

fic
ie

nc
y

•
Se

ei
ng

co
nn

ec
tio

ns
/c

or
re

la
tio

ns
•

Pl
an

ni
ng

fu
tu

re
ap

pr
oa

ch
•

Li
m

ite
d

au
to

m
at

io
n

•
Id

en
tif

yi
ng

an
d

as
se

ss
in

g
ris

ks
•

Pr
io

rit
izi

ng
ac

tio
ns

•
U

sin
g

te
ch

no
lo

gy
fo

rm
ul

tip
le

pu
rp

os
es

•
Ag

en
cy

-w
id

e
ap

pr
ec

ia
tio

n
fo

r
th

e
im

po
rt

an
ce

of
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e

•
Se

tt
in

g
en

te
rp

ris
e

ob
je

ct
iv

es
•

Co
or

di
na

tin
g

an
al

ys
es

an
d

ac
tio

ns
•

Tr
an

sp
ar

en
cy

in
to

ris
k,

ex
po

su
re

an
d

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce

W
he

re
In

dy
G

o’
s

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e

pr
og

ra
m

ap
pe

ar
st

o
re

sid
e

no
wW

he
re

w
e

ex
pe

ct
In

dy
G

o’
sC

om
pl

ia
nc

e
pr

og
ra

m
co

ul
d

re
sid

e
af

te
ra

su
cc

es
sf

ul
te

ch
no

lo
gy

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n

In
th

e
illu

st
ra

tio
n,

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e

fu
nc

tio
ns

m
ov

e
to

w
ar

d
W

or
ld

C
la

ss
as

th
ey

ev
ol

ve
fro

m
St

ag
e

1
to

St
ag

e
4.

M
os

tf
un

ct
io

ns
fa

ll
w

ith
in

St
ag

es
2

an
d

3,
w

ith
on

ly
th

e
hi

gh
es

t
pe

rfo
rm

in
g

fu
nc

tio
ns

fa
llin

g
in

St
ag

e
4.

It
is

re
as

on
ab

le
to

ex
pe

ct
th

at
w

ith
th

e
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n

of
a

sy
st

em
as

de
sc

rib
ed

in
th

is
re

po
rt,

gi
ve

n
th

e
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t
ot

he
rw

is
e

in
pl

ac
e,

th
at

In
dy

G
o

ca
n

m
ov

e
in

to
St

ag
e

3
ov

er
th

e
ne

xt
12

-1
8

m
on

th
s.

AP
PE

N
DI

X 
B 

– 
M

AT
U

RI
TY

 M
O

DE
L

55



  BOARD MINUTES 
  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  Thursday, December 3, 2020 

 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM A – 1 
 
 

INDIANAPOLIS PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION CORPORATION 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

MINUTES 
 

Thursday, December 3, 2020 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

The Board of Directors Meeting of the Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation (IPTC) was called to order by 
Chairman Greg Hahn at 5:02pm, Thursday, December 3, 2020. Pursuant to Executive Order 20-09 relating to the 
continuity of operations of Government issued by Governor Eric Holcomb subsequent to Executive Order 20-02, 
which declared that a public health disaster emergency exists in the State of Indiana as a result of the Coronavirus 
disease “COVID-19”, this meeting was held both remotely and in person, with four (4) Board Members attending 
remotely via Zoom and one (1) Board Member attending in person. 
 

1.1  ROLL CALL 
 

Attendee Name Title Status 
Greg Hahn Chair Present 
Adairius Gardner Vice Chair Present 
Mark Fisher Secretary Present 
Richard Wilson Treasurer Present (In Person) 
Vacant Board Member N/A 
Lise Pace Board Member Present 
Vacant Board Member N/A 

A quorum was present.  
 

2. AWARDS AND COMMENDATION 
 
President/CEO Inez Evans presented the awards and commendations. Recognized were safe drivers for October 
2020, one (1) driver for 23 years of safe driving, one (1) driver for 41 years of safe driving, October Operator 
Employee of the Month, October Garage Employee of the Month, one (1) employee for 35 years of service, one 
(1) employee retirement with 32 years of service, and out-going Board Member, Tommie Jones. 

 
3. COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSON REPORTS 

 
3.1. Service Committee – Service Committee Chairperson Adairius Gardner 
3.2. Finance Committee – Finance Committee Chairperson Richard Wilson 

56



  BOARD MINUTES 
  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  Thursday, December 3, 2020 

 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Upon staff recommendation, motion for consent approval by Chairman Greg Hahn for Agenda Item A-1, A-5, A-
6, A-7, A-8, & A-9 are as follows: 

 
AGENDA ACTION ITEM A – 1:  Consideration and Approval of Minutes from Board Meeting 

held on October 22, 2020 
 

AGENDA ACTION ITEM A – 5: Consideration and Approval of Contract Extension for Bus Shelters, 
Maintenance Repairs and Cleaning 

 

AGENDA ACTION ITEM A – 6: Consideration and Approval of RFP 20-08-362, Service Uniforms 
 

AGENDA ACTION ITEM A – 7: Consideration and Approval of AX 2012 Functional Support 
 

AGENDA ACTION ITEM A – 8: Consideration and Approval of VoIP Services 
 

AGENDA ACTION ITEM A – 9: Consideration and Approval of Employee Intranet 
 

RESULT: Accepted - Agenda Item A-1, A-5, A-6, A-7, A-8, & A-9 
MOVER: Greg Hahn 
SECONDER: Mark Fisher 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

5. REGULAR AGENDA 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 2 – Consideration and Approval of Board of Directors’ Meeting Dates for 2021 
 

President/CEO Inez Evans presented Action Item A-2 to the Board of Directors to approve the 2021 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Dates. The Board will meet on the 4th Thursday of each month at 5pm, with 
the exception of November and December. Due to the holiday season, there will be no meeting in 
November, and the December meeting will be held on Thursday, December 9th, 2021. The Finance 
Committee and Service Committee will meet at 8:30am and 10:30am, respectively, on the Thursday 
before the board meetings. 

 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 2 – Approval of Board of Directors’ Meeting Dates for 2021 
MOVER: Greg Hahn 
SECONDER: Lise Pace 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 3 – Consideration and Approval of Purchase of Replacement Paratransit Vehicles 
 

Senior Director, Mobility Solution Michael Roth presented Action Item A-3 to the Board of Directors to 
approve Purchase of Replacement Paratransit Vehicles. The ADA requires public transportation 

57



  BOARD MINUTES 
  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  Thursday, December 3, 2020 

 

companies operating fixed route transportation systems to provide comparable paratransit services to 
people with disabilities. Open Door Paratransit Operation serves riders who qualify for this service due 
to a disability or a disabling health condition which would prevent them from regular use of the fixed-
route system. The useful life for the vehicles being replaced will expire the first quarter of 2021. 
 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 3 – Approval of Purchase of Replacement Paratransit 

Vehicles 
MOVER: Adairius Gardner 
SECONDER: Greg Hahn 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 4 – Consideration and Approval of Procurement – Red Line Route Extension Vehicles 
 

Senior Director, Mobility Solution Michael Roth presented Action Item A-4 to the Board of Directors to 
approve Replacement – Red Line Route Extension Vehicles. The Red Line route was designed to serve 
Westfield to Greenwood. The first phase built was Broad Ripple to University of Indianapolis and the 
majority of the local service was reallocated to serve other areas. With the Red Line phase one (1) there 
would be gaps in service to the County Line north and south. To address this “local route extensions” 
were added to the Red Line. 
 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 4 – Approval of Replacement – Red Line Route Extension 

Vehicles 
MOVER: Greg Hahn 
SECONDER: Lise Pace 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 10 – Consideration and Approval of Bus Camera Replacement Contract 
 

Chief Information Officer Marcus Burnside presented Action Item A-10 to the Board of Directors to 
approve Bus Camera Replacement Contract. Pursuant to the Transportation Security Administration 
(TSA) guidance, a robust, resilient and effective motor coach security plan requires clearly defined threat 
mitigation, prevention, protection, response and recovery goals designed to reduce risk. Chief among 
these goals is the ability to deter or defeat a range of existing and emerging threats to transportation 
security. 

 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 10 – Approval of Bus Camera Replacement Contract 
MOVER: Mark Fisher 
SECONDER: Adairius Gardner 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 

58



  BOARD MINUTES 
  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  Thursday, December 3, 2020 

 

 ACTION ITEM A – 11 – Consideration and Approval of Adoption of Updated IndyGo Capital Plan 
 

Director of Strategic Planning Brooke Thomas presented Action Item A-11 to the Board of Directors to 
approve Adoption of Updated IndyGo Capital Plan. IndyGo’s 5-year Capital Plan serves as a roadmap to 
implementing the Transit Plan. It provides a forecast of planned capital revenue and expenditures based 
on currently available information. IndyGo maintains this plan by revisiting its assumptions and 
projections as capital projects are implemented, recognizing when revenue is realized, and/or inserting 
additional information as it becomes available. 
 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 11 – Approval of Adoption of Updated IndyGo Capital Plan 
MOVER: Lise Pace 
SECONDER: Adairius Gardner 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 12 – Consideration and Approval of Agreement between IPTC and the City of Lawrence for 
Relocating Utilities to Accommodate the Purple Line 

 
Vice President of Infrastructure, Strategy, and Innovation Jennifer Pyrz presented Action Item A-12 to 
the Board of Directors to approve Agreement between IPTC and the City of Lawrence for Relocating 
Utilities to Accommodate the Purple Line. The Purple Line project will involve improvements to Post 
Road within the limits of the City of Lawrence. Those improvements will, in some cases, require the 
relocation of public utilities. 
 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 12 – Approval of Agreement between IPTC and the City of 

Lawrence for Relocating Utilities to Accommodate the Purple Line 
MOVER: Greg Hahn 
SECONDER: Lise Pace 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 13 – Consideration and Approval of Resolution 2020-19 – Transfer in Appropriations and 
Carry Forward of Outstanding Encumbrances for FY2020 
 

Vice President of Finance Bart Brown presented Action Item A-13 to the Board of Directors to approve 
Resolution 2020-19 – Transfer in Appropriations and Carry Forward of Outstanding Encumbrances for 
FY2020. As part of the year-end review process, IPTC requests to allow for a transfer in Appropriations 
between the Main Expenditure Categories to fiscal year 2020’s Operating Budget. 
 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 13 – Approval of Resolution 2020-19 – Transfer in 

Appropriations and Carry Forward of Outstanding Encumbrances for FY2020 
MOVER: Greg Hahn 
SECONDER: Mark Fisher 

59



  BOARD MINUTES 
  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  Thursday, December 3, 2020 

 

AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 14 – Consideration and Approval of New Indianapolis Public Transportation Foundation 
(IPTF) Board Member 

 
General Counsel Jill Russel presented Action Item A-14 to the Board of Directors to approve New 
Indianapolis Public Transportation Foundation (IPTF) Board Member. The IPTF board seeks to fill a 
vacant Board position. The member that was presented for consideration and approval was Mike 
Lennox, Executive Director of Play Ball Indiana. 

 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 14 – Approval of New Indianapolis Public Transportation 

Foundation (IPTF) Board Member 
MOVER: Adairius Gardner 
SECONDER: Greg Hahn 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

 ACTION ITEM A – 15 – Consideration and Approval of Resolution 2020-20 Authorizing Free Rides for Canned 
Food Donation, Christmas Day, and New Year’s Eve 

 
Senior Director, Mobility Solutions Michael Roth presented Action Item A-15 to the Board of Directors to 
approve Resolution 2020-20 Authorizing Free Rides for Canned Food Donation, Christmas Day, and New 
Year’s Eve. IndyGo has partnered with Midwest Food Bank – Indiana division, to allow our riders to join 
us in supporting our community this holiday season by donating a canned good or non-perishable item 
good for (one) 1 free-ride on fixed routes on December 15th, 2020 from 5:00am to 1:30 a.m. on 
December 16th, 2020. In addition, IPTC will be offering free rides on December 25th (Christmas Day) and 
on December 31st (New Year’s Eve) from 8 p.m. to 1:30 a.m. on January 1st, 2021 on fixed route and 
open door. 
 
RESULT: Accepted – Action Item A – 15 – Approval of Resolution 2020-20 Authorizing Free Rides 

for Canned Food Donation, Christmas Day, and New Year’s Eve 
MOVER: Mark Fisher 
SECONDER: Adairius Gardner 
AYES: Adairius Gardner, Lise Pace, Greg Hahn, Mark Fisher 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 

 
6. INFORMATION ITEMS 

 
I – 1 Mobility Advisory Committee (MAC) Update 

MAC Member presented this item. 
 

60



  BOARD MINUTES 
  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  Thursday, December 3, 2020 

 

 
I – 2 Consideration of Receipt of Finance Report for October 2020 

Chief Financial Officer Bart Brown presented this information item.  
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
 

On order of Richard Wilson, and there being no objection, the meeting was adjourned at 6:04pm. 
 
 
      ________________________________ 

         
Jill D. Russell 

        General Counsel

61



Minutes generated by OnBoard.  

Special Board of Director's Meeting Minutes 
IndyGo 
Jan 19, 2021 at 11:00 AM EST 
@ Virtual 

 
Attendance 
Members Present (Remote): 
Bart Brown, Charlie Carlino, Inez Evans, Mark Fisher, Adairius Gardner, Greg Hahn, Lise Pace, Jill Russell, 
Richard Wilson 

1. Call to Order (Presenters: Jill Russell) 

 board cover_2021_jan19.docx 

 A AGENDA for January 19, 2021 Board Meeting.docx 

The January Special Board Meeting was called to order by Vice Chairman Gardner at 11:06am. General 
Counsel Jill Russell called the roll. All members were present remotely. 

2. Agenda  

1. Consideration and Approval of Resolution 2021-01 Authorizing Real Estate Acquisition of 412 N. 
Tremont Street (Presenters: Jill Russell) 

 Action Item 412 N Tremont.docx 

 Resolution 412 N. Tremont.docx 

 Exhibit A 412 N Tremont.pdf 

In September of last year, the Board authorized the purchase of 2425 W. Michigan Street as the 
future location of IPTC’s paratransit services. While 2425 W. Michigan provided many of the 
needed elements for IPTC’s paratransit operation and fleet storage, it lacked the space to 
construct a garage that would allow IPTC to store paratransit vehicles inside when not in use. 
The adjacent empty lot located at 412 N. Tremont was identified as a potential site that would 
provide the space needed to construct such a facility. The location would also provide 
additional access of the paratransit fleet to 2425 W. Michigan, minimizing congestion on the 
surrounding streets and neighborhood. 

Motion: 
Approval of Resolution 2021-01 Authorizing Real Estate Acquisition of 412 N. Tremont Street 
 
Motion moved by Richard Wilson and motion seconded by Mark Fisher. Motion Passed 5-0 

3. Adjournment  

On order of Vice Chair Gardner the meeting was adjourned at 11:16am. 

62

https://www.passageways.com/
https://onboard.passageways.com/b600c8c2217e484c834606fe28b48455-101/meetingDetail/fbfa213177634aff8396d04953d14f16-101
https://onboard.passageways.com/b600c8c2217e484c834606fe28b48455-101/meetingBook/fbfa213177634aff8396d04953d14f16-101?page=1
https://onboard.passageways.com/b600c8c2217e484c834606fe28b48455-101/meetingBook/fbfa213177634aff8396d04953d14f16-101?page=2
https://onboard.passageways.com/b600c8c2217e484c834606fe28b48455-101/meetingBook/fbfa213177634aff8396d04953d14f16-101?page=3
https://onboard.passageways.com/b600c8c2217e484c834606fe28b48455-101/meetingBook/fbfa213177634aff8396d04953d14f16-101?page=5
https://onboard.passageways.com/b600c8c2217e484c834606fe28b48455-101/meetingBook/fbfa213177634aff8396d04953d14f16-101?page=7


Date:   January 20, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting:  January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Senior Director of Capital Assets and Facility Management LaTeeka Washington 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Ft Wayne Conversion Design & Construction Services - Lochmueller 
Group 

 
  

ACTION ITEM A – 2 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
In a manner consistent with IPTC procurement and contract award standards, we request that the Board authorize the 
President/CEO to issue a Task Order under Lochmueller Group, Inc.’s existing On-Call Architectural & Engineering 
(A&E) Services contracts for the design of converting Fort Wayne Avenue from one-way to a two-way operation for an 
amount not to exceed $131,774, as a collaboration with Indianapolis Department of Public Works. The 
conversion will enable two-way traffic on Fort Wayne Avenue between Pennsylvania Street and Delaware 
Street, extending by one block the conversion of Fort Wayne Avenue that is being done as part of the Super Stops 
project. Costs for design will be reimbursed to IPTC by the Indianapolis Department of Public Works per an amendment 
to the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement by and Between IPTC and the Consolidated City of Indianapolis, Marion County 
by and through its Department of Public Works for Implementation of the Marion County Transit Plan (ICA) that was 
approved at the October 2020 Board meeting.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In June 2020, the Board approved an IPTC contract for On-Call A&E Services to Lochmueller Group, Inc. This will be the 
first task order assigned under this new contract. It was presented in December to the Board as an Informational Item 
with a limited Notice to Proceed of a not to exceed amount of $75,000, to meet the DPW deadline for procuring 
contractors. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Indianapolis Department of Public Works (DPW), in partnership with IPTC, will be re-constructing Delaware 
Street, constructing Super-Stops (Delaware Street only), and converting Fort Wayne Avenue to two-way 
operation between Delaware Street and Alabama Street. For the sake of lane continuity and consistency, Indianapolis 
DPW found it beneficial to additionally resurface and convert Fort Wayne Avenue from Delaware Street to its terminus 
at Pennsylvania Street. DPW has asked IPTC to engage in the design of the project, with DPW reimbursing IPTC for the 
design costs. DPW will own the Project after the design stage and will procure, fund and manage its construction.   
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 
The Board could choose not to engage Lochmueller Group in this task order. However, the impacts of not moving 
forward include potential delay to or cancellation of the project, resulting in an inconsistent and potentially confusing 
lane configuration on this downtown street.    
 
 

63



FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The project is funded by local funds and will be reimbursed to IPTC by DPW.   
 
DBE DECLARATION: 
 
Lochmueller has committed to using DBE firms under their existing A&E contract.  
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was reviewed by the Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Regular Agenda.   

64



Date:   January 26, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting:  January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Senior Director of Capital Assets and Facility Management LaTeeka Washington 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of IndyGo East Campus (former Celadon Property) Design – Woolpert 
 
  

ACTION ITEM A – 3 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
In a manner consistent with IPTC procurement and contract award standards, we request that the Board authorize 
President/CEO Inez Evans to issue a Task Order for Phase 4 – “A” Building Administration Design and Construction 
Services for the property at 9503 E. 33rd Street to Woolpert for an amount not to exceed $260,000. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
With the purchase of the property at 9503 E. 33rd Street, IPTC requires architectural and engineering support to prepare 
the buildings to meet IPTC’s needs. The work to be conducted includes adding an elevator and bus garage, designing 
traffic flow, demolishing existing structures that are not needed, and making interior modifications to the buildings. 
  
The property at 9503 E. 33rd Street (previously Celadon) is over 11 acres, with five (5) existing structures. The “A” 
building was Celadon’s Administration/Headquarters. The “B” Building was Training and Meeting Space. The “C” Building 
was their Lounge/Service Center and had a separate space with dorms (2-stories) and trailers.  
 
The work will be completed in four (4) Phases:  

 Phase 1 – “B” Building Interior Renovations and Elevator Design 
 Phase 2 – “C” Building Demolition (dorms and trailers only), Garage/Maintenance Facility Design and Site Plan 
 Phase 3 – “C” Building Interior Renovations (office portion) 
 Phase 4 – “A” Building Interior Renovations 

 
The “A” and “B” buildings will require some interior modifications to suit IPTC’s office and conference room needs but 
are generally ready to occupy. An elevator will need to be installed in the “B” building before we can use its second 
floor. A portion of the "C” building (dorms and trailers) is currently planned to be demolished to accommodate a new 
bus garage and maintenance area.  
  
The Task Order under consideration is for Phase 4, which will make interior modifications to the “A” Building to better 
accommodate IPTC’s space needs. Phases 2, 3 and 4 will be presented at the February Board meeting.  
 
 
 
 

65



DISCUSSION: 
 
In June 2020, the Board approved IPTC contracts for On-Call Architectural & Engineering Services to three design teams 
for facility projects. All three of these teams were invited on a walk-through of the buildings and participated in a 
question-and-answer period. Each then had an opportunity to submit their qualifications to conduct each phase of work.  
The IPTC team reviewed and scored each team’s qualifications statements based on their stated project approach, team 
structure and previous related project experience. With the amount of work that needs to be completed and the desire 
to open the facility for use as soon as possible, the use of multiple design teams will ensure no team is overburdened 
and will enable our consultants to complete and maintain the tight project schedules. 
 
Building “A” scope includes renovations of the Administration building, including enclosing the front desk for security 
and safety, creating a human resources (HR) customer service area, creating additional offices and meeting spaces, 
reconfiguring cubicles, creating a payroll customer service area and making other minor upgrades. The “A” Building will 
be the home of Security, HR, Information Technology (IT), Finance (Procurement, Budgets, Accounting, Payroll), Legal, 
Capital Projects and Planning, Government Audit, and the President/Chief Executive Officer. 
 
Cleaning, furniture decommissioning, new furniture, and signage will be additional and separate procurements for the 
site. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 
The Board could choose not to issue this task order as recommended. This would result in plans for Building “A” 
modifications needing to be modified or eliminated. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The project is funded by local funds.   
 
DBE DECLARATION: 
 
Woolpert has committed to using DBE firms under their existing A&E contract.  
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was reviewed by the Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Regular Agenda.

66



Fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
U

p
d

at
e

67



•
A

 c
ri

ti
ca

l n
ee

d
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 fo

r 
ex

p
an

d
ed

fa
ci

lit
ie

s:

•
B

u
s 

ga
ra

ge
 a

n
d

 m
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 a

re
a 

at
 c

ap
ac

it
y

•
Tr

ai
n

in
g 

d
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

is
 c

u
rr

en
tl

y 
h

o
u

se
d

 o
ff

-s
it

e

•
N

o
 P

ar
at

ra
n

si
t 

O
p

er
at

io
n

s 
fa

ci
lit

y

•
Em

er
gi

n
g 

b
es

t 
p

ra
ct

ic
es

 f
o

r 
o

ff
ic

e 
sp

ac
in

g

B
a

c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

68



B
u

s
 S

to
ra

g
e

 N
e

e
d

s

C
u

rr
e

n
t

2
0

2
3

 
(+

P
u

rp
le

 +
M

C
TP

)
20

25
 

(+
B

lu
e

 +
M

C
TP

)

To
ta

l F
u

ll 
Fl

ee
t 

(A
ct

iv
e 

+ 
Tr

ai
n

in
g)

22
4

2
5

6
28

6

M
ax

. V
eh

ic
le

 S
to

ra
ge

 C
ap

ac
it

y 
at

 
1

5
0

1
 (

W
es

t 
C

am
p

u
s)

16
3

1
5

5
14

3

V
e

h
ic

le
s 

to
 s

to
re

 a
t 

Ea
st

 C
am

p
u

s
61

1
0

1
14

3

*
V

eh
ic

le
 n

ee
d

s 
b

as
ed

 o
n

 2
0

2
0

 C
ap

it
al

 P
la

n

69



•
Im

p
ac

ts
 o

u
r 

cu
rr

en
t 

o
p

er
at

io
n

s

•
H

in
d

er
s 

o
u

r 
ab

ili
ty

 t
o

 o
p

er
at

e
sa

fe
ly

 a
n

d
 e

xp
an

d

•
B

eg
an

 s
ea

rc
h

 fo
r 

ad
d

it
io

n
al

sp
ac

e 
la

st
 s

p
ri

n
g

•
In

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 2
0

2
0

, 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
vo

te
d

 t
o

 a
p

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e 

p
u

rc
h

as
e

o
f 

p
ro

p
er

ty
 a

t:

•
95

03
 E

. 3
3r

d
 S

tr
ee

t

•
24

25
 W

. M
ic

h
ig

an
 S

tr
ee

t

B
a

c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

70



•
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

O
ff

ic
es

 in
cl

u
d

in
g:

•
P

re
si

d
en

t/
C

EO

•
Fi

n
an

ce

•
Le

ga
l

•
IT

•
C

ap
it

al
 P

ro
je

ct
s 

&
 P

la
n

n
in

g

•
G

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 &

 A
u

d
it

•
H

R

•
Tr

ai
n

in
g

•
P

u
b

lic
 A

ff
ai

rs

•
Se

rv
ic

es
 C

en
te

r

•
D

is
p

at
ch

•
O

p
er

at
o

r 
Lo

u
n

ge

•
C

lin
ic

•
B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e

•
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 b
ay

s

•
B

o
ar

d
 R

o
o

m
 /

 P
u

b
lic

 M
ee

ti
n

g
sp

ac
e

•
Pu

rp
le

 L
in

e 
Fi

el
d

 O
ff

ic
e

Th
e 

b
u

ild
in

g(
s)

 a
t 

9
5

0
3

 E
. 3

3
rd

 S
tr

ee
t w

ill
 b

ec
o

m
e 

th
e 

n
ew

 
In

d
yG

o
H

ea
d

q
u

ar
te

rs
 –

Ea
st

 C
a

m
p

u
s.

 It
 w

ill
 b

e 
h

o
m

e 
to

:

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g

71



Th
e 

b
u

ild
in

g 
at

 2
42

5 
W

. 
M

ic
h

ig
an

 S
tr

ee
t 

w
ill

 b
e 

h
o

m
e 

to
 t

h
e 

M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

 
C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
e

n
te

r,
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g:

•
M

o
b

ili
ty

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

ff
ic

es

•
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
C

en
te

r

•
Pa

ra
tr

an
si

t 
V

eh
ic

le
 S

to
ra

ge

•
Pa

ra
tr

an
si

t 
V

eh
ic

le
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g

72



Th
e 

cu
rr

en
t I

n
d

yG
o

 H
Q

 (1
50

1 
W

. W
as

h
in

gt
o

n
 S

t)
 w

ill
 

b
ec

o
m

e 
In

d
yG

o
–

W
es

t 
C

a
m

p
u

s
an

d
 w

ill
 r

em
ai

n
 h

o
m

e 
to

:

•
B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e

•
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 F
ac

ili
ty

•
A

ll 
El

ec
tr

ic
-V

eh
ic

le
 C

h
ar

gi
n

g 
Eq

u
ip

m
en

t 
an

d
 F

le
et

•
Pa

rt
s 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

•
B

o
d

y 
W

o
rk

•
Pa

in
t 

B
o

o
th

•
O

p
er

at
io

n
s 

te
am

 o
ff

ic
es

•
B

lu
e 

Li
n

e 
Fi

el
d

 O
ff

ic
e 

(d
u

ri
n

g 
co

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

)

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g

73



W
h

a
t’
s 

N
e

x
t 

•
P

re
p

ar
e 

fo
r 

n
ew

 u
se

s 
an

d
o

cc
u

p
an

ts

•
Th

re
e

 O
n

-C
al

l A
&

E
C

o
n

su
lt

an
ts

 a
lr

ea
d

y
u

n
d

er
 c

o
n

tr
ac

t

•
D

ev
el

o
p

in
g 

sc
o

p
e 

an
d

 f
ee

p
ro

p
o

sa
ls

 f
o

r 
d

es
ig

n

•
Ta

sk
 O

rd
er

s 
to

 B
o

ar
d

 o
ve

r
n

ex
t 

se
ve

ra
l m

o
n

th
s

74



•
Fo

r 
to

n
ig

h
t,

 T
as

k 
O

rd
er

s 
fo

r:

1
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

“A
” 

B
u

ild
in

g 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 o
n

 E
as

t
C

am
p

u
s

2
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

P
h

as
e 

1 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

(A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
A

re
a)

 fo
r 

th
e 

M
o

b
ili

ty
So

lu
ti

o
n

s 
an

d
 C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
en

te
r

W
h

a
t’
s 

N
e

x
t 

75



Ea
st

 C
am

p
u

s 
D

es
ig

n
 P

h
as

es
 

an
d

 S
ce

n
ar

io
s

76



•
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

O
ff

ic
es

 in
cl

u
d

in
g:

•
P

re
si

d
en

t/
C

EO

•
Fi

n
an

ce
•

Le
ga

l

•
IT

•
C

ap
it

al
 P

ro
je

ct
s 

&
 P

la
n

n
in

g

•
G

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 &

 A
u

d
it

•
H

R

•
Tr

ai
n

in
g

•
P

u
b

lic
 A

ff
ai

rs

•
Se

rv
ic

es
 C

en
te

r

•
D

is
p

at
ch

•
O

p
er

at
o

r 
Lo

u
n

ge

•
C

lin
ic

•
B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e

•
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 b
ay

s

•
B

o
ar

d
 R

o
o

m
 /

 P
u

b
lic

 M
ee

ti
n

g 
sp

ac
e

•
P

u
rp

le
 L

in
e 

Fi
el

d
 O

ff
ic

e

E
a

s
t 
C

a
m

p
u

s

77



Fo
rm

er
 

C
el

ad
o

n
p

ro
p

er
ty

95
03

 E
. 3

3rd

St
.

78



79



•
“A

”
B

u
ild

in
g:

In
te

ri
o

r
m

o
d

if
ic

at
io

n
s 

to
ac

co
m

m
o

d
at

e
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
o

ff
ic

es
,

co
n

fe
re

n
ce

 r
o

o
m

s,
 e

tc

•
“B

”
B

u
ild

in
g:

N
ew

el
ev

at
o

r
an

d
 in

te
ri

o
r

m
o

d
if

ic
at

io
n

s 
to

ac
co

m
m

o
d

at
e 

tr
ai

n
in

g
sp

ac
es

, 
p

u
b

lic
m

ee
ti

n
g

sp
ac

e,
 p

u
b

lic
 a

ff
ai

rs
o

ff
ic

es
, 

an
d

m
ed

ia
 r

o
o

m

E
a

s
t 
C

a
m

p
u

s 
L

a
yo

u
t 

B
a

s
e

 S
c

o
p

e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

 (
A

ll 
S

c
e

n
a
ri

o
s)

80



E
a

s
t 
C

a
m

p
u

s 
L

a
y
o

u
t 

S
c

e
n

a
ri

o
 1

S
c

o
p

e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

B
as

e
 S

co
p

e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

 P
LU

S…

•
“C

”B
u

ild
in

g 
-

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s:

In
te

ri
o

r 
m

o
d

if
ic

at
io

n
s 

to
 c

re
at

e
Se

rv
ic

es
 C

en
te

r, 
D

is
p

at
ch

,
Lo

u
n

ge
, 

C
lin

ic

•
“C

”
B

u
ild

in
g 

–
D

o
rm

s:
D

em
o

lis
h

 d
o

rm
s 

&
 c

o
n

st
ru

ct
b

u
s 

st
o

ra
ge

/g
ar

ag
e

•
Tr

ai
le

rs
:

D
em

o
lis

h

•
Ex

te
ri

o
r:

 M
in

o
r 

p
ar

ki
n

g 
an

d
tr

af
fi

c 
fl

o
w

 c
h

an
ge

s,
 c

re
at

e
fi

xe
d

ro
u

te
d

ri
vi

n
g 

co
u

rs
e

Sc
en

ar
io

 1
 D

ri
vi

n
g 

C
o

u
rs

e 
Lo

ca
ti

o
n

Sc
en

ar
io

1 
N

ew
 B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e/

St
o

ra
ge

81



E
a

s
t

C
a

m
p

u
s 

L
a

y
o

u
t 

S
c

e
n

a
ri
o

 2
S

c
o

p
e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

B
as

e
 S

co
p

e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

 P
LU

S…

•
“C

” 
B

u
il

d
in

g
-

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

D
o

rm
s:

le
av

e 
in

 e
xi

st
in

g
co

n
d

it
io

n

•
Tr

ai
le

rs
: R

ep
la

ce
 fo

r 
cl

in
ic

lo
ca

ti
o

n

•
Ex

te
ri

o
r:

 C
re

at
e 

fi
xe

d
ro

u
te

d
ri

vi
n

g 
co

u
rs

e
o

n
 s

o
u

th
 e

n
d

 o
f

p
ro

p
er

ty

•
P

u
rc

h
as

e
 F

in
is

h
 L

in
e

 p
ro

p
e

rt
y 

(5
ac

re
s)

: A
cq

u
ir

e 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 a
n

d
co

n
st

ru
ct

 b
u

s 
st

o
ra

ge
/g

ar
ag

e
an

d
o

p
er

at
io

n
s

ce
n

te
r

Sc
en

a
ri

o
2

 D
ri

vi
n

g 
C

o
u

rs
e 

Lo
ca

ti
o

n

Sc
en

ar
io

2
 N

ew
 G

ar
ag

e 
/ 

O
p

s 
C

en
te

r 
Lo

ca
ti

o
n

82



E
a

s
t 
C

a
m

p
u

s
 L

a
yo

u
t 

S
c

e
n

a
ri
o

 3
S

c
o

p
e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

B
as

e
 S

co
p

e
 o

f 
W

o
rk

 P
LU

S…

•
“C

”
B

u
il

d
in

g
–

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s:

In
te

ri
o

r 
m

o
d

if
ic

at
io

n
s 

to
 c

re
at

e
Se

rv
ic

e 
C

en
te

r,
 D

is
p

at
ch

, L
o

u
n

ge

•
“C

” 
B

u
il

d
in

g 
-

D
o

rm
s:

 D
em

o
lis

h
d

o
rm

s

•
Tr

ai
le

rs
: D

em
o

lis
h

•
Ex

te
ri

o
r:

 C
o

n
st

ru
ct

 g
ar

ag
e

an
d

ex
p

an
d

b
u

s 
st

o
ra

ge
in

 a
re

as
so

u
th

 a
n

d
 e

as
t 

o
f 

b
u

ild
in

gs

*N
o

 f
ix

e
d

ro
u

te
d

ri
vi

n
g 

co
u

rs
e

Sc
en

ar
io

3 
B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e/

St
o

ra
ge

N
o

 D
ri

vi
n

g 
C

o
u

rs
e

83



•
Fo

r 
to

n
ig

h
t,

 T
as

k 
O

rd
er

s 
fo

r:

1
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

“A
” 

B
u

ild
in

g 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 o
n

 E
as

t
C

am
p

u
s

2
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

P
h

as
e 

1 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

(A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
A

re
a)

 fo
r 

th
e 

M
o

b
ili

ty
So

lu
ti

o
n

s 
an

d
 C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
en

te
r

W
h

a
t’
s 

N
e

x
t 

84



Q
u

es
ti

o
n

s 
w

e 
ca

n
 a

n
sw

er
 f

o
r 

yo
u

?

85



Date: January 26, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Senior Director of Capital Assets and Facility Management LaTeeka Washington 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Mobility Solutions and Customer Care Center Design – The Etica Group 

ACTION ITEM A – 4 

RECOMMENDATION: 

In a manner consistent with IPTC procurement and contract award standards, we request that the Board authorize 
President/CEO Inez Evans to issue a Task Order for Phase 1 – Administration Area Design and Construction Services for 
the property at 2425 West Michigan Street to The Etica Group for an amount not to exceed $90,000. 

BACKGROUND: 

With the purchase of the property at 2425 West Michigan Street, IPTC requires architectural and engineering support to 
prepare the buildings to meet IPTC’s needs. The work to be conducted includes adding a lift and fire sprinkler system, 
upgrading the water line, adding bus storage, designing traffic flow, creating an assessment center and maintenance 
area, and making minor interior modifications to the buildings.   

The property is being prepared to accommodate IPTC Mobility Solutions and Customer Care Center, including space for 
vendors supporting Mobility Services operations and vehicle storage. The total property area is 104,160 square feet with 
41 parking spaces. The building is 8,556 square feet. 

DISCUSSION: 

In June 2020, the Board approved IPTC contracts for On-Call Architectural & Engineering Services to three design teams 
for facility projects. All three of these teams were invited on a walk-through of the building and participated in a 
question-and-answer period. Each then had an opportunity to submit their qualifications to conduct each phase of work. 

The IPTC team reviewed and scored each team’s qualifications statements based on their stated project approach, team 
structure and previous related project experience. With the amount of work that needs to be completed and the desire 
to open the facility for use as soon as possible, the use of multiple design teams will ensure no team is overburdened 
and will enable our consultants to complete and maintain the tight project schedules. 

There are three (3) phases of work planned to prepare this facility to function as required: 

 Phase 1 – Administration Area. This phase will include the water line upgrade to accommodate all future build-
out, installation of the fire sprinkler system, installation of a lift and minor retrofitting.

 Phase 2 – Assessment Center & Maintenance Garage.
 Phase 3 – Bus Storage & Site work.

86



Design work for Phases 2 and 3 is still in negotiation and will be presented at the February or March 2021 Board 
Meeting. Phase 3 is contingent on the purchase of the adjacent property west of 2425 W. Michigan Street, which was 
presented at the January Special Board Meeting.  

Cleaning, furniture decommissioning, new furniture, and signage will be additional and separate procurements for the 
site. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

The Board could choose not to issue this task order as recommended. However, the building at 2425 West Michigan 
Street cannot be used for its intended purpose without these modifications. The lift, sprinkler system, and water line 
upgrade, especially, must be completed prior to move in. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The project is funded by local funds. 

DBE DECLARATION: 

The Etica Group has committed to using DBE firms under their existing A&E contract. The Etica Group is a woman owned 
business (WBE). 

STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 

This action was reviewed by the Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Regular Agenda.

87



Fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
U

p
d

at
e

88



•
A

 c
ri

ti
ca

l n
ee

d
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 fo

r 
ex

p
an

d
ed

fa
ci

lit
ie

s:

•
B

u
s 

ga
ra

ge
 a

n
d

 m
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 a

re
a 

at
 c

ap
ac

it
y

•
Tr

ai
n

in
g 

d
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

is
 c

u
rr

en
tl

y 
h

o
u

se
d

 o
ff

-s
it

e

•
N

o
 P

ar
at

ra
n

si
t 

O
p

er
at

io
n

s 
fa

ci
lit

y

•
Em

er
gi

n
g 

b
es

t 
p

ra
ct

ic
es

 f
o

r 
o

ff
ic

e 
sp

ac
in

g

B
a

c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

89



B
u

s
 S

to
ra

g
e

 N
e

e
d

s

C
u

rr
e

n
t

2
0

2
3

 
(+

P
u

rp
le

 +
M

C
TP

)
20

25
 

(+
B

lu
e

 +
M

C
TP

)

To
ta

l F
u

ll 
Fl

ee
t 

(A
ct

iv
e 

+ 
Tr

ai
n

in
g)

22
4

2
5

6
28

6

M
ax

. V
eh

ic
le

 S
to

ra
ge

 C
ap

ac
it

y 
at

 
1

5
0

1
 (

W
es

t 
C

am
p

u
s)

16
3

1
5

5
14

3

V
e

h
ic

le
s 

to
 s

to
re

 a
t 

Ea
st

 C
am

p
u

s
61

1
0

1
14

3

*
V

eh
ic

le
 n

ee
d

s 
b

as
ed

 o
n

 2
0

2
0

 C
ap

it
al

 P
la

n

90



•
Im

p
ac

ts
 o

u
r 

cu
rr

en
t 

o
p

er
at

io
n

s

•
H

in
d

er
s 

o
u

r 
ab

ili
ty

 t
o

 o
p

er
at

e
sa

fe
ly

 a
n

d
 e

xp
an

d

•
B

eg
an

 s
ea

rc
h

 fo
r 

ad
d

it
io

n
al

sp
ac

e 
la

st
 s

p
ri

n
g

•
In

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 2
0

2
0

, 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
vo

te
d

 t
o

 a
p

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e 

p
u

rc
h

as
e

o
f 

p
ro

p
er

ty
 a

t:

•
95

03
 E

. 3
3r

d
 S

tr
ee

t

•
24

25
 W

. M
ic

h
ig

an
 S

tr
ee

t

B
a

c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

91



•
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

O
ff

ic
es

 in
cl

u
d

in
g:

•
P

re
si

d
en

t/
C

EO

•
Fi

n
an

ce

•
Le

ga
l

•
IT

•
C

ap
it

al
 P

ro
je

ct
s 

&
 P

la
n

n
in

g

•
G

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 &

 A
u

d
it

•
H

R

•
Tr

ai
n

in
g

•
P

u
b

lic
 A

ff
ai

rs

•
Se

rv
ic

es
 C

en
te

r

•
D

is
p

at
ch

•
O

p
er

at
o

r 
Lo

u
n

ge

•
C

lin
ic

•
B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e

•
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 b
ay

s

•
B

o
ar

d
 R

o
o

m
 /

 P
u

b
lic

 M
ee

ti
n

g
sp

ac
e

•
Pu

rp
le

 L
in

e 
Fi

el
d

 O
ff

ic
e

Th
e 

b
u

ild
in

g(
s)

 a
t 

9
5

0
3

 E
. 3

3
rd

 S
tr

ee
t w

ill
 b

ec
o

m
e 

th
e 

n
ew

 
In

d
yG

o
H

ea
d

q
u

ar
te

rs
 –

Ea
st

 C
a

m
p

u
s.

 It
 w

ill
 b

e 
h

o
m

e 
to

:

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g

92



Th
e 

b
u

ild
in

g 
at

 2
42

5 
W

. 
M

ic
h

ig
an

 S
tr

ee
t 

w
ill

 b
e 

h
o

m
e 

to
 t

h
e 

M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

 
C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
e

n
te

r,
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g:

•
M

o
b

ili
ty

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

ff
ic

es

•
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
C

en
te

r

•
Pa

ra
tr

an
si

t 
V

eh
ic

le
 S

to
ra

ge

•
Pa

ra
tr

an
si

t 
V

eh
ic

le
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g

93



Th
e 

cu
rr

en
t I

n
d

yG
o

 H
Q

 (1
50

1 
W

. W
as

h
in

gt
o

n
 S

t)
 w

ill
 

b
ec

o
m

e 
In

d
yG

o
–

W
es

t 
C

a
m

p
u

s
an

d
 w

ill
 r

em
ai

n
 h

o
m

e 
to

:

•
B

u
s 

G
ar

ag
e

•
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 F
ac

ili
ty

•
A

ll 
El

ec
tr

ic
-V

eh
ic

le
 C

h
ar

gi
n

g 
Eq

u
ip

m
en

t 
an

d
 F

le
et

•
Pa

rt
s 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

•
B

o
d

y 
W

o
rk

•
Pa

in
t 

B
o

o
th

•
O

p
er

at
io

n
s 

te
am

 o
ff

ic
es

•
B

lu
e 

Li
n

e 
Fi

el
d

 O
ff

ic
e 

(d
u

ri
n

g 
co

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

)

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g

94



W
h

a
t’
s 

N
e

x
t 

•
P

re
p

ar
e 

fo
r 

n
ew

 u
se

s 
an

d
o

cc
u

p
an

ts

•
Th

re
e

 O
n

-C
al

l A
&

E
C

o
n

su
lt

an
ts

 a
lr

ea
d

y
u

n
d

er
 c

o
n

tr
ac

t

•
D

ev
el

o
p

in
g 

sc
o

p
e 

an
d

 f
ee

p
ro

p
o

sa
ls

 f
o

r 
d

es
ig

n

•
Ta

sk
 O

rd
er

s 
to

 B
o

ar
d

 o
ve

r
n

ex
t 

se
ve

ra
l m

o
n

th
s

95



•
Fo

r 
to

n
ig

h
t,

 T
as

k 
O

rd
er

s 
fo

r:

1
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

“A
” 

B
u

ild
in

g 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 o
n

 E
as

t
C

am
p

u
s

2
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

P
h

as
e 

1 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

(A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
A

re
a)

 fo
r 

th
e 

M
o

b
ili

ty
So

lu
ti

o
n

s 
an

d
 C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
en

te
r

W
h

a
t’
s 

N
e

x
t 

96



M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

 
C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
en

te
r 

D
es

ig
n

 
P

h
as

es
 a

n
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
s

97



M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

 C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
C

ar
e

 C
e

n
te

r 
 

•
M

o
b

ili
ty

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

ff
ic

es

•
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
C

en
te

r

•
Pa

ra
tr

an
si

t V
eh

ic
le

 S
to

ra
ge

•
Pa

ra
tr

an
si

t V
eh

ic
le

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce

98



M
ic

h
ig

an
 S

tr
ee

t

Tremont Street

99



M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

a
n

d
 C

u
s
to

m
e

r 

C
a

re
 C

e
n

te
r 

P
h

a
s
e

 1

P
h

as
e

 1
 –

A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n

•
U

p
gr

ad
e 

w
at

er
 li

n
e

•
In

st
al

l f
ir

e 
sp

ri
n

kl
er

sy
st

em

•
In

st
al

ll
if

t

•
M

ak
e 

m
in

o
r 

in
te

ri
o

r
m

o
d

if
ic

at
io

n
s

100



M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

a
n

d
 C

u
s
to

m
e

r 

C
a

re
 C

e
n

te
r 

P
h

a
s
e

 2

P
h

as
e 

2 
–

A
ss

es
sm

en
t C

en
te

r
•

D
iv

id
e

th
e 

sp
ac

e
•

C
re

a
te

p
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 a
cc

es
s 

fo
r

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

C
en

te
r

•
M

ak
e 

in
te

ri
o

r m
o

d
if

ic
at

io
ns

 fo
r 

o
ff

ic
e

an
d

 re
st

ro
o

m
s

•
C

o
n

fi
gu

re
 s

ta
te

-o
f-

th
e

-a
rt

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t

C
en

te
r

P
h

as
e 

2 
-

M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

re
a 

•
D

es
ig

n
 fo

u
r 

m
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
b

ay
s

•
D

es
ig

n
 w

as
h

-o
u

t 
ar

ea
•

D
es

ig
n

 r
es

tr
o

o
m

s,
 o

ff
ic

es
 a

n
d

 b
re

a
k

ar
ea

 fo
r 

ve
n

d
o

r

101



M
o

b
ili

ty
 S

o
lu

ti
o

n
s 

a
n

d
 C

u
s
to

m
e

r 

C
a

re
 C

e
n

te
r 

P
h

a
s
e

 3

P
h

as
e

 3
 

•
D

es
ig

n
b

u
s 

st
o

ra
ge

,
ad

d
it

io
n

al
 s

ta
ff

 p
ar

ki
n

g,
ad

d
it

io
n

al
 p

ro
p

er
ty

 a
cc

es
s

fo
r 

b
u

se
s

•
R

el
o

ca
te

th
e 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y
ga

rd
en

 a
n

d
 fe

n
ci

n
g

Th
is

 P
h

as
e 

is
 c

o
n

ti
n

ge
n

t 
o

n
 t

h
e 

p
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

th
e 

ad
ja

ce
n

t 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 
w

es
t 

o
f 

2
4

2
5

 W
 M

ic
h

ig
an

102



•
Fo

r 
to

n
ig

h
t,

 T
as

k 
O

rd
er

s 
fo

r:

1
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

“A
” 

B
u

ild
in

g 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 o
n

 E
as

t
C

am
p

u
s

2
.

D
es

ig
n

 o
f 

P
h

as
e 

1 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

(A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
A

re
a)

 fo
r 

th
e 

M
o

b
ili

ty
So

lu
ti

o
n

s 
an

d
 C

u
st

o
m

er
 C

ar
e 

C
en

te
r

W
h

a
t’
s 

N
e

x
t 

103



Q
u

es
ti

o
n

s 
w

e 
ca

n
 a

n
sw

er
 f

o
r 

yo
u

?

104



Date: January 12, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Deputy Director of Governance & Audit Brian Atkinson 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Contract with Corey Saunders, CPA PLLC 

ACTION ITEM A – 5 

RECOMMENDATION: 

In a manner consistent with IPTC contract award standards it is requested that the Board authorize the President/CEO to 
enter into contract with Corey Saunders, CPA PLLC for two (2) years with three one year options to provide consulting 
services and support of the Internal Governance and Audit Function for an amount not to exceed $1,104,000 
(approximately $220,000 annually)  for the life of the contract including options. 

BACKGROUND: 

The objective of this project is to provide IndyGo with on call consulting services supporting the ongoing establishment 
of IPTC’s “Governance & Audit” (G&A) function.  Utilizing Consulting services familiar with the G&A function provide 
immediate work product needed while IndyGo hires and trains staff over the next few years. 

Deliverables are expected to include assistance with: 
• Maintaining a Communication Plan to provide both formal and informal protocols for communicating with audit

customers, IndyGo management, Governance & Audit Committee and Board members, and other stakeholders.
• Annual risk assessment and Internal Audit work program development.
• Assistance with establishing an internal audit project methodology that will provide the framework for each

internal audit, consulting engagement, fraud investigation, or other such project that the Deputy of Governance
and Audit may be asked to perform.

• Assist with designing the tools and templates necessary to successfully complete each Governance and Audit
project, such as but not limited to:

o Scoping memos
o Work programs
o Opening meeting agendas, status updates, and closing meeting agendas
o Audit report templates
o Governance & Audit Committee and Board updates
o Post-audit customer service surveys

 Assess compliance with financial regulations and controls by executing audit program steps: testing general
ledger account balances and trends/fluctuations; examining and analyzing records, reports, operating practices
and documentation.

 Assess internal controls and process efficiency/effectiveness across a broad spectrum of operational areas, both
transit-specific and otherwise.

 Assess risk and internal controls by identifying areas of non-compliance; evaluating manual and automated
financial processes; identifying weaknesses and inefficiencies and operational issues.

105



 Complete audit working papers and memoranda by documenting audits tests and findings; drill down to
investigate root causes of internal control breakdowns and opportunities for process improvement.

 Any other items that arise throughout discussions with current Governance and Audit staff and IndyGo
leadership.

 Be available to serve as an ongoing resource for questions and consultations as issues arise. As a measure of
client service and begin build a trusted advisory relationship with IndyGo.

DISCUSSION: 

This solicitation was advertised with Mass Transit, IBJ and the Indy Star on October 13 and October 15.  The solicitation 
was also placed on the IPTC website and registered vendors were notified.  IPTC received bids from Baker Tilly, Crowe, 
Direct Pathway, Saunders LLC and Plante & Moran.  The scoring of the Evaluation Committee reflects that Saunders LLC 
be deemed a quality vendor and was selected for recommendation based on the following criteria: 

 Transit Audit Experience
 Cost
 Qualified and Experience of Professional Staff
 Reference Letters from companies with similar scope of work.

ALTERNATIVES: 

The Board of Directors could choose not to approve the contract at this time.  If an alternative respondent is selected 
there would be less transit audit experience at a greater cost.  Not approving the consultant would most likely require 
two additional staff members with salary and benefits exceeding the cost of the consulting contract.     

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total cost of this Contract including option years will not exceed $1,104,000.  The proposed quantity of hours 
annually is 1,000.  The funding source for this procurement is provided from the Governance and Audit Department 
operating budget. 

DBE DECLARATION: 

As local dollars will be spent on this project, Corey Saunders, CPA PLLC has committed to a 15% WBE Goal and has 
partnered with the Bronner Group, a nationally recognized WBE firm certified in Indiana.  Gila Bronner and her firm have 
extensive transit and internal audit experience, and an office in Indianapolis.   

STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 

This action was not reviewed by the Finance Committee or Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on 
the Regular Agenda.   

106



Date:   January 12, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting:  January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Senior Director, Mobility Solutions Michael L. Roth 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of In Plant Pre-Build Bus (Fixed Route and Paratransit) Inspections 
 
  

ACTION ITEM A – 6 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is requested the IPTC Board of Directors authorize the President/CEO to enter into a 3 year procurement contract with 
TRC Engineering Services, LLC (TRC), for In-plant; prebuild inspection of Fixed Route including Paratransit body on chassis 
(BOC) vehicles, for an amount not to exceed $255,410. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
This electronic quote (EQ) is to obtain high quality and professional bus line inspection/resident engineering services so 
as to ensure that the buses for both Fixed Route and Paratransit (BOC) obtained by IPTC, when built, are top quality 
equipment which are capable of delivering maximum performance with high reliability.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The successful Contractor shall represent IPTC at the manufacturing plant and shall monitor the manufacturing and 
installation processes for IPTC's buses including; drawings, material standards, parts lists, inspection processing and 
reports, records of defects, and packing slips and bills of lading of components. The Contractor will meet with 
Manufacturer’s Quality Assurance Manager. They shall review the inspection procedures and checklists. If deemed 
appropriate and feasible, the Contractor may begin monitoring bus construction activities prior to the start of bus 
fabrication. Selected Contractor may be required to represent IPTC at multiple locations and manufacturing sites in 
Indiana, South California, and North California. 
 
As this solicitation received a single response, it was re-reviewed to verify: 
 

- Advertising was done in a proper manner to reach the proper audience 
- The scope and technical specifications were not written in such a way that would limit competition, there was 

very few questions during the question and answer period. 
- Enough time was made available for a response 

 
It is Procurement’s belief that all the above topics were addressed and that a withdrawal and re-post would yield the 
same results.  
 
Based on our fleet purchase needs IPTC will acquire approximately 145 Fixed Route and Paratransit vehicles over the 
term of the contract. 
 
 
 

107



ALTERNATIVES: 
 
The Board of Directors could choose not to replace vehicles at this time. If this alternative is selected the implications of 
this decision are as follows:      
 

 Vehicle purchases could not be in compliance with federal standards. 
 The agency could be exposed to being delivered non-spec-conforming vehicles. 
 Could realize a finding/deficiency on future audits/triennials. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The funding for this procurement would come out of the Operating Budget from the Fleet Services Department.  
 
DBE DECLARATION: 
 
As this procurement was funded by non-federal dollars no DBE goal was established. IPTC remains committed to the 
utilization of certified XBE firms with the City of Indianapolis Office of Minority and Women Business Development 
(OMWBD) and the Indiana Department of Administrations’ Division of Supplier Diversity (IDOA-DSD) whenever 
applicable opportunities present themselves. 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was reviewed by the Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Regular Agenda.

108



Date:   January 12, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting:  January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Chief Information Officer Marcus Burnside 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Microsoft Licensing Renewal 
 
  

ACTION ITEM A – 7 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
In a manner consistent with IPTC procurement award standards, it is requested that the Board authorize the 
President/CEO to renew the Microsoft Annual Licensing for Year 3 of the 3-Year Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) 
with CDW , LLC., in an amount not to exceed $160,680.00. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In 2019, IPTC purchased a Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) through CDW, LLC., (a Microsoft Enterprise Gold 
Partner) for Microsoft products including Microsoft Office (Word, Excel, PowerPoint, etc.), Visio, Project, SharePoint, 
Office 365 cloud-based email, Windows Server, Azure Cloud Instance, and Dynamics AX 2012 (on-premise). The purpose 
of entering into a Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) for licensing is to lock in the cost of subscription licenses over a 
3-year period without inflation. The benefits are 1) IPTC would not pay for any license listed in the EA for more than the 
stated price, and 2) IPTC would benefit from decreases in subscription licenses during the term (if the costs decrease, so 
will our annual renewal). 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
In Q4 2021, IPTC will be publishing a solicitation for a new 3-year Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) with the 
objective to request Board approval for the awarded bidder in January 2022. Over the term of the current Microsoft 
Enterprise Agreement (EA), IPTC will be assessing the need for subscription-based end-user software licenses (i.e. 
Microsoft Office) versus purchasing said licenses outright with Software Assurance through our Microsoft Volume 
Licensing program (software with discounts via volume purchases in an effort to decrease Microsoft subscription 
licensing costs. The current term ends March 31, 2022. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 
The Board could choose to not to renew the current Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA). However, IPTC will no longer 
have Microsoft licensed products including corporate email. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The cost of our Microsoft subscription licensing was $143,925.00 in 2020. The 10.5% increase in costs are due to the 
increase of projected administrative staff in 2021. For example, Mobility Services will be transitioning Transdev’s 

109



Dispatch and Reservation employees under IPTC, which will require additional licenses for those new employees to 
perform their day-to-day job functions. For Microsoft Dynamics 365 (D365), IPTC will be exploring the cost variance 
between pricing with our Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) and the selected D365 Cloud Service Provider vendor 
(CSP). If the CSP pricing is discounted more than our EA pricing, we will incorporate the D365 licensing with the selected 
CSP. The projected Microsoft licensing costs for FY2022 to FY2025 cannot be fully realized at this time; however, we will 
continue our efforts to keep Microsoft subscription costs to minimum levels. 
 
DBE DECLARATION: 
 
This project will be funded locally, therefore, DBE goals will not apply. 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was not reviewed by the Finance Committee or Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on 
the Regular Agenda.   

110



Date:   January 12, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting:  January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  Vice President of Infrastructure, Strategy, and Innovation Jennifer Pyrz 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of an Amendment to WSP’s Task Order to Provide Purple Line Final Design 
Services 

 
  

ACTION ITEM A – 8 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
In a manner consistent with IPTC procurement contract award standards, it is requested that the Board authorize IPTC 
to execute a contract amendment to supplement Task Order #6, as amended by Task Order #9, with WSP USA, Inc. 
(WSP) to reflect scope changes in final design services, for an amount of $127,200. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Purple Line bus rapid transit (BRT) project is envisioned to be the second of three rapid transit lines in the City of 
Indianapolis/Marion County. It would connect downtown Indianapolis to the City of Lawrence, via East 38th Street. The 
project was identified in the regional transit framework, Indy Connect, in 2009-2010 and advanced to an Alternatives 
Analysis (AA) study in 2014-2015. Both studies were conducted by the Indianapolis Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(MPO) in cooperation with IPTC, the Central Indiana Regional Transportation Association (CIRTA), and other regional 
partners. Those plans eventually resulted in the Marion County Transit Plan, which was presented to Marion County 
voters in November 2016 for adoption of a 0.25% income tax, dedicated to transit. In December 2017, the IPTC 2018-
2022 Capital Plan was adopted by the IPTC board of directors. This plan outlined the Purple Line project in more detail, 
including the specific mix of funding sources and timelines for the development of the project. Based on that plan, 
design work for the Purple Line was planned to continue through 2021. The Purple Line Project is expected to open at 
the end of 2023. 
 
IPTC Board of Directors awarded a task-order based contract to WSP in 2017. To date, funding has been awarded for 
nine task orders for the Purple Line design and National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) work. The current Task Order 9 
was executed for the purposes of completing all design activities and preparing the project for bidding. This is a task-
order based contract with specific scope and fee for each new task order negotiated individually. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
In late 2019, IPTC made several significant design changes to the Purple Line project in response to identified schedule 
and construction risks. As a result, the design consultant team was required to modify design plans at the 60% stage. 
Task Order #9 was executed in June 2020 for WSP USA, Inc. with the intent that it would capture all resulting scope and 
fee changes and enable them to complete their design work. However, certain portions of the work, performed by one 
of the subconsultants, were inadvertently excluded from that amendment. The work of that subconsultant is now being 

111



added via this new Task Order, which will fund necessary design revisions in the areas of maintenance of traffic, 
electrical engineering, and roadway design. Additional project management costs are also included because of the 
extended design phase timeline. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 
This work is required to be completed in order to progress to final design. Any change in consultant or reduction in 
scope would negatively impact the design plan quality. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Funding for the Purple Line project is provided from a variety of sources, including FTA Small Starts, Bond Revenues, 
5307 Formula Funds, and local funds, as documented in the Capital Plan. 
 
DBE DECLARATION: 
 
There is no DBE participation on this specific task order/supplement. The entire amount of this amendment is for the 
design services of a non-DBE subconsultant. However, there was an overall goal placed on Purple Line Design of 15%. 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was reviewed by the Service Committee on January 21, 2021 and will be placed on the Regular Agenda.

112



Date: January 26, 2021 
Current Meeting: January 28, 2021 
Board Meeting: January 28, 2021 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Board of Directors 

THROUGH: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 

FROM:  General Counsel Jill D. Russell 

SUBJECT: Consideration and Approval of Resolution to Sell and Transfer Real Property Located at 9050 E. 33rd 
Street, Indianapolis, Indiana to the City of Indianapolis on Behalf of the Indianapolis Fire Department 

ACTION ITEM A – 13 

RECOMMENDATION: 

In a manner consistent with IPTC standards and pursuant to State and Local requirements, it is requested that the Board 
issue a Resolution directing the President/CEO, on behalf of the Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation, to sell 
and transfer real estate located at 9305 E. 33rd Street, Indianapolis IN., to the City of Indianapolis Fire Department for 
the sum of Two Million Seven Hundred Fifty Six Thousand Eight Hundred Eleven Dollars ($2,756,811.00). 

BACKGROUND: 

On September 24, 2020 the IPTC Board of Directors authorized the President/CEO to enter into negotiations for the 
purchase real estate located at 9050 E. 33rd Street. IPTC’s intent was to construct a facility that accommodate the 
increased number of coached required implementation of the Marion County Transit Plan as well as provide the 
additional space needed for social distancing for the health and safety of staff. Management later identified a more 
suitable site for that purpose. The City of Indianapolis, on behalf of the Indianapolis Fire Department, and knowing that 
IPTC had performed the required statutory provisions for the purchase of real property by a governmental entity, 
approached IPTC to complete the transaction for the purpose of selling and transferring the real estate to the City.  

DISCUSSION: 

The closing on the property with Celadon will occur simultaneously with the closing between IPTC and the City. The 
bankruptcy Court for Celadon will issue the order approving the transaction. The purchase price for the City captures the 
expenditures that IPTC fronted for appraisals and inspection reports. In addition, IPTC will retain possession of two 
driver simulators that are currently located at 9050 E. 33rd Street. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

Terminate the Purchase Agreement for 9050 E. 33rd Street. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact is zero. The City has agreed to pay our purchase price and reimburse IPTC all expenses related to the 
real estate.  

113



DBE DECLARATION: 
 
N/A 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE DISCUSSION/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This action was not reviewed by the Service Committee or Finance Committee on January 21, 2021.   

114



115



116



117



Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
21

Ch
el

ci
 H

un
te

r, 
DB

EL
O

/D
iv

er
sit

y 
O

ffi
ce

r

118



SU
PP

LI
ER

 D
IV

ER
SI

TY
 M

IS
SI

O
N

 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T

Th
e 

Th
e 

m
iss

io
n 

m
iss

io
n 

of
 

of
 o

ur
 

ou
r S

up
pl

ie
r 

Su
pp

lie
r D

iv
er

sit
y 

Di
ve

rs
ity

 P
ro

gr
am

 
Pr

og
ra

m
 is

 
is 

to
 

to
 c

re
at

e 
cr

ea
te

 a
 a 
le

ve
l 

le
ve

l p
la

yi
ng

 
pl

ay
in

g 
fie

ld
 

fie
ld

 o
n on

 w
hi

ch
 

w
hi

ch
 D

BE
s 

DB
Es

 a
nd

 
an

d 
XB

Es
 

XB
Es

 c
an

 
ca

n 
co

m
pe

te
 

co
m

pe
te

 f
ai

rly
 

fa
irl

y 
fo

r 
fo

r 
co

nt
ra

ct
s 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
an

d 
an

d 
su

bc
on

tr
ac

ts
 

su
bc

on
tr

ac
ts

 r
el

at
ed

 
re

la
te

d 
to

 
to

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n,
 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n,

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t, 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t, 
an

d 
an

d 
pr

of
es

sio
na

l 
pr

of
es

sio
na

l 
se

rv
ic

es
. 

se
rv

ic
es

. 
Fu

rt
he

r, 
Fu

rt
he

r, 
ou

r 
ou

r 
m

iss
io

n 
m

iss
io

n 
is is 

to
 

to
 

bu
ild

 
bu

ild
 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
ps

 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

ps
 

an
d 

an
d 

m
ax

im
ize

 
m

ax
im

ize
 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 

fo
r 

fo
r 

DB
Es

 
DB

Es
 

an
d 

an
d 

XB
Es

, 
XB

Es
, 

w
hi

le
 

w
hi

le
 

st
re

ng
th

en
in

g 
st

re
ng

th
en

in
g 

an
d 

an
d 

re
fle

ct
in

g 
re

fle
ct

in
g 

th
e 

th
e 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 w
e 

se
rv

e.
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 w

e 
se

rv
e.

Es
t. 

20
20

Es
t. 

20
20

In
dy

Go
, a

 s
ta

un
ch

 S
up

pl
ie

r 
Di

ve
rs

ity
 a

dv
oc

at
e,

 is
 d

ed
ic

at
ed

 t
o 

th
e 

st
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

of
 o

ur
 f

in
an

ci
al

 
re

so
ur

ce
s 

by
 e

ns
ur

in
g 

th
at

 o
ur

 b
id

di
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
ar

e 
in

cl
us

iv
e 

an
d 

tr
an

sp
ar

en
t. 

O
ur

 S
up

pl
ie

r 
Di

ve
rs

ity
 P

ro
gr

am
 is

 c
om

pr
ise

d 
of

 b
ot

h 
a 

Di
sa

dv
an

ta
ge

d 
Bu

sin
es

s 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

(D
BE

) p
ro

gr
am

, a
nd

 
an

 “
XB

E”
 p

ro
gr

am
 (t

he
 c

ol
le

ct
iv

e 
te

rm
 fo

r 
M

in
or

ity
-O

w
ne

d 
Bu

sin
es

s 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

(M
BE

), 
W

om
an

-
O

w
ne

d 
Bu

sin
es

s 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

(W
BE

), 
Ve

te
ra

n-
O

w
ne

d 
Bu

sin
es

s 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

(V
BE

) 
an

d 
Di

sa
bi

lit
y-

O
w

ne
d 

Bu
sin

es
s E

nt
er

pr
ise

 (D
O

BE
)).

 

119

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiA19DYvJznAhWXVs0KHaR8BiwQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.indygo.net%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2019%2F08%2FRed-Line-Ops-Plan-8-15-19.pdf&psig=AOvVaw1AQsCD3SyLwdFD4q1BiERC&ust=1579963457785314


3

D
BE

 P
R

O
G

R
AM

 
(C

ER
TI

FI
C

AT
IO

N
)

El
ig

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r D
BE

 C
er

tif
ic

at
io

n:

M
us

t b
e 

a 
sm

al
l b

us
in

es
s 5

1%
 o

w
ne

d 
an

d 
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
by

 so
ci

al
ly

 a
nd

 e
co

no
m

ic
al

ly
 d

isa
dv

an
ta

ge
d 

in
di

vi
du

al
s:

Ø
W

om
en

Ø
Af

ric
an

 A
m

er
ic

an
s

Ø
Hi

sp
an

ic
 A

m
er

ic
an

s
Ø

N
at

iv
e 

Am
er

ic
an

s
Ø

As
ia

n-
Pa

ci
fic

 A
m

er
ic

an
s

Ø
Su

bc
on

tin
en

t A
sia

n 
Am

er
ic

an
s

Ø
O

th
er

 m
in

or
iti

es
 fo

un
d 

to
 b

e 
di

sa
dv

an
ta

ge
d 

by
 th

e 
U

.S
. S

m
al

l B
us

in
es

s A
dm

in
ist

ra
tio

n.

Pe
rs

on
al

 n
et

 w
or

th
 m

us
t n

ot
 e

xc
ee

d 
$1

.3
2M

. 
Th

is 
am

ou
nt

 e
xc

lu
de

s p
er

so
na

l h
om

e 
an

d 
bu

sin
es

s a
ss

et
s.

Bu
sin

es
s a

nn
ua

l r
ec

ei
pt

s m
us

t n
ot

 e
xc

ee
d 

$2
6.

29
M

 o
ve

r t
he

 la
st

 th
re

e 
ye

ar
s.

 

M
us

t b
e 

a 
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 c
iti

ze
n 

or
 p

er
m

an
en

t r
es

id
en

t.

Th
e 

on
ly

 c
er

tif
yi

ng
 a

ge
nc

y 
fo

r D
BE

 c
er

tif
ic

at
io

ns
 in

 In
di

an
a 

is 
th

e 
In

di
an

a 
De

pa
rt

m
en

t o
f 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
(IN

DO
T)

120

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiA19DYvJznAhWXVs0KHaR8BiwQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.indygo.net%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2019%2F08%2FRed-Line-Ops-Plan-8-15-19.pdf&psig=AOvVaw1AQsCD3SyLwdFD4q1BiERC&ust=1579963457785314


D
BE

 P
R

O
G

R
AM

 (C
O

M
PL

IA
N

C
E)

DB
E 

Ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e:

Th
e 

DO
T 

DB
E 

pr
og

ra
m

 is
 c

ar
rie

d 
ou

t 
by

 s
ta

te
 a

nd
 lo

ca
l t

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n 
ag

en
ci

es
 u

nd
er

 t
he

 r
ul

es
 a

nd
 

gu
id

el
in

es
 in

 th
e 

Co
de

 o
f F

ed
er

al
 R

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 (C

FR
), 

Ti
tle

 4
9 

Pa
rt

 2
6.

In
dy

Go
’s

 o
ve

ra
ll 

DB
E 

Go
al

 fo
r 2

02
0-

20
22

 is
 1

0%
. 

Go
al

s a
re

 se
t o

n 
a 

co
nt

ra
ct

-t
o-

co
nt

ra
ct

 b
as

is.
 It

’s
 im

po
rt

an
t t

o 
no

te
 th

at
 n

ot
 e

ve
ry

 c
on

tr
ac

t i
s r

eq
ui

re
d 

to
 h

av
e 

a 
go

al
.

DB
E 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
is 

re
po

rt
ed

 t
w

ic
e 

a 
ye

ar
 t

o 
th

e 
FT

A.
 O

nc
e 

on
 Ju

ne
 1

st
 a

nd
 th

e 
ot

he
r 

on
 D

ec
em

be
r 

1s
t. 

Bo
th

 re
po

rt
s c

ov
er

 d
iff

er
en

t p
er

io
ds

. T
hi

s i
s c

al
le

d 
th

e 
Se

m
i-A

nn
ua

l U
ni

fo
rm

 R
ep

or
t.

121

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiA19DYvJznAhWXVs0KHaR8BiwQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.indygo.net%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2019%2F08%2FRed-Line-Ops-Plan-8-15-19.pdf&psig=AOvVaw1AQsCD3SyLwdFD4q1BiERC&ust=1579963457785314


IN
 T

H
E 

N
U

M
BE

R
S 

(D
BE

)

$1
1,

38
3,

20
6

$3
,5

52
,4

53

$9
31

,5
38

DB
E 

Sp
en

d

DB
E 

Sp
en

d 
by

 y
ea

r
20

18
20

19
20

20

122

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiA19DYvJznAhWXVs0KHaR8BiwQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.indygo.net%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2019%2F08%2FRed-Line-Ops-Plan-8-15-19.pdf&psig=AOvVaw1AQsCD3SyLwdFD4q1BiERC&ust=1579963457785314


XB
E 

PR
O

G
R

AM
XB

E 
G

O
AL

S 
(P

EN
DI

N
G

 D
IS

PA
RI

TY
 S

TU
DY

): 

M
BE

 - 
15

%
W

BE
 - 

8%
VB

E 
- 3

%
DO

BE
 - 

1%

O
nl

y 
bu

sin
es

s c
er

tif
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Ci
ty

 o
f I

nd
ia

na
po

lis
 O

ffi
ce

 o
f 

M
in

or
ity

 a
nd

 W
om

en
 B

us
in

es
s D

ev
el

op
m

en
t (

O
M

W
BD

) c
an

 b
e 

co
un

te
d 

w
he

n 
re

po
rt

in
g 

on
 n

on
-fe

de
ra

lly
 fu

nd
ed

 p
ro

je
ct

s.

XB
E 

Pr
og

ra
m

: P
ur

su
an

t t
o 

Ci
ty

 o
f I

nd
ia

na
po

lis
 C

od
e,

 S
ec

tio
n 

20
2-

40
1.

M
BE

 +
 W

BE
 +

 V
BE

 +
 D

O
BE

= XB
E

XB
E 

G
O

AL
S 

(F
IN

AL
):

M
BE

 –
 1

5%
W

BE
 –

 8
%

VB
E 

– 
3%

DO
BE

 –
 1

%

Th
e 

Ci
ty

’s
 D

isp
ar

ity
 st

ud
y 

w
as

  c
on

du
ct

ed
 in

 2
01

9 
by

 B
BC

 R
es

ea
rc

h.
 

Th
e 

la
st

 fu
ll 

di
sp

ar
ity

 st
ud

y 
pr

io
r t

o 
20

19
 w

as
 c

on
du

ct
ed

 in
 1

99
5.

Th
er

e 
w

er
e 

al
so

 fo
ur

 re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

: 

1.
Co

nt
ra

ct
 sp

ec
ifi

c 
go

al
s;

 si
m

ila
r t

o 
th

e 
DB

E 
pr

og
ra

m
2.

M
or

e 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

re
vi

ew
s

3.
U

nb
un

dl
in

g 
of

 la
rg

er
 c

on
tr

ac
ts

4.
Ca

pa
ci

ty
 B

ui
ld

in
g

In
dy

G
o 

w
ill

 b
e 

su
bm

itt
in

g 
an

 in
cl

us
io

n 
pl

an
 to

 th
e 

Ci
ty

 o
f 

In
di

an
ap

ol
is

. T
he

 p
la

n 
is

 d
ue

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

31
, 2

02
1.

.
Ad

di
tio

na
l R

em
in

de
rs

: 

1.
XB

E 
go

al
s a

re
 o

nl
y 

pl
ac

ed
 o

n 
no

n-
fe

de
ra

lly
 fu

nd
ed

 c
on

tr
ac

ts
.

2.
Ci

ty
 o

f I
nd

ia
na

po
lis

 X
BE

 p
ro

gr
am

 fo
rm

al
ly

 a
do

pt
ed

 b
y 

In
dy

Go
 in

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

01
7.

3.
W

e 
ac

ce
pt

 tw
o 

XB
E 

ce
rt

ify
in

g 
ag

en
cy

 c
er

tif
ic

at
io

ns
.

1.
Ci

ty
 o

f I
nd

ia
na

po
lis

 (M
BE

, W
BE

, V
BE

, a
nd

 D
O

BE
)

2.
In

di
an

a 
De

pa
rt

m
en

t o
f A

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n 

(M
BE

, W
BE

, a
nd

 V
BE

) –
 a

s o
f J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
9.

4.
Pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

is 
re

po
rt

ed
 to

 th
e 

Ci
ty

 o
nc

e 
a 

m
on

th
. T

hi
s i

s c
al

le
d 

th
e 

M
SR

 (M
on

th
ly

 S
um

m
ar

y 
Re

po
rt

)

123



IN
 T

H
E 

N
U

M
BE

R
S 

(X
BE

)

$4
,8

22
,6

44
.6

5

$1
2,

66
2,

40
9

$5
,9

98
,1

85
.0

0

XB
E 

Sp
en

d

XB
E 

SP
EN

D 
BY

 Y
EA

R
20

18
20

19
20

20

124

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiA19DYvJznAhWXVs0KHaR8BiwQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.indygo.net%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2019%2F08%2FRed-Line-Ops-Plan-8-15-19.pdf&psig=AOvVaw1AQsCD3SyLwdFD4q1BiERC&ust=1579963457785314


IN
 T

H
E 

N
U

M
BE

R
S 

(P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

ES
)

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

0.
00

%

5.
00

%

10
.0

0%

15
.0

0%

20
.0

0%

25
.0

0%

Hi
st

or
ic

al
 “

XB
E”

 P
er

ce
nt

ag
e

25
.0

%
20

.0
%

15
.0

%
10

.0
%

5.
0%

0.
0%

DB
E 

Sp
en

d

XB
E 

Sp
en

d

TO
TA

L 
DI

VE
RS

IT
Y 

PE
RC

EN
TA

G
E

20
20

20
19

20
18

125



20
20

 H
IG

H
LI

G
H

TS

Ve
nd

or
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t W

eb
in

ar
 S

er
ie

s:
 

Ju
ne

 2
8,

 2
02

0 
&

 A
ug

us
t 3

, 2
02

0 
– 

Bu
sin

es
s D

ev
el

op
m

en
t &

 D
oi

ng
 B

us
in

es
s i

n 
th

e 
N

ew
 N

or
m

al
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

0,
 2

02
0 

– 
Bu

sin
es

s M
ar

ke
tin

g 
&

 C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

8,
 2

02
0 

– 
St

re
ng

th
en

in
g 

Yo
ur

 S
up

pl
y 

Ch
ai

n 
N

ov
em

be
r 1

8,
 2

02
0 

– 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

Yo
ur

 P
ro

po
sa

ls 
&

 G
oo

d 
Fa

ith
 E

ffo
rt

s

Pu
rp

le
 L

in
e 

In
fo

rm
at

io
na

l M
ee

tin
gs

 (V
IR

TU
AL

):

De
ce

m
be

r 1
5,

 2
02

0 
at

 9
:0

0A
M

De
ce

m
be

r 1
6,

 2
02

0 
at

 3
:0

0P
M

In
te

rn
al

 S
ta

ff
 E

du
ca

tio
n 

Se
ss

io
ns

:

Fe
br

ua
ry

 1
0,

 2
02

0
Fe

br
ua

ry
 1

1,
 2

02
0

Fe
br

ua
ry

 1
9,

 2
02

0

N
EW

 S
up

pl
ie

r D
iv

er
si

ty
 S

pe
ci

al
is

t P
os

iti
on

 (p
os

te
d 

N
ov

em
be

r 1
6th

) 

Ke
vi

n 
M

cD
uf

fie
 Jr

. (
fir

st
 d

ay
; J

an
ua

ry
 4

, 2
02

1)

126



20
20

 H
IG

H
LI

G
H

TS
 C

O
N

T.

Li
br

ar
y 

O
ut

re
ac

h 
– 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

8,
 2

02
0

Ch
am

pi
on

s o
f D

iv
er

sit
y 

– 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
17

, 2
02

0
Di

sp
ar

ity
 S

tu
dy

 R
es

ul
ts

 –
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
22

, 2
02

0
Gr

ou
p 

St
ak

eh
ol

de
r M

ee
tin

g 
– 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 7
, 2

02
0

O
M

W
BD

 W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
 –

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
18

, 2
02

0
M

ee
tin

g 
w

ith
 C

on
ce

rn
ed

 C
le

rg
y 

– 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

0,
 2

02
0

IA
A 

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

 –
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

28
, 2

02
0

ID
O

A 
Go

ve
rn

or
’s

 C
om

m
iss

io
n 

M
ee

tin
g 

– 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

8,
 2

02
0

Pr
id

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 (I
N

TE
RN

AL
) –

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

th
ro

ug
h 

Ju
ne

 2
02

0.
An

ch
or

 In
st

itu
tio

ns
 w

ith
 In

dy
 C

ha
m

be
r –

 M
ar

ch
 1

2,
 2

02
0

IN
DO

T 
Co

nt
ra

ct
or

 T
ra

in
in

g 
– 

M
ar

ch
 1

2,
 2

02
0

Gr
ou

p 
St

ak
eh

ol
de

r M
ee

tin
g 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
5,

 2
02

0
DB

E 
Be

st
 P

ra
ct

ic
es

 w
ith

 IN
DO

T 
&

 IA
A 

– 
Ap

ril
 2

1,
 2

02
0

O
M

W
BD

 W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
 –

 A
pr

il 
21

, 2
02

0
20

20
 D

isp
ar

ity
 S

tu
dy

 W
eb

in
ar

 fo
r I

DO
A 

– 
Ap

ril
 3

0,
 2

02
0

Se
ei

ng
 th

e 
Bi

g 
Pi

ct
ur

e 
(ID

O
A)

 –
 M

ay
 2

1,
 2

02
0

DB
E 

Be
st

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 w

ith
 IN

DO
T 

&
 IA

A 
– 

Ju
ne

 2
5,

 2
02

0
Gr

ou
p 

St
ak

eh
ol

de
r M

ee
tin

g 
– 

Ju
ly

 7
, 2

02
0

Ac
ce

ss
 to

 C
ap

ita
l W

eb
in

ar
 #

1 
(IN

DO
T)

 –
 Ju

ly
 8

, 2
02

0
DB

E 
Be

st
 P

ra
ct

ic
es

 –
 A

ug
us

t 1
8,

 2
02

0
Ra

ci
al

 E
qu

ity
 W

or
ks

ho
p 

w
ith

 th
e 

Ci
ty

 –
 A

ug
us

t 2
0,

 2
02

0

Ci
ty

 o
f I

nd
ia

na
po

lis
 R

ev
er

se
 T

ra
de

 S
ho

w
 –

 A
ug

us
t 2

5,
 2

02
0

Co
un

ci
l P

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

– 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

7,
 2

02
0

12
th

 A
nn

ua
l B

us
in

es
s C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
W

ee
k 

(ID
O

A)
 –

 O
ct

ob
er

 8
 , 

20
20

IA
A 

20
20

 B
us

in
es

s D
iv

er
sit

y 
O

ut
re

ac
h 

– 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

1,
 2

02
0

Ac
ce

ss
 to

 C
ap

ita
l W

eb
in

ar
 #

3 
(IN

DO
T)

 –
 O

ct
ob

er
 2

2,
 2

02
0

O
M

W
BD

 D
isp

ar
ity

 S
tu

dy
 R

ol
lo

ut
 –

 N
ov

em
be

r 1
0,

 2
02

0
Do

in
g 

Bu
sin

es
s w

ith
 th

e 
Li

br
ar

y 
– 

N
ov

em
be

r 1
7,

 2
02

0
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 C

ap
ita

l W
eb

in
ar

 #
4 

(IN
DO

T)
 –

 D
ec

em
be

r 3
, 2

02
0

M
ee

tin
g 

w
ith

 C
on

ce
rn

ed
 C

le
rg

y 
– 

De
ce

m
be

r 4
, 2

02
0

13
th

 A
nn

ua
l Y

ea
r E

nd
 F

or
um

 (C
ity

) –
 D

ec
em

be
r 9

, 2
02

0
Di

ve
rs

ity
 &

 In
cl

us
io

n 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 (I
N

TE
RN

AL
) –

 N
ov

em
be

r t
o 

Pr
es

en
t. 

St
ak

eh
ol

de
r &

 O
th

er
 E

ng
ag

em
en

ts
:

127



Pa
ck

ag
e 

B

To
ta

l S
pe

nd
: $

15
,5

91
,1

09
.7

2
To

ta
l D

BE
: $

36
6,

94
4.

65

DB
E 

Pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n:
 2

.3
5%

XB
E 

Pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n:
 9

.4
0%

Ce
rt

ifi
ed

 F
irm

s U
til

iz
ed

: 

Ch
ish

ol
m

 L
um

be
r

Ci
rc

le
 C

ity
 R

eb
ar

Do
or

 S
er

vi
ce

s o
f I

nd
ia

na
Ea

rt
h 

Im
ag

es
In

te
rio

r S
pe

ci
al

tie
s

Ki
ng

do
m

 S
te

el
M

ET
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

Re
ec

e 
Re

bh
ol

z
Re

pr
o-

Gr
ap

hi
x

Ro
be

rt
 H

ai
ne

s
TC

 E
le

ct
ric

R
ED

 L
IN

E 
PA

R
TI

C
IP

AT
IO

N

Pa
ck

ag
e 

A 

To
ta

l S
pe

nd
: $

39
,2

08
,2

97
.7

0
To

ta
l D

BE
: $

6,
21

7,
90

6.
36

DB
E 

Pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n:
 1

5.
86

%
XB

E 
Pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n:

 1
6.

09
%

Ce
rt

ifi
ed

 F
irm

s U
til

iz
ed

: 

TC
 E

le
ct

ric
Ea

rt
h 

Im
ag

es
Tr

af
fic

 C
on

tr
ol

 S
pe

ci
al

ist
Ha

rm
on

 S
te

el

To
ta

l R
ed

 L
in

e 
DB

E:
 1

8.
21

%
To

ta
l R

ed
 L

in
e 

XB
E:

 2
5.

49
%

128



SU
PP

LI
ER

 D
IV

ER
SI

TY

129



 Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Information Update – Second Chance Hiring Initiative 

To: Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:  Vice President of Human Resources Jeff Brown 
Date: January 5, 2021 

SECOND CHANCE HIRING INITIATIVE 

BACKGROUND: 

IndyGo recognizes that there is a stigma associated with a criminal record that has resulted in significant obstacles for 
individuals with criminal backgrounds to obtain employment. To this end, IndyGo is committed to second chance hiring 
to give otherwise qualified applicants with criminal backgrounds the same consideration as any other applicant, when 
their record has no bearing on job requirements, and to also support their reentry into the workforce. IndyGo is 
implementing a Second Change Hiring Policy (“the Policy”), effective January 18, 2021. The Policy’s purpose is to level 
the playing field for applicants who may be highly qualified but have had a criminal conviction. 

Under this new Policy, IndyGo will not make inquiries into an applicant’s criminal background, unless and until it has 
issued a conditional offer of employment to that applicant. When IndyGo makes a conditional offer of employment, it 
will conduct a background check into the applicant’s criminal background. Criminal convictions can be considered only if 
they occurred less than seven (7) years from the time of application (not counting time of incarceration) and arrests that 
did not lead to conviction will not be used in employment decisions. If the criminal background reveals a conviction, the 
new Policy requires Human Resources to conduct an individualized assessment into the applicant’s criminal background 
by assessing certain factors. Applicants that appear to have something potentially adverse on their record are allowed to 
participate in a review by providing additional information that only they can give (i.e., rehabilitation efforts, continuing 
education, work experience, etc.) before IndyGo makes a final decision to hire. IndyGo will not withdraw a conditional 
offer of employment to an applicant because of the applicant’s criminal background unless it has determined that the 
applicant is unsuitable for the job based on the individual assessment.   

These new hiring practices offer the applicant who has a criminal history a fair chance at employment. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

Jeff Brown 
Vice President for Human Resources 

130



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Information Update – CEO Report 
 

To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
From:    President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
Date:  January 28, 2021 

 
 

CEO Report 
 

ISSUE: An update from the CEO will be presented at the board meeting 

RECOMMENDATION: Receive the report 

 

1. Years of Service Program 
 IndyGo is working with Engage2Excel to recognize our teammates’ years of service. Starting at a 

teammates 10th year of service, they will be recognized with a gift from IndyGo at every 5 year 
milestone. 

 
 

2. Department Visits to East Campus  
 On January 14th & 15th, IndyGo departments took individual department “field trips” out to the new East 

Campus. This time was used for each department to gather information about their new work areas and 
to brainstorm amongst each other about what their specific needs will be when we move into the new 
facility. We extended this invitation to the City County Councilors and IndyGo Board Members. Councilor 
Ali Brown from District 5 and Councilor Monroe Gray from District 8 came out for a tour and Councilor 
La Keisha Jackson from District 14 and Council President Vop Osili have previously come out to view the 
new facility. In addition, Board Treasurer Rick Wilson stopped by for a tour and is very excited about the 
direction IndyGo is heading with the new facility. 131



 
 

3. COVID-19 Vaccine 
 We are very excited to announce that Professional Coach Operators and other IndyGo frontline workers 

are now eligible to register for the COVID-19 Vaccines. 

 
 

4. Coin of Excellence 
 We have recently designed and ordered what we are calling the “Coin of Excellence”. This coin will be 

awarded to those who are seen going above and beyond their daily work responsibilities, and in 
recognition of outstanding performance and service. 

 
 
 
 
 132



 
5. New Bus Design 

 The new bus design is a fresh take on IndyGo's traditional blue. We're excited to see these new Gillig 
buses out on the street! 

 
 

6. New Indianapolis Public Transportation Foundation Executive Director Emily Lovison 
 The Indianapolis Public Transportation Foundation has a new leader after naming Emily Lovison 

executive director. Lovison succeeds founding executive director, Roscoe Brown, who retired at the end 
of 2020. 

133



 Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Section 5307/Section 5311 Allocation Analysis Update 
 

To:    IPTC Board of Directors 
Through:  President/CEO Inez Evans 
From:   Manager of Special Projects and Regional Mobility Integration Ryan Wilhite 
Memo Date:  December 7, 2020 

 
 

CONSIDERATION OF SECTION 5307/5311 ALLOCATION ANALYSIS UPDATE 

BACKGROUND: 
At the July committee and Board meetings, IPTC staff provided a detailed update to the Service and Finance Committees 
regarding the Section 5307/Section 5311 Allocation Plan, which is being led by the Indianapolis Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (IMPO), in coordination with IPTC, the Central Indiana Regional Transportation Authority (CIRTA), and the 
Central Indiana region’s rural providers. RLS & Associates is the lead consultant on the project. The purpose of this plan 
is to determine how Federal Transit Administration (FTA) formula funding for the region will be administered and 
allocated. To date, planning activities have centered around two key components for the plan: sub-allocation of federal 
dollars generated by the region, and grant administration. 

The Indiana Department of Transportation (INDOT) has informed the region that, effective January 1, 2022, funding for 
Section 5311 will be reduced to reflect the growth of the urbanized area. The providers in the counties outside of 
Marion County have already begun reporting trips as urban trips, entitling any of the eligible agencies to receive 
5307/5340/5339 funding.  
 
IPTC is currently the designated recipient for Section 5307/5340 funding and splits, or sub-allocates, this funding with 
CIRTA. IPTC is also the designated recipient for Section 5339 funding and does not split the funds. IPTC is the designated 
recipient and grant administrator for Section 5310, Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities. INDOT 
is the recipient of Section 5311 funding and passes this funding to the suburban agencies through county fiscal bodies. 
 
UPDATE: 
RLS and the IMPO have compiled a draft final report that will be presented to its Transportation Policy Committee (TPC) 
when the direct recipient for the suburban agencies is decided. CIRTA has presented its administrative costs for the 
suburban agencies. IPTC staff provided a detailed list of tasks to be completed to maintain compliance. 

IPTC staff are working to understand any documentation that will be required for Section 5339 and Section 5307 
compliance with the changes recommended in the IMPO report. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the update. 

Ryan Wilhite 
Manager of Special Projects and Regional Mobility Integration 
Department of Strategic Planning 

134



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

 
Information Update – Governance & Audit Workplan Status Report 

 
To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez Evans 
From:    Deputy of Governance & Audit Brian Atkinson 
Date:  January 21, 2021 

 

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT WORKPLAN STATUS REPORT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 135



 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

 

Brian Atkinson 
Deputy of Governance & Audit

136



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

 
Information Update – Governance & Audit Workplan Status Report 

 
To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez Evans 
From:    Deputy of Governance & Audit Brian Atkinson 
Date:  January 21, 2021 

 

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT ETHICS HOTLINE SUMMARY REPORT 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

 

Brian Atkinson 
Deputy of Governance & Audit

137



 Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 
 

Information Update – Capital Projects Updates for January 2021 
 

To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:    Vice President of Infrastructure, Strategy, and Innovation Jennifer Pyrz 
Date:  January 12, 2021 

 
 

CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATES FOR JANUARY 2021 
 

INFORMATIONAL ITEM 1. RE-ALLOCATION OF FUNDS FROM SHREWSBERRY & ASSOCIATES’ RURAL STREET DESIGN TASK ORDER.  
 
Shrewsberry & Associates currently holds an on-call architectural and engineering (A&E) services contract with IPTC and 
has an open task order to provide design services for Rural Street modifications under the CSX bridge. It has been 
decided that funds previously established to carry this project through final design should be re-purposed to instead 
complete another feasibility study. An initial feasibility study was completed in 2019 to assess lowering Rural St. by 6” 
underneath the CSX bridge (between Washington St. & Southeastern Ave.). This would allow Route 26 to stay on Rural 
St. and would eliminate a deviation to Sherman Dr. Feasibility of lowering Rural St. by 18” is now being conducted to 
ensure that future local fleet, whether electric or other lower emission buses, can safely fit underneath the CSX bridge. 
Work associated with this feasibility study is anticipated to be complete by May 2021. A task order for Shrewsberry will 
be modified to allow Shrewsberry to conduct this new scope of work. $112,972.89 will be re-purposed from the design 
task order to conduct this work. 
 
INFORMATIONAL ITEM 2. NEW TASK ORDER FOR PURPLE LINE CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT SERVICES FROM BUTLER FAIRMAN 

AND SEUFERT (BFS).  
 
BFS was selected as the Construction Manager for the Purple Line in October 2018. Their work is directed by Task Order, 
assigned by project phase. BFS’s current scope of work is identified in their Task Order #4 and provides IndyGo with 
construction management services through 100% design. Since executing that task order, IndyGo has identified the need 
for additional services that are not included in BFS’ current scope of work. Indy requires survey, staking and inspection 
services to support upcoming utility relocations associated with the Purple Line. This work will need to take place 
beginning as early as January 2021. IndyGo will therefore issue BFS Task Order #5 in the amount of $98,580.56 for this 
scope of work. 
 
INFORMATIONAL ITEM 3. NEW TASK ORDER FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RELATED TO EN ROUTE CHARGING SITES. 
  
IPTC previously determined that it would be beneficial to own, rather than lease, the sites where permanent electric bus 
charging infrastructure will be constructed and, as part of the search for sites to purchase, IPTC determined that it would 
require professional assistance in assessing the feasibility of sites and conducting FTA-required environmental analyses. 
WSP currently holds an on-call A&E services contract with IPTC to provide specialty electrical design services. WSP is also 
currently contracted with electric bus manufacturer BYD to design the en route charging infrastructure for the Red and 
Purple BRT lines. IPTC will gain efficiencies related to cost and schedule by using the same engineering consultant as BYD 

138



for the work related to site selection. As such, IPTC will contract with WSP to conduct the feasibility and environmental 
tasks associated with purchasing the properties. Additionally, WSP will complete design for the necessary temporary 
charging site at 91st St/Evergreen Avenue. A task order for WSP will be prepared under their existing on-call A&E 
contract in the amount of $82,286.01 for these services. Work will be complete by June 2021. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the report. 

Jennifer Pyrz 
Vice President of Infrastructure, Strategy and Innovation 
 
Contributing Staff: 
Matt Duffy

139



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Risk and Safety Division Report – November 2020 
 

To:    Chair and Board of Directors 
Through:  President/CEO Inez Evans 
From:   Director of Risk & Safety Brian Clem 
Date:   January 28, 2021 

 
 
Risk and Safety 

 During the week of November 1st Risk and Safety issued the new IndyGo emergency quick reference guide to be 
posted and available at each workstation.  This guide will help employees prepare to make quick decisions in times 
of emergencies. 
 

 The IndyGo Emergency Response Team (ERT) continues to meet during the pandemic one a month as aligned with 
the Marion County EOC.  This group has recently made decisions on how to continue IndyGo services during times 
of employee leave.  We have recently approved and executed a thermal screening process at the CTC for all 
contractors and employees.  This is to help protect our staff and community in the spread of covid-19. 

 
 During the second week of November, members of our Risk and Safety team have been busy reviewing the purple 

line 90% design criteria.  This is to update our plans on how safety will be executed during the project. 
 

 During November, Risk and Insurance Manager Kevin Neumann, and Director Brian Clem were busy collecting 
financial reports and asset information in preparation for IndyGo’s insurance application renewals.  The renewal 
process is expected to take the next 45 days to complete and bind coverage for the corporation. 

 
 Director of Risk and Safety (CSO) and the Risk and Safety Coordinator Dwight Benjamin has been leading a team of 

IndyGo staff members in the development and creation of a “Mobile Command Vehicle”.  This vehicle is designed 
to housed off site and used to perform crucial dispatch functions in times of emergencies.  This vehicle is being 
designed from a retired IndyGo fixed route bus and will have a work area for three (3) dispatchers, two (2) support 
staff and a conference area for 15 in the back of the bus.  There will be axillary lighting for special events, PA 
speakers for outside announcement, a water-cooling station, printer, AED, tv antenna, conference room screen, 
and internet and WIFI.  This project is unique and a has been a collaboration amongst many different departments 
within IndyGo.  This vehicle is planed to be fully operational by the end of this year and ready for service.  IndyGo is 
planning to show this off to our board of directors during Jan’s board meeting.  Along with its commissioning, 
IndyGo will be putting together the story on how this was built and how this tool can better serve our community 
in times of emergencies.   
 

140



 
 

November 2020 Safe Drivers Recognition 

                                            
 

The following Operators are recognized for their safe driving for the month of November and received a National 
Safety Council patch, pin and certificate. 

Operator ID # Years of Safe Driving 

Dexter Davis 1417 18 

Ricardo Oxley 4538 12 

Larry Patterson 4612 11 

Sean Cox 1190 10 

Laura Beck 8445 8 

Mercedes Ingram 8388 8 

Dewayne Sims 8456 8 

Nathan Barnes 8590 6 

LaShonda Carroll 8500 5 

Kelli Nuckolls 8809 3 

Larry Hall 9352 1 

Anthony Hudgins 9493 1 

Enrique San Pedro 9391 1 
 

 
 
 
 

141



November 2020 Fixed Route/Open Door Accident Data 

 
Traffic Accidents Passenger Accidents 

November 2020 

Non-Preventable Preventable Total Non-Preventable Preventable Total 
IPTC Fixed Route 22 15 37 30 2 32 
Mobility Services 0 1 1 1 0 1 
Garage 0 2 2 0 0 0 
Training 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CTC 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
November 2020 Police Events, EMS Events and Claims Submitted Data 

CTC Police Events 4 Claims for Fixed Route 21 
CTC EMS Events 24 Claims for Mobility Services 1 
Operations Police Events 13 Claims for the CTC 0 
Operations EMS Events 15 

 

November 2020 Fixed Route Current Month, Prior Month & Prior Year Comparison 
Data 

Fixed Route Accidents 
 All Traffic 

Accidents 
Preventable Traffic 

Accidents 
All Passenger 

Accidents 
Preventable Passenger 

Accidents 
October 2020 55 21 22 0 
November 2020 37 15 32 2 
November 2019 89 24 17 0 

 

 

Mobility Services Accidents 
 All Traffic 

Accidents 
Preventable Traffic 

Accidents 
All Passenger 

Accidents 
Preventable Passenger 

Accidents 
October 2020 9 3 4 0 
November 2020 1 1 1 1 
November 2019 6 4 3 2 

 

142



 

 

 

Garage Accidents 
 All Accidents Preventable Accidents 
October 2020 2 2 

November 2020 2 2 

November 2019 0 0 

 

 

 

Training Accidents 
 All Accidents Preventable Accidents 
October 2020 0 0 
November 2020 0 0 
November 2019 0 0 

 

 

November 2020 
Mobility 

Services Traffic 
and Passenger 

Accidents

143



November 2020 Red Line/Route 90 BRT Data 

Red Line Route 90 
Total Reported Incidents 37 
Total Number of Traffic Accidents (TA) 9 
Total Number of Traffic Incidents (TI) 1 
Location where most incidents occurred (Capitol Ave) 9 
Total Number of TA/TI involving Platform/Station 4 
Total Number of TA/TI with Damage to the Coach 8 
Total Center Station Incidents 15 
Total Curb Station Incidents 7 
Collisions involving a vehicle that struck us 3 
Collisions involving us striking them 1 
Total Number of Passenger Accidents (PA) 8 
Total Number of Passenger Incidents (PI) 1 
Number of Falls 7 
Total Number of Other Incidents (Police, EMS, Vandalism, etc.) 16 
Average Incidents per day on Route 90 1.23 

 

 January 
2020 

February 
2020 

March 
2020 

April 
2020 

May 
2020 

June 
2020 

July 
2020 

August 
2020 

September 
2020 

October 
2020 

November 
2020 

Total Red Line Collisions 18 19 18 11 16 21 21 31 19 11 9 

Total Red Line collisions 
with Damage 

18 16 16 7 13 11 11 29 16 10 8 

Collisions involving a 
vehicle that struck us 

7 9 6 2 5 10 9 14 7 2 3 

Collisions involving us 
striking them 

2 2 1 1 3 4 1 3 1 2 1 

Collisions, with Bus and 
Station 

4 6 4 2 8 5 2 7 4 6 4 

Total Involving Center 
Stations 

22 24 24 12 29 19 29 27 30 29 15 

Total Involving Curb Side 
Stations 

12 23 16 5 12 13 7 14 10 10 7 

Buses Towed 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 3 1 0 0 
 

 

 

144



 

End of Report

145



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Risk and Safety Division Report – December 2020 
 

To:    Chair and Board of Directors 
Through:  President/CEO Inez Evans 
From:   Director of Risk & Safety Brian Clem 
Date:   January 28, 2021 

 
 
Risk and Safety 

  On December 2nd, IndyGo scheduled a demonstration on a bus with the Lumin-air company.  This technology is a 
UV-C option that disinfects air being recirculated on the bus.  This technology has been around for many years in 
hospitals and now there are solutions to keep employees and passengers safe while using public transportation.  
We will be looking into grant money and the cares act funding to determine if we could bring this technology to 
IndyGo in the future. 

 On December 4th, Risk and Safety and Security performed Q4 fire drills at headquarters and at the CTC.  We 
continue to drill and evaluate our team’s actions in becoming more prepared. 

 On December 10th, The Executive Safety and Security Committee (ESSC) meet for our Q4 meeting.  Such items as 
Purple Line construction, near miss reporting, CPR/AED training for IndyGo staff and OSHA internal audits were 
discussed.  We continue to have these meeting each quarter or as needed to bring leadership together on the 
status of our safety culture. 

 We continue to have the Mobile Command Vehicle meetings to finish the creation on our new asset.  This project 
consists of a retired Transit bus that has been converted into a rolling dispatch center with meeting space in the 
back for events.  The roll out and commission of this vehicle is scheduled for the end of January of 2021.  At that 
time full testing will be performed and a board presentation video will be available to show case the vehicle. 

 The IndyGo Risk and Safety department continues to work with Aon insurance brokerage to renew our lines of 
coverages.  The department got an early jump start on the process this year as there were several hurdles to 
overcome with the agency’s expansion.  The final binding of policy is expected to go up to 12/31/20 as customary.  
Additional details and the final totals will be available in January’s board report. 

 The IndyGo Risk and Safety team continues to host the Emergency Response team (ERT) meeting during the Covid-
19 pandemic.  Each department participates in this monthly meeting to determine if there are any new or changes 
with our actions that need to be implemented or adjusted.  The biggest item tasked with is finding out from the 
State of Indiana’s Health Department how employees at IndyGo would be able to receive the vaccinations as first 
responders.  This is an ongoing item that we continue to pursue.  Additional information will be made in future 
board reports. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
146



December 2020 Safe Drivers Recognition 

     
 

The following Operators are recognized for their safe driving for the month of December and received a National 
Safety Council patch, pin and certificate. 

Operator ID # Years of Safe Driving 

Adkins. Phillip 9164 2 

Bellamy, Shantay 8958 3 

Carter,Deborah 8953 1 

Cooper, McFranklin 9079 3 

Dean, Rena 8860 4 

Gray, Bryan C. 2338 23 

Hankins, Tiona 9069 3 

Harrison, Michael 9575 1 

Hartwell, Geneva 2581 12 

Horst, Martin 9292 2 

Lewis, Adrian 8192 11 

McGhee, Samuel 8482 5 

Moncel, Maryah 9284 2 

Murray, Beth  8218 8 

Norris, Jerome 4405 23 

Reel, Eleanor  8492 6 

Turner, Lashanda 8908 3 

 

December 2020 Fixed Route/Open Door Accident Data 

 
Traffic Accidents Passenger Accidents 

December 2020 

Non-Preventable Preventable Total Non-Preventable Preventable Total 
IPTC Fixed Route 41 15 56 28 0 28 
Mobility Services 1 3 4 1 0 1 
Garage 0 2 2 0 0 0 
Training 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CTC 1 0 1 4 0 4 

 
December 2020 Police Events, EMS Events and Claims Submitted Data 

CTC Police Events 3 Claims for Fixed Route 29 
CTC EMS Events 17 Claims for Mobility Services 3 

147



Operations Police Events 19 Claims for the CTC 1 
Operations EMS Events 13 

 

December 2020 Fixed Route Current Month, Prior Month & Prior Year Comparison 
Data 

Fixed Route Accidents 
 All Traffic 

Accidents 
Preventable Traffic 

Accidents 
All Passenger 

Accidents 
Preventable Passenger 

Accidents 
November 2020 37 15 32 2 
December 2020 56 15 28 0 
December 2019 82 18 50 1 

 

 

 

Mobility Services Accidents 
 All Traffic 

Accidents 
Preventable Traffic 

Accidents 
All Passenger 

Accidents 
Preventable Passenger 

Accidents 
November 2020 1 1 1 1 
December 2020 4 3 1 0 
December 2019 10 8 0 0 

 

 

56

15

28

0

All Traffic Accidents

Preventable Traffic Accidents 

All  Passenger Accidents 

Preventable Passenger Accidents 

December 2020 
Fixed Route
Traffic and 
Passenger 
Accidents

4

3

1
0

All Traffic Accidents

Preventable Traffic Accidents 

All  Passenger Accidents 

 Preventable Passenger Accidents 

December 
2020 

Mobility 
Services 

Traffic and 
Passenger 
Accidents

148



 

Garage Accidents 
 All Accidents Preventable Accidents 
November 2020 2 2 
December 2020 2 2 
December 2019 2 1 

 

 

Training Accidents 
 All Accidents Preventable Accidents 
November 2020 0 0 
December 2020 0 0 
December 2019 0 0 

 

December 2020 Red Line/Route 90 BRT Data 

Red Line Route 90 
Total Reported Incidents 62 
Total Number of Traffic Accidents (TA) 14 
Total Number of Traffic Incidents (TI) 3 
Location where most incidents occurred (Capitol Ave) 21 
Total Number of TA/TI involving Platform/Station 0 
Total Number of TA/TI with Damage to the Coach 12 
Total Center Station Incidents 28 
Total Curb Station Incidents 7 
Collisions involving a vehicle that struck us 8 
Collisions involving us striking them 3 
Total Number of Passenger Accidents (PA) 8 
Total Number of Passenger Incidents (PI) 4 
Number of Falls 8 
Total Number of Other Incidents (Police, EMS, Vandalism, etc.) 32 
Average Incidents per day on Route 90 2.00 

 

 

22
All Accidents

Preventable Accidents 

December 
2020 

Garage 

149



 January 
2020 

February 
2020 

March 
2020 

April 
2020 

May 
2020 

June 
2020 

July 
2020 

August 
2020 

September 
2020 

October 
2020 

November 
2020 

December 
2020 

Total Red Line 
Collisions 

18 19 18 11 16 21 21 31 19 11 9 14 

Total Red Line 
collisions with 
Damage 

18 16 16 7 13 11 11 29 16 10 8 12 

Collisions involving 
a vehicle that 
struck us 

7 9 6 2 5 10 9 14 7 2 3 8 

Collisions involving 
us striking them 

2 2 1 1 3 4 1 3 1 2 1 3 

Collisions, with Bus 
and Station 

4 6 4 2 8 5 2 7 4 6 4 0 

Total Involving 
Center Stations 

22 24 24 12 29 19 29 27 30 29 15 28 

Total Involving 
Curb Side Stations 

12 23 16 5 12 13 7 14 10 10 7 7 

Buses Towed 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 3 1 0 0 1 

 

 

 

End of Report

47 48 49

41

31

18 19 18

11
16

21 21

31

19

11 9
14

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Aug-1
9

Se
p-19

Oct-
19

Nov-1
9

Dec-1
9

Jan
-20

Fe
b-20

Mar-
20

Apr-2
0

May
-20

Jun-20
Jul-2

0

Aug-2
0

Se
p-20

Oct-
20

Nov-2
0

Dec-2
0

Total Red Line Collisions

Total Red Line Collisions, 
14

Total Red Line collisions 
with damage, 12

Collisions involving a 
vehicle that struck us, 8

Collisions involving us 
striking them, 3

Collisions, with Bus and 
Station, 0

Total incidents involving 
Center Stations, 28

Total  incidents involving 
Curb Side Stations, 7

Buses Towed, 1
Total Red Line Collisions

Total Red Line collisions with damage

Collisions involving a vehicle that struck 
us

Collisions involving us striking them

Collisions, with Bus and Station

Total incidents involving Center Stations

Red Line 
Total 

Incidents 
Reported= 

150



 Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 
 

Planning & Capital Projects Divison Report – November/December 2021 
 

To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:    Vice President of Infrastructure, Strategy, and Innovation Jennifery Pyrz 
Date:  January 28, 2021 

 
 
STRATEGIC PLANNING 
 
The Strategic Planning team supports longer-term plans and projects, while underpinning the day-to-day operations of 
the agency. By studying historical patterns and future trends, we help ensure that IndyGo leadership has the data and 
information they need to make decisions today. We help turn ideas into built projects or sustainable solutions. We 
complete much of the agencies’ recordkeeping as it relates to the Title VI program, competitive grant projects, formula 
grant funds, and more.   

Project Development 

Blue Line, NEPA 
 
Prior to establishing the area of potential effect, or APE, for the environmental review process, the Blue Line team is 
conducting a transit-oriented development suitability analysis to determine if a joint-development opportunity (JDO) 
exists. The Strategic Planning team has developed a methodology to identify and screen potential JDO sites, with the 
transit purpose of functioning as a construction lay-down yard.  To stay on schedule, such a determination will need to 
be made by early February 2021. A working session is scheduled for January 22, 2021 to determine a set of sites that we 
will progress into the NEPA phase.   

Blue Line, Zoning for TOD 
 
As part of FTA’s Pilot Program for TOD Planning, IndyGo is partnered with the City of Indianapolis, Department of 
Metropolitan Development, and the Indianapolis Metropolitan Planning Organization (IMPO) to propose changes to the 
local zoning ordinance. We understand that the City Council Office would like to see these changes adopted by late-
March/early-April 2021. This would mean that the Metropolitan Development Commission would have to approve the 
changes in late-February/early-March. Once adopted, the strategic text amendments and protective overlay district will 
better enable and accommodate transit-oriented development and thus protect, enhance, and create complete 
communities across much of Marion County.  

Mobility Concierge Program 
 
IndyGo is the recipient of a FY2020 Accelerating Innovation Mobility (AIM) Challenge Grant, which the agency will use to 
pursue the creation of a full-service Mobility Concierge program capable of facilitating complete trips and easing trip 
payment by brokering mobility trips across modes, payment systems, and transit providers. An RFI was issued to 
determine what existing technologies and platforms are available to assist IndyGo in deploying this service. RFI 
responses have been received and are under review for the purposes of developing one or more future RFPs. 

 

 
151

https://www.transit.dot.gov/TODPilot


ADA Paratransit Next Steps 
 
Strategic Planning staff is supporting Public Affairs and Mobility Services for the ADA Paratransit Next Steps process. 
IndyGo secured a vendor, the McCormick Group, to help develop and then facilitate a meaningful public outreach and 
engagement process. The McCormick Group served as a subconsultant to the KFH Group for the 2020 Paratransit 
Operational Analysis (POA). A task force, which will be used to gain insights and feedback, is being established. Letters 
inviting key stakeholder agencies to nominate a representative to serve on the project task force have been sent.  

Sponsored Rides 
 
The Strategic Planning team continues to collaborate with the Public Affairs, Finance & Accounting, and Legal Services 
divisions to maintain and grow IndyGo’s Sponsored Rides program where students, employees, and/or clients of partner 
organizations can ride IndyGo at little or no direct cost to the riders themselves. The next significant step is the creation 
of the full suite of partnership/program opportunities, including a corporate sponsorship program and a menu of 
options developed in coordination with the Indianapolis Public Transportation Foundation. These efforts are likely to 
begin in earnest once the ticket vending machine (TVM) un-retrofit process has been completed and retail network 
development project is underway.  

Retail Network 
 
IndyGo is in the process of deploying a retail network as part of its new MyKey fare collection system. Once fully 
implemented, this will add retail sales, reloading capabilities, and card registration functionalities at approximately 400 
retail locations in Indianapolis-Marion County. Staff anticipates being able to launch the retail network in Q2 of 2021. In 
the meantime, and while the ticket vending machines are being un-retrofitted, Public Affairs is holding public events 
where customers can obtain MyKey fare media and load transit value directly onto their MyKey fare media.   

Planning Activities 

Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan 
 
Because IndyGo owns, operates, and manages capital assets, and because IndyGo receives federal assistance, we must 
prepare and maintain a transit asset management (TAM) plan. The TAM Plan includes an inventory of our assets, an 
assessment of their condition, and a prioritized list of investments. It is used to support planning, budgeting, and 
communications to internal and external stakeholders. The FTA requires that an agency’s transit asset management plan 
be updated every four years. Strategic Planning is facilitating quarterly meetings of the TAM Team to review the 2018 
TAM Plan and its recommended actions. Two distinct groups of internal staff have been formed to discuss different 
activities: TAM Fleet and TAM Facilities. This review will result in an action plan for the remaining years of the plan. 

North Split Action Plan 
 
Strategic Planning staff continues to support efforts for the North Split, including attending Traffic Management Plan 
meetings and coordinating data analysis. 

Title VI 
 
Staff completed a Title VI site equity analysis for the second Administrative and Operations/Maintenance Facility and 
distributed it to IndyGo staff. Staff is testing its Title VI methodology through an exercise using the October pick, which 
included service changes that did not meet the major service change threshold adopted by the board. Depending on the 
results of the exercise, IndyGo staff may revisit and revise its Title VI methodology.  

 

 

 

 

152



Regional Initiatives/Discussions 

Section 5310 2020 Call for Projects  
 
The 2020 Call for Projects (CFP) closed in late May. Vehicles have been delivered to one of the two subrecipients for 
2020. The delivery of the remaining vehicles is on hold until Midwest can facilitate a recall repair with Ford directly; only 
then will IndyGo accept delivery of these remaining vehicles. 

Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities  
 
As a part of the Urban Allocation Plan conducted by the IMPO, a recommendation is being made to have IndyGo 
administer these funds through a process similar to the existing Section 5310 process. IndyGo staff are investigating the 
next steps in that process, which will likely include contacting FTA to understand best practices and requirements. 

2050 Metropolitan Transportation Plan Update:  
  
The region’s metropolitan transportation plan, the 2050 Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP), is currently being 
updated. The MTP is a federally required planning document that is created and maintained by the Indianapolis 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (IMPO). All regionally significant expansion projects, including fixed-guideway 
transit and new fixed-routes, are required to be included in this fiscally constrained, 30-year plan. IndyGo staff is 
working with the IMPO staff to ensure the transit agency’s projects are reflected in the plan before the deadline of 
January 31, 2021. IndyGo staff have also been engaged in the planning process since early 2020.  

Strategic Planning projects/grants/planning activities that we anticipate providing an update for in future board reports 
include: 

 Blue Line, CIG Program – Project justification criteria for existing land use and economic development in 
response to FTA’s FY 2021 Annual Report on Funding Recommendations 

 Mobility Initiatives – Energy Systems Network (ESN), Toyota Mobility Foundation, and May Mobility to pilot the 
Indy Future Mobility District pilot project beginning in Q1 2021 

 Indianapolis MPO SFY 2025 Call for Projects 
 Section 5310 Project Management Plan 
 Section 5307/5311 Allocation Plan 
 Suburban Transit Planning 

Strategic Planning projects/grants/planning activities that will no longer be updated, as the project is no longer active, 
include: 

 Section 5310 Oversight: Oversight for 2020 has been completed. 
 
ENGINEERING & CONSTRUCTION 
 
Red Line 
 
The Red Line project is substantially complete and open for service. Contractors have completed all punch list items.  

Audible Pedestrian Signals will be added to the Red Line under a separate project, to be bid and funded separately from 
the Red Line. 

Construction of the 6410 N. College charging site is expected to begin this month and be fully operational in late 
February / early March.  

The temporary charging site at 91st and Evergreen is constructed and operational. Once the site at 6410 N. College 
Avenue is operational, this site will no longer be needed. 

At the south end of the Red Line, NEPA documentation for 8925 S. Madison Avenue is completed. Design has begun for 
permanent charging infrastructure and construction is expected to begin in May or June 2021. 

153



Improvements to Transit signal priority (TSP) have been identified and coordination with DPW Operations has occurred 
to implement the improvements. Signal timings were modified along College Avenue and along Meridian Street in 
January 2021. Additionally, Capital Avenue signals are being investigated for potential improvements.  

Purple Line 
 
IndyGo’s design consultant, WSP, is progressing towards final design. Review of the 90% submittal is complete and WSP 
is finalizing 100% design plans with the IndyGo Purple Line Team. The final internal design review meetings will be over-
the-shoulder and held concurrently by discipline to meet the February deadlines for 100% design plans. Our 
construction management team is confirming that previous review comments have been incorporated in this submittal 
as part of the quality control process.  
FTA completed the Risk Workshop in early December. A draft Management Capacity & Capabilities Risk Report was 
issued by the FTA Program Management Oversight Consultant (PMOC) on January 11, 2021. The IndyGo Purple Line 
Team is responding to requests for further information and clarification. Approval to enter final negotiations 
with FTA on the SSGA would be determined after the Readiness Report is issued. It is expected that the final 
Readiness Report will be issued in February 2021, with the concurrent process of developing the Small Starts 
Construction Grant Agreement (SSGA). The SSGA would then be issued in the February – March 2021 
timeframe. Transition of administrations may have an impact on the issuance of the SSGA.   

Blue Line 
 
Staff has begun to coordinate on re-starting the Blue Line project. In addition to NEPA activities and 
consideration of joint development opportunities, coordination with DPW and CEG regarding drainage will 
begin in first quarter of 2021.  
 
Other On-Street Projects 
 
Several other on-street projects, including the Super-Stops project, Rural Street underpass, and bus stops and 
shelter improvements were included in the Marion County Transit Plan and the IndyGo Five-Year Capital Plan.  
The Rural Street underpass project is being re-evaluated. Feasibility of design options is being investigated by 
our on-call engineering consultant Shrewsberry. Shrewsberry will begin this evaluation in January with 
anticipated completion in May 2021. 

A Request for Information (RFI) was released in the Fall of 2020 for Transit Signal Priority (TSP) vendors to 
complete a Proof of Concept (POC) for IndyGo to demonstrate their product for 30 days. Evaluation of 
respondents is underway and POC is anticipated to begin soon. Results of the POC will help to inform TSP 
technology moving forward. 

The Super-Stops project has been bid under a combined project with DPW. DPW has awarded the contract to 
Morphy Construction with a budget of $3.9 million. Construction is anticipated to begin in the Spring of 2021. 
IndyGo will monitor construction in partnership with DPW.  

Super-Stops had applied for a Federal Transit Administration Bus and Bus Facilities grant but was not a 
recipient. NEPA Re-evaluation work will continue for the purposes of remaining eligible for other potential 
grant opportunities.  
 
FACILITY PROJECTS 
 
The facilities team has open task orders/projects with WSP for specialty electrical design and with The Etica Group for 
on-call architectural services. The current on-call contracts were awarded in 2017 and their expiration was extended for 
an additional year to complete open task orders only, with no additional task orders or cost to these current contracts. 
The following tasks remain open under these contracts: 

154



 Electric Bus Charging Facility Upgrades Phase 2 – Under the Electric Bus Fleet Charging Master Plan and Facility 
Upgrades Phase 1 project a master plan was created regarding the parking of buses in the IndyGo garage with 
the anticipation of additional 60’ and 40’ buses. This task order is to update the plan, including DC chargers and 
the required conversions needed, identify the space needs to accommodate parking of the entire IndyGo fleet, 
identify the space needs for the maintenance garage to accommodate the fleet; electric maintenance bays, 
brake bays, etc., and provide recommendations regarding an additional facility.    

 Julia Carson Transit Center Feasibility Charging Study - At the Julia Carson Transit Center, WSP is assisting in 
identifying options for accommodating charging within the existing footprint and in coordination with the 
planned future level-boarding platforms. The results will educate the design of level boarding for the Carson 
Transit Center. Internal discussions regarding how to proceed with design are ongoing.  

 CCTV Camera Improvement Project – This project is managed by Mark Emmons, IndyGo Director of Security & 
Training. The project is currently under construction with Miller-Eads, Prime Contractor. 

Also, under these contracts, glass enclosures and barriers have been installed for staff at the Carson Transit Center, 
South Security, North Security, IT, Operations Admin, Security and throughout Administrative area.  

New On-Call Architectural and Engineering (A&E) Services contracts were presented to the IndyGo Board at the June 
2020 Board Meeting.  

On the roadway side, the first task order has been issued to the Lochmueller Group for design of Fort Wayne Ave. two-
way conversion (Pennsylvania St. to Delaware St.) in collaboration with DPW.  

The following properties have been acquired by IndyGo and will be our team’s responsibility to prepare for use: 

 9503 East 33rd Street - East Campus (Administration, Training, New Build of Bus Garage Facility). Four Phases of 
Work: A Building Administrative, B Building Elevator and Training, C Building Retrofit and Clinic, C Building Dorms 
Demolition and new build of Bus Garage and Exterior Improvements. 

 2425 West Michigan (Mobility Solutions and Customer Care Center) - Three Phases of Work: Phase 1 – 
Administration, installation of fire sprinkler system, upgrade water main line, installation of lift and small 
renovations. Phase 2 – Assessment Center and Maintenance buildouts. Phase 3 – Build of new Bus Storage and 
site work. 

 6410 N College (Bus Charging and Driver layover location) - Add additional bathroom and create a space for 
drivers’ and a space for multi-use. 

 8925 Madison – Bus Charging and Driver layover location (purchase pending) Retrofit to accommodate drivers 
and multi-use space. 

The On-Call A&E contracted firms for design will soon begin working on design plans for renovations / construction at 
our new facilities. Task Orders for these designs will be presented to the Board for approval over the next couple of 
months. HDR was previously given a task order for property inspections for the following properties: 2425 W Michigan 
Street, 9050 E 33rd Street and 9503 E 33rd Street. HDR, Woolpert and The Etica Group are the consultants currently under 
contract for on-call A&E services and will be considered for all task orders on the new facilities. 

Finally, we are happy to welcome Laura Barton to the team as the new Facility Capital Project Manager.  Laura has 
worked with the Indianapolis Zoo and Indiana State Fairgrounds and brings a great deal of experience in construction 
and facility management to our team. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  
Jennifer Pyrz, PE 
Vice President of Infrastructure, Strategy, and Innovation

155



 Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Public Affairs Division Report –  2020 

To: Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:  
Date:  

CONSIDERATION OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS REPORT FOR  

ISSUE: 
A report of IndyGo Public Affairs will be presented at the board meeting. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

 

Attachments 

Contributing Staff includes: 
Jordan Patterson, Engagement Specialist 
Faith Chadwick, Public Information Officer 
Katrina Ent, Digital Media Specialist 

156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Operations Division Report – December 2020 
 

To:    Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:    Chief Operating Officer/Vice President of Operations Aaron Vogel 
Date:  January 28, 2021 

 
 

OPERATIONS DIVISION REPORT – December 2020 
 
SERVICE PLANNING 
 
SERVICE SCHEDULING: 

Staff has completed work on the service Bid effective February 14,2021.  There are no major changes in this 
Bid but there are trip timing adjustments.  This Bid will be the first one IndyGo has with 8-hour rostered runs 
included.  There is a mix of work for operators to pick from that are the current cafeteria style and roster style 
which is a pilot included in the new CBA effective in 2021.  This Bid has 50% of the work cafeteria style, 25% 
10-runs rostered, and 25% of work 8-hour rosters.  Rostering the work is a method of balancing out work.  It 
can maintain choice work for operators with seniority and address quality of life issues for those who have less 
seniority. 

 

LOCAL BUS STOP DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION: 

Service Planning is closing out the first phase of local bus stop improvements, while also finalizing designs for 
future phases of local bus stop improvements. Designs for bus stop improvements at Washington St & 
Bridgeport Rd (for the connection to the Plainfield Connector bus service) are nearing completion. This 
improvement will be completed in partnership with CIRTA, the Indianapolis Airport Authority, and Plainfield. 
Additional bus stop improvement designs are also being finalized for bus stops along E 42nd St, N Post Rd, and 
N Mitthoeffer Rd on the east side. Staff will continue to work on additional design and construction of local 
bus stops, as part of efforts to increase accessibility across the IndyGo fixed route service area. 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

166



FIXED ROUTE RIDERSHIP: 
 

Nov-19 Nov-20 
 % 

Change  IndyGo Fixed Route Ridership 2019 2020  % Change  

12,645 6,445 -49.0%   2 E. 34th St. 166,265 93,217 -43.9% 
30,112 14,742 -51.0%   3 Michigan St. 362,750 203,177 -44.0% 

10,982 4,925 -55.2%   4 Fort Harrison 132,151 73,829 -44.1% 

13,806 7,401 -46.4%   5 E. 25th 184,462 107,973 -41.5% 

11,007 4,958 -55.0%   6 N. Harding 126,351 72,107 -42.9% 

121,227 73,913 -39.0%   8 Washington St. 1,458,784 1,006,734 -31.0% 

80,603 45,080 -44.1%   10 10th St. 980,956 632,790 -35.5% 

4,342 2,181 -49.8%   11 E. 16th St. 42,105 32,058 -23.9% 

4,211 1,851 -56.0%   12 Minnesota 44,911 24,574 -45.3% 

2,143 1,337 -37.6%   13 Raymond 33,074 17,098 -48.3% 

5,751 3,448 -40.0%   14 Prospect 93,892 48,111 -48.8% 

14,576 7,327 -49.7%   15 Riverside 185,005 100,235 -45.8% 

10,462 6,409 -38.7%   16 Beech Grove 121,617 89,207 -26.6% 

        17 College 155,197     

6,526 3,217 -50.7%   18 Nora 111,108 43,617 -60.7% 

22,118 11,686 -47.2%   19 Castleton 347,117 160,922 -53.6% 

14,107 7,929 -43.8%   21 East 21st St. 148,975 110,195 -26.0% 

        22 Shelby 72,459     

11,584 8,464 -26.9%   24 Mars Hill 120,731 96,182 -20.3% 

12,232 7,205 -41.1%   25 W. 16th St. 139,631 95,275 -31.8% 

16,181 9,120 -43.6%   26 Keystone 161,504 121,745 -24.6% 

10,435 5,543 -46.9%   28 St. Vincent 140,942 80,749 -42.7% 

8,096 3,337 -58.8%   30 30th St. 92,823 53,961 -41.9% 

11,191 5,888 -47.4%   31 Greenwood 235,642 79,519 -66.3% 

24,687 14,067 -43.0%   34 Michigan Rd. 298,599 186,570 -37.5% 

31,779 18,225 -42.7%   37 Park 100 393,784 231,128 -41.3% 

18,349 10,898 -40.6%   38 Lafayette Square 275,817 147,635 -46.5% 

71,534 39,836 -44.3%   39 E. 38th St. 1,003,320 550,866 -45.1% 
5,229 2,595 -50.4%   55 English 48,259 35,447 -26.5% 

10,895 6,309 -42.1%   86 86th Street Crosstown 105,452 77,743 -26.3% 
11,155 6,853 -38.6%   87 Eastside Circulator 125,918 81,948 -34.9% 

179,757 64,423 -64.2%   90 Red Line - BRT 633,367 854,490 34.9% 
  944     901 College - Local   10,690   
  4,633     902 County Line - Local   53,059   

518 23 -95.6%   Others 3,559 830 -76.7% 

788,240 411,212 -47.8% Total 8,546,527 5,573,681 -34.8% 
 

167



Dec-19 Dec-20 
 % 

Change  IndyGo Fixed Route Ridership 2019 2020  % Change  

11,973 6,097 -49.1%   2 E. 34th St. 178,238 93,217 -47.7% 

27,748 14,091 -49.2%   3 Michigan St. 390,498 203,177 -48.0% 

10,302 4,614 -55.2%   4 Fort Harrison 142,453 73,829 -48.2% 

13,161 7,590 -42.3%   5 E. 25th 197,623 107,973 -45.4% 

10,492 4,893 -53.4%   6 N. Harding 136,843 72,107 -47.3% 

111,754 71,162 -36.3%   8 Washington St. 1,570,538 1,006,734 -35.9% 

72,902 42,941 -41.1%   10 10th St. 1,053,858 632,793 -40.0% 

4,124 2,122 -48.5%   11 E. 16th St. 46,229 32,058 -30.7% 

3,043 1,843 -39.4%   12 Minnesota 47,954 24,574 -48.8% 

2,221 1,241 -44.1%   13 Raymond 35,295 17,098 -51.6% 

6,457 3,391 -47.5%   14 Prospect 100,349 48,111 -52.1% 

14,486 6,811 -53.0%   15 Riverside 199,491 100,235 -49.8% 

10,509 6,344 -39.6%   16 Beech Grove 132,126 89,207 -32.5% 

        17 College 155,197     

6,429 2,756 -57.1%   18 Nora 117,537 43,617 -62.9% 

21,548 11,561 -46.3%   19 Castleton 368,665 160,924 -56.3% 

13,228 8,276 -37.4%   21 East 21st St. 162,203 110,195 -32.1% 

        22 Shelby 72,459     

10,297 8,478 -17.7%   24 Mars Hill 131,028 96,182 -26.6% 

11,002 6,879 -37.5%   25 W. 16th St. 150,633 95,275 -36.8% 

14,828 8,572 -42.2%   26 Keystone 176,332 121,745 -31.0% 

10,401 5,635 -45.8%   28 St. Vincent 151,343 80,749 -46.6% 

7,112 3,032 -57.4%   30 30th St. 99,935 53,961 -46.0% 

10,826 5,313 -50.9%   31 Greenwood 246,468 79,519 -67.7% 

23,445 13,461 -42.6%   34 Michigan Rd. 322,044 186,570 -42.1% 

29,591 17,478 -40.9%   37 Park 100 423,375 231,129 -45.4% 

16,760 10,726 -36.0%   38 Lafayette Square 292,577 147,635 -49.5% 

67,562 37,694 -44.2%   39 E. 38th St. 1,070,882 550,873 -48.6% 
4,683 2,567 -45.2%   55 English 52,942 35,447 -33.0% 
9,815 6,193 -36.9%   86 86th Street Crosstown 115,267 77,745 -32.6% 

10,281 6,202 -39.7%   87 Eastside Circulator 136,199 81,948 -39.8% 
130,015 61,919 -52.4%   90 Red Line - BRT 763,382 916,409 20.0% 

  816     901 College - Local   11,506   
  4,371     902 County Line - Local   57,430   

1,333 19 -98.6%   Others 4,892 830 -83.0% 

698,328 395,088 -43.4% Total 9,244,855 5,640,802 -39.0% 

168



TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 
 
EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION: 
 
November Employee of the Month: 
Operator: Deatra Bellamy 
Nominated by Supervisor Charles Cummins. Deatra is knowledgeable, dependable, and always helpful. She has 
a positive attitude and is a resource for the other dispatchers. Deatra is easy to communicate with especially 
when trying to figure out tough situations that may happen on the streets/routes.  
 
December Employee of the Month: 
Operator: Adrian Lewis 
Nominated by Supervisor Jessica Hoffman. Adrian never gets in trouble. He does not have any attendance 
events or preventable accidents. He always shows up on-time to work with a great attitude.  
                        
 
 
90% Club: The following operators achieved an on-time performance rating of 90% or better during the 
months of November and December.  Each name is entered into a drawing that is held each month from this 
group of Operators. The winner receives an extra personal day.  
  
 
The winner for the month of November is Tamanika Morrow  
 

Amaya, Efrain 
Anderson, Treva 
Arnold, Mikaiah 
Bellamy, Shantay 
Brent, Shanta 
Brooks, Ronnie 
Burnaugh, Pierre 
Burton, Ron 
Byrd, Kim 
Carroll, Cindy 
Carroll, Lashanda 
Carroll, Lashona 
Clark, Keana 
Clark, Shawn 
Clay, David 
Comer, Rachel 
Dates, James 
Davis, Chris sean 
Doneeka, Terry 
Dubose, Phillip 
Dugan, Otha 
Duncan, Scott 

Ellison, Donald 
England, William 
Ervin, Mathew 
Freeman, Mancie 
Gardner, Onesha 
Gee, Lloyd 
Goodrich, Steven 
Goudiaby, 
Mamadou 
Grant, Mary 
Green, Nichelle 
Harrell, Douglas 
Harrison, Michael 
Hazen, William 
Hicks, Mikia 
Hinton, Lacretia 
Hopson, David 
Horst, Martin 
Houston, Floyd 
Hughes, Marilyn 
John, Redmond 
Jones, Darrell 

Jumba, Charles 
King, Kathy 
King, Nakia 
Kingra, Jaswaran 
Lewis, Adrian 
Lewis, Eugene 
Lewis, Terrill 
Mance, Anthony 
Maring, Rebecca 
Marzett, David 
Mcleod, Timothy 
Miller, Jennifer 
Monaughan, Joe 
Morrow, Tamanika 
Moss, Shapaul 
Norris, Jerome 
Paige, Robert 
Roberson, Ashley 
Robertson, Wesley 
Robinson, Deborah 
Rowie, Robert 
Smith, Gabriel 

Snow, Anthony 
Stanford, Ashley 
SturdevantNewell, 
Deborah 
Sweatt, Melvina 
Thein, Stephen 
Thompson, 
Donesha 
Watts, Rhonda 
Wellington, Corene 
White, Desmond 
Williams, Andre 
Williams, Diana 
Williams, Mary 
Wills, Mark 
Wilson, William 
Winfield, Michael 
Wyatt, Darren 
Young, Samuel

 
 
 

169



 
The winner for the month of December is Timothy Mcleod  
 
Amaya, Efrain 
Anderson, Treva 
Arnold, Mikaiah 
Bellamy, Shantay 
Brent, Shanta 
Brooks, Ronnie 
Burnaugh, Pierre 
Burton, Ron 
Byrd, Kim 
Carroll, Cindy 
Carroll, Lashanda 
Carroll, Lashona 
Clark, Keana 
Clark, Shawn 
Clay, David 
Comer, Rachel 
Dates, James 
Davis, Chris sean 
Doneeka, Terry 
Dubose, Phillip 
Dugan, Otha 
Duncan, Scott 

Ellison, Donald 
England, William 
Ervin, Mathew 
Freeman, Mancie 
Gardner, Onesha 
Gee, Lloyd 
Goodrich, Steven 
Goudiaby, 
Mamadou 
Grant, Mary 
Green, Nichelle 
Harrell, Douglas 
Harrison, Michael 
Hazen, William 
Hicks, Mikia 
Hinton, Lacretia 
Hopson, David 
Horst, Martin 
Houston, Floyd 
Hughes, Marilyn 
John, Redmond 
Jones, Darrell 

Jumba, Charles 
King, Kathy 
King, Nakia 
Kingra, Jaswaran 
Lewis, Adrian 
Lewis, Eugene 
Lewis, Terrill 
Mance, Anthony 
Maring, Rebecca 
Marzett, David 
Mcleod, Timothy 
Miller, Jennifer 
Monaughan, Joe 
Morrow, 
Tamanika 
Moss, Shapaul 
Norris, Jerome 
Paige, Robert 
Roberson, Ashley 
Robertson, Wesley 
Robinson, 
Deborah 

Rowie, Robert 
Smith, Gabriel 
Snow, Anthony 
Stanford, Ashley 
SturdevantNewell, 
Deborah 
Sweatt, Melvina 
Thein, Stephen 
Thompson, 
Donesha 
Watts, Rhonda 
Wellington, 
Corene 
White, Desmond 
Williams, Andre 
Williams, Diana 
Williams, Mary 
Wills, Mark 
Wilson, William 
Winfield, Michael 
Wyatt, Darren 
Young, Samuel 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

77% 76%
81%

85% 84% 84% 83% 83% 83% 84% 86% 86%

74%
70%

78%
82% 80%

75% 75% 75% 75% 73%
76%

80%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

Fixed BRT

On Time Performance 2020

170



 
COMMENDATIONS: 
 
The following employees were recognized by riders for their extraordinary customer service: 
 
Fixed (3)   

 Christen Sanders   
 Lori Beach   
 Nichelle Green   

Mobility Services (1)   

 Earl Scott  852308 

 

171



 

 
 
 
 

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & FACILITY SERVICES 

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE: 
The maintenance department has been recording the mean distance between road failures to the National Transit 
Database (NTD). As Maintenance improves the predictive maintenance program, the distance between failures should 
also increase. The chart below shows the distance between failures from January 2018 through current.  Each month will 
be compared to the prior month as a reporting standard to Maintenance to validate the predictive maintenance 
program. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

109 101

45
28 18

37 40 32 29
46

30

94

34

81
78

66

34
32

41
68

48 50

64

50

91

34

53
42

22

11
13

43

43

46
34

29

29

41

23

103

99

62

18 28

52

55

37

28

29

19

133

19

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2020
Jan

2020
Feb

2020
Mar

2020
Apr

2020
May

2020
Jun

2020
Jul

2020
Aug

2020
Sep

2020
Oct

2020
Nov

2019
Dec

2020

COU PAS SAF SCH

Rider Comments 2020

172



 
Mean Distance 

 

  2020/1 2020/2 2020/3 2020/4 2020/5 2020/6 2020/7 2020/8 2020/9 2020/10 2020/11 2020/12 

MAJOR   5,506    5,506    5,506    5,506    5,506  7,973  7,682  6,456  5040  5249  5059  4238 

ALL   4,307    4,307    4,307    4,307    4,307   6,816  5,278  2,531 3319  3505  4826  4057 

  2019/1 2019/2 2019/3 2019/4 2019/5 2019/6 2019/7 2019/8 2019/9 2019/10 2019/11 2019/12 

MAJOR   6,052    4,392    5,342    6,238    5,506    5,506    5,506    5,506    5,506       5,506       5,506       5,506  

ALL   4,312    3,618    4,474    4,822    4,307    4,307    4,307    4,307    4,307       4,307       4,307       4,307  

  2018/1 2018/2 2018/3 2018/4 2018/5 2018/6 2018/7 2018/8 2018/9 2018/10 2018/11 2018/12 

MAJOR   5,834    9,585    6,907    5,745    4,269    7,070    6,655    8,202    7,049       6,330       5,496       7,000  

ALL   4,805    7,465    5,708    5,359    4,615    5,730    4,979    6,062    5,258       5,333       4,389       4,895  

*The green cells represent averaged totals 

FLEET SERVICES: 
 

IPTC has logged 9,979,733 miles YTD 

 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL 

2020 878,363 875,068 917,660 705,903 701,773 865,561 888,720 866,798 844,969 850,663 767,009 817,246 9,979,733 

2019 707,466 646,619 667,992 711,337 724,427 701,634 720,062 755,738 858,397 910,054 852,192 871,539 9,127,457 

2018 727,094 711,683 794,958 665,856 694,173 697,882 707,050 733,567 684,009 737,985 691,012 690,486 8,535,755 

2017 605,993 574,706 655,652 626,211 647,575 674,175 671,980 721,481 681,961 737,269 730,269 736,784 8,064,056 

 
 
FACILITY SERVICES: 
 
The electrostatic spray disinfecting sanitizing of all three buildings interiors remains a priority. The main focus is on the 
building interiors is high traffic areas and all common areas throughout the week and all cubicles, offices and hallways 
three times per week. The vendors also perform spray misting/disinfecting sanitizing of the bus fleet, and SUVs, and 
motor pool vehicles. Additionally, a was vendor contracted to work at the Carson Transit Center to wipe down and 
disinfect bus handrails, seats, driver’s area, etc. while the buses are there to drop off and pick up passengers. 
 
The Facility department was able to collect and recycle 81.7 tons of metal valued at $9,728.05.  
 

Mean Distance Major Systems Failures 
Mean Distance Between All Systems Failures 

173



 
 
 
The 4,300 solar panel array on the roof at 1501 building continues to produce enough electrical power to 
charge all ZEPS buses with the additional power being absorbed into the electrical system of the main building. 
There is less power being consumed as the days get shorter.  
 
Total cost savings YTD is  $76,433.20 
 

 
 
 

 

15

65

115

165

215

265

315

365

415

465

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

Bus Stop Signs Removed

Bus Stop Signs Installed

Shelter Glass Installed

Hand Wash Shelters

BIOs

Shelters Power Washed   **418

Total Trash

Total Swept

Total Inspected                  
**3344

Facility Maintence 

25
.9

9 33
.1

3 44
.7

1

12
2.

41

96
.0

3 10
2.

51

88
.0

8

94
.0

6 10
4.

23

39
.8

5

33
.4

4

20
.1

2

33
.1

7

42
.4

2 67
.7

8 87
.1

7

91
.1

7

11
9.

85

12
2.

45

99
.7

9

83
.9

3

46
.3

0

19
.3

2

22
.5

7

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC

2020 MWh 2019 MWh

Solar Panel System Usage 

174



Security & Training 

TRAINING: 
The chart below shows the number of Trainee A and Trainee B students that started each class.  It will also 
show the number of students in each group that graduated.  To help promote social distancing, IndyGo is only 
having class sizes of 12 or less currently. 
 

 
 

 
 

The charts below show the number of students that took the State CDL test per class.  It is further broken 
down into the number of students that passed on either the first, second or third attempt or failed the test.  
The second graph shows the results of all CDL testing since IndyGo started training employees to obtain their 
CDL in-house. 
 

 
 

 

18

14

22

5

10

5

19

7

10

2

8

2

14

11

16

4

7

4

14

6

9

0

4

2

0

5

10

15

20

25

#19-11 A B #20-01 A B #20-02 A B #20-03 A B A
#20-
04

B A
#20-
05

B

Started Class Graduated Class

Class Information by Student Type

0

5

10

15

20

25

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

1ST ATTEMPT 2ND ATTEMPT 3RD ATTEMPT FAILED

CDL Testing Statistics by Class Number

175



 
 

 
The IndyGo Training Department started class, #20-05, on September 8, 2020.  This class started with 12 students.  The 
class has completed all portions of the training and six (6) of the twelve (12) students, that started the program, 
graduated on November 6, 2020.  They were transferred to the Operations Department on Sunday, November 8, 2020. 
 
Mark Emmons, Director of Life Safety, Security, and Training attended the monthly Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
call that is conducted by the Indianapolis Metropolitan Police Department, Department of Homeland Security.  This call 
brings leaders from different agencies together to discuss the most recent information on COVID in Marion County and 
the surrounding counties.  In November there was talk on the number of positive cases and fatalities due to COVID.  The 
meeting in December discussed the information on the vaccines and COVID case numbers in Marion County and in 
Indiana.  It was noted that in the January meeting there may be more information on when the group B1 would be able 
to start getting the vaccine and this group should include IndyGo employees. 
 
Training Supervisor, Anthony Hurd, continues to conduct Safety Leadership Training for IndyGo management team 
members.  This course will aid in developing a safety conscience culture in the daily duties for everyone from Directors 
to Transportation Supervisors.  The class consists of 3 half days with a final test on the last day.  The participate must 
score an 80% or higher to pass.  For the month of November and December, Mr. Hurd was able instruct 30 members of 
the leadership staff on this program.  From the onset of the training 74 leaders have completed the program. 
 
In December, IndyGo staff performed the quarterly fire drills for both 1501 W Washington St and 201 E Washington St.  
Both locations had successful drills and all employees responded appropriately.  For any issues that were found they 
were reported in the hot wash that took place after the drills.  That information was passed on to the appropriate 
Department Head to address the issues.  Staff will be conducting its next quarterly drill sometime in Q1 of 2021.   
 
The following training sessions were conducted in November: 

- Twenty (20) operators for accident retrains 
- One (1) operator for customer service training 
- Eleven (11) operators for return-to-work training 
- Five (5) new Administrative employees who reported for new hire orientation 
- One (1) new General Laborer for new hire orientation 
- Two (2) fixed route employees for return to work 
- Thirty-one (31) ride evaluations on operators who have either returned to the Training Department for 

preventable accidents, customer service comments, were probationary employees or random operators as a 
support system for them while they are in the field. 

 
 

208
 83%

31
 12%

10
 4%

2
 1%

First Attempt Second Attempt Third Attempt Failed

Results of CDL Testing Since Inspection

176



The following training sessions were conducted in December: 
- Nineteen (19) operators for accident retrains 
- One (1) operator for customer service training 
- Five (5) operators for return-to-work training 
- Five (5) new Administrative employees for new-hire orientation training 
- Two (2) new Defect Mechanics for new-hire orientation training 
- One (1) new General Laborer for new-hire orientation training  

 
SECURITY: 

 

 

 

1,468
797

1,734
1,1871,275 866

Operator Contacts Passenger Contacts

Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20

Transit Officer - Patrol Activity

Downtown Details

Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20

Transit Officer - Patrol Activity

160 120

Ride Checks

Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20

Transit Officer - Patrol Activity

0 0 0

Arrests

Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20

Transit Officer -  
Patrol Activity

177



 
 
The chart above shows a breakdown of activates that the Law Enforcement Officers (LEO), that are stationed 
at the Julian M. Carson Transit Center, performed, or addressed for the last three months.  
 
 
FARE INSPECTION REPORT: 
 

 
 

  

3

4 4

1 1 11

2

5

11

7

1

2

Medical 
Incidents

Disturbance Alcohol 
Incidents

Trespass Accidents Panhandling Narcotics 
Related

Passenger 
Assist

Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20

LEO Activites Reported

14582 18401 12877

0

3972 6221 2817 3278 3737 5321 5419 5430

902 902 814

0

355 480
254

406 382 848 568 521

705 606 512

0

497 657 554 410 380 581 522 528

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Jan
-20

Fe
b-20

Mar-
20

Apr-2
0

May
-20

Jun-20
Jul-2

0

Aug-2
0

Se
p-20

Oct-
20

Nov-2
0

Dec-2
0

Valid Fares Citations Issued Education Provided

Fare Inspection

178



 
 
 

December Passenger Contact Notifications Educations 

Monthly 5430 521 528 

Weekday 4512 431 431 
Saturday 601 55 62 

Sunday 317 35 35 
 

Total for 2020 Passenger Contact Notifications Educations 

Monthly 81604 6384 5786 

Weekday 64468 5044 4638 

Saturday 10825 799 650 

Sunday 6311 541 498 
 
 
The information above shows the fare inspection information for each month and one for the total year of 
2020.  The chart will show passenger contacts which represent those passengers that had a fare when 
checked.  It will show notifications which represent passengers that did not have a fare when checked and did 
not/would not purchase a valid fare.  Lastly, it will show educations which represent passengers that did not 
have a fare when checked but after being show the proper procedures, purchased a valid fare.  All those 
number together count for the total number of checks each month. 
 

 

MOBILITY SERVICES  

CONTACT CENTER REPORT: 
 
COVID-19/Ridership:  
 
Ridership has decreased from 2019 to 2020 due to COVID-19.  Ridership in November 2019 data reflects 
22,666 unlinked passenger trips and for November 2020 data reflects 11,968 unlinked passenger trips, a 
decrease of 47.2% YOY. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November Passenger Contact Notifications Educations 
Monthly 5419 568 522 
Weekday 4158 446 402 
Saturday 666 55 50 
Sunday 595 67 70 

179



Ridership in December 2019 data reflects 22,956 unlinked passenger trips and for December 2020 data 
reflects 11,400 unlinked passenger trips, a decrease of -50.3% YOY. 
 

19-Nov 20-Nov 
% 

Change  Mobility Services 2019 2020 % Change  

25,718 14,669 -42.9% 
Open Door Riders on Fixed 
Route 319,181 161,397 -49.4% 

22,666 11,968 -47.2% Open Door 259,330 143,623 -44.6% 

3,223 1373 -57.4% Open Door Taxi Vouchers 37,520 14,559 -49.5% 

10,032 1160 -88.4% 31 Day S-Pass 106,693 31,050 -70.9% 

 

 

 

19-Dec 20-Dec 
% 

Change  Mobility Services 2019 2020 % Change  

23,671 13,685 -42.2% 
Open Door Riders on Fixed 
Route 342,852 192,950 -43.7% 

22,956 11,400 -50.3% Open Door 282,286 168,899 -40.2% 

3,329 1205 -57.4% Open Door Taxi Vouchers 46,406 15,764 -66.0% 

8,495 935 -89.0% 31 Day S-Pass 115,148 31,988 -72.2% 
 

On Time Performance for November 2019 was 90.87% with Productivity of 1.37%.  November 2020 OTP was 
82.12% and Productivity was 1.61% both reflect a decrease of 9.63% and an increase of 17.52% respectively 
YOY.   
 
On Time Performance for December 2019 was 90.29% with Productivity of 1.34%.  December 2020 OTP was 
89.0% and Productivity was 1.75% both reflect a decrease of 1.43% and an increase of 30.6% respectively YOY.   
 
Mobility Services team continues to perform daily monitoring on-site visits and discussions regarding a 
proactive outlook for the current/next day’s service. IPTC staff also collaborates with Transdev staff to 
continually monitor On Time Performance as well as mitigate any immediate and future impacts to service. 

180



 
 
 
 

 

Hawkeye Health (Assessment & Eligibility: Assesses a person’s eligibility based on the functional ability to 
board, disembark, and access transportation in accordance with ADA criteria. This requires providing 
functional evaluations within regulatory parameters for state, and federal entities using a wide range of 
medical conditions and their impact on functional capabilities. 

 

  

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
OTP 90.26 91.41 90.51 99.08 98.91 97.07 95.57 93.2 90.05 89.56 82.12 88.22

90.26 91.41 90.51
99.08 98.91 97.07 95.57 93.2 90.05 89.56

82.12
88.22

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

On Time Performance Goal 93%

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
Productivity 1.36 1.44 1.25 0.86 0.91 1.11 1.27 1.34 1.4 1.39 1.61 1.75

1.36 1.44
1.25

0.86 0.91
1.11

1.27 1.34 1.4 1.39
1.61

1.75

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2

Productivity/PPH

181



2019  2020 

  New Renew Approved New 
Denied 

Renew 
Denied Visitors 

 
  New Renew Approved New 

Denied 
Renew 
Denied Visitors 

JAN 56 27 74 4 5 1  JAN 68 51 115 3 1 2 
FEB 62 46 100 4 4 1  FEB 50 45 95 0 0 0 
MAR 86 50 133 2 1 0  MAR 77 61 138 0 0 1 
APR 72 69 139 1 1 2  APR 19 28 47 0 0 0 
MAY 64 47 109 0 2 1  MAY 17 33 49 0 1 0 

JUNE 69 51 118 2 0 1 
 

JUN
E 22 68 84 0 6 0 

JULY 87 43 128 1 1 3  JULY 18 39 57 0 0 1 
AUG 66 44 109 1 0 0  AUG 22 62 83 0 1 0 
SEPT 82 50 130 1 1 1  SEPT 23 44 66 0 1 0 
OCT 76 69 144 0 1 0  OCT 40 43 83 0 0 0 
NOV 60 60 116 2 2 1  NOV 28 37 65 0 0 0 
DEC 58 41 96 1 2 4  DEC 25 27 52 0 0 1 
Total 828 597 1396 19 20 15  Total 409 538 934 3 10 5 

                 
  

NEW 
UNCON

D 

NEW 
COND NEW TEMP RENEW 

UNCOND 
RENEW 
COND 

RENEW 
TEMP 

   

NEW 
UNCOND 

NEW 
COND 

NEW 
TEMP 

RENEW 
UNCOND 

RENEW 
COND 

RENEW 
TEMP 

JAN 52 0 0 22 0 0  JAN 63 2 0 46 4 0 
FEB 58 0 0 42 0 0  FEB 50 0 0 43 2 0 
MAR 84 0 0 49 1 0  MAR 52 1 24 48 0 13 
APR 71 0 0 68 0 0  APR 6 0 13 19 0 9 
MAY 64 0 0 45 0 0  MAY 9 1 7 21 4 7 

JUNE 68 0 0 49 1 0 
 

JUN
E 14 8 0 47 14 1 

JULY 86 0 0 42 0 0  JULY 17 1 0 38 1 0 
AUG 65 0 0 44 0 0  AUG 21 0 1 56 5 0 
SEPT 81 0 0 49 0 0  SEPT 22 1 0 42 1 0 
OCT 76 0 0 68 0 0  OCT 40 0 0 41 2 0 
NOV 56 2 0 57 1 0  NOV 28 0 0 36 1 0 
DEC 56 1 0 38 1 0  DEC 24 0 1 27 0 0 

 817 3 0 573 4 0   346 14 46 464 34 30 
 

Voucher Program: Mobility Services offers a Lottery Program and a Dialysis program.  Both programs are open 
to eligible Open-Door customers. As with all programs, IndyGo maintains the right to augment the Voucher 
programs. 

 

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
Dialysis 975 918 837 817 715 762 817 754 956 841 743 938
Lottery 1190 1135 920 590 660 620 740 730 740 750 630 821

975 918
837 817

715 762 817 754

956
841

743

938

1190 1135

920

590 660 620
740 730 740 750

630

821

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Dialysis Lottery

Taxi Vouchers Purchased
 2018-2020

182



 

 

WEX Fuel Card Program: The WEX Tax Exemption and Reporting Program has significantly reduced accounting 
and administrative time for qualified fleets exempt from motor fuel excise taxes or certain sales taxes at 
Federal, state, county, or local levels.  

November 2020 savings from fuel excise taxes were $5,486.54 (Fed Taxes = $4,059.63 and State Taxes = 
$1,426.91.) December 2020 savings from fuel excise taxes were $5,395.03 (Fed Taxes = $3,783.58 and State 
Taxes = $1,611.45.) 
 
Total annual savings is $81,771.03 

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
Series1 918 824 847 833 655 728 1071 791 860 920 918 590
Series2 1135 875 980 627 745 684 617 667 697 724 1135 615

918
824 847 833

655
728

1071

791
860

920 918

590

1135

875
980

627
745

684
617

667 697 724

1135

615

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Series1 Series2

Taxi Vouchers Redeemed 2020

183



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

Human Resources Division Report – November/December 2020 
 

To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:    Vice President of Human Resources Jeffrey M. Brown 
Date:  January 28, 2021 

 
 

CONSIDERATION OF HUMAN RESOURCES REPORT FOR NOVEMBER/DECEMBER 2020 

ISSUE:  
A written report of Human Resources information that will be presented at the Board meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    
Receive Human Resources report. 
 

Human Resources Report 
 

A. COVID-19 Vaccine Now Available 
 
Human Resources is very pleased to announce that Professional Coach Operators and other IndyGo frontline 
workers are now eligible to receive the COVID-19 Vaccine.  On January 13, 2021, Human Resources notified the 
IndyGo community of this important development and provided guidance on how to register for this 
opportunity to receive the COVID-19 Vaccine.  In order to receive the COVID-19 vaccination, IndyGo Professional 
Coach Operators and other IndyGo frontline workers must first register on the State of Indiana’s website at 
https://scheduling.coronavirus.in.gov/vaccine to schedule an appointment.  Human Resources has also set up 
a new e-mail line for employees to use if they have questions or need assistance with vaccine process.  
Employees who have questions or need assistance are encouraged to contact Human Resources at (317) 614-
9209 or via e-mail at vaccine@indygo.net.  To maximize employee registration, IndyGo employees who obtain 
the vaccination within 90 days will be eligible for prizes that include gift vouchers, personal days, lunch with the 
CEO and more.   
 
Prior to the availability of vaccines, on December 28, 2020, IndyGo also wrote to Governor Eric Holcomb 
requesting inclusion of Professional Coach Operators and its other frontline workers for IndyGo in Phase 1b of 
the Phased Allocation of the COVID-19 Vaccines.  Indeed, front-line health care workers and residents of long-
term care facilities take priority and should receive the very first doses of the COVID-19 vaccine.  But IndyGo 
Professional Coach Operators and its other frontline employees (i.e., mechanics, transportation supervisors and 
managers, and other IndyGo staff who work in the field)  have been invaluable and at the forefront of the fight 
against COVID-19. 
 

 
 
 

184

https://nam04.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flnks.gd%2Fl%2FeyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDAsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMTAxMDQuMzI3Njg3NTEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3NjaGVkdWxpbmcuY29yb25hdmlydXMuaW4uZ292L3ZhY2NpbmU_dXRtX21lZGl1bT1lbWFpbCZ1dG1fc291cmNlPWdvdmRlbGl2ZXJ5In0.EH63V59-C3El4-ymkJtRlOsTpYrCQ96AYp4pH9DzpcU%2Fs%2F823208691%2Fbr%2F92616345249-l&data=04%7C01%7Cmemmons%40indygo.net%7C13dac18bef5046b5560408d8b71d1dd2%7C91432fa73c4947bfaecd8f244295ad47%7C0%7C0%7C637460682972487085%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=nOEYc6Cdnqq%2FT2khHJfuPROethSOSZ0cImNRMczWgfw%3D&reserved=0
mailto:vaccine@indygo.net


B. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update 
 
The overall numbers of daily positive cases have been rising over the last several days in the state and across 
the nation.  At this time, IndyGo has 96 total employees who have tested positive.  Since the return from the 
Thanksgiving holiday, IndyGo has had an increase of 22 positive cases, with 8 of those cases being recorded 
between December 17-18, 2020.  Given the surge, employees who could to work from home were asked to do 
so as a precaution.  This action may have helped slow the surge because there have been only 5 positive cases 
since December 21, 2020.   
 
IndyGo has urged its workforce to continue to take precautions and has put forth two new memorandums 
regarding workplace precautions and use of benefit time and contact tracing.  We do expect another surge in 
cases following the Christmas holiday and New Year’s.  As a precaution, Human Resources has proactively asked 
employees to quarantine because of possible exposure so that is one reason the leave numbers are 
high.  Because both the EPSL and EFML expired on December 31, 2020, Human Resources developed a new form 
to capture COVID related time off, and this form will be used to continue to track total COVID cases.   
 
In addition, the following information has been compiled regarding trends related to Indiana’s COVID cases: 
 

 Marion County and the surrounding counties have recently had an increase in cases over the past 14 
days.  

 At least 59 new coronavirus deaths and 3,648 new cases were reported in Indiana on January 13, 2021.  
 Over the past week, there has been an average of 4,988 cases per day, an increase of 23 percent from 

the average two weeks earlier. 
 As of January 14, 2021, there have been at least 577,153 cases and 9,163 deaths in Indiana since the 

beginning of the pandemic 
 Before and after Thanksgiving, the surge of cases was concentrated in northern Indiana in Gary, 

Hammond and South Bend.   
 The highest concentration of COVID positives now seems to be in the southern and southeastern parts 

of Indiana, although Cass County (northern Indiana) continues to lead the positivity rate.    
 Cass County (northern Indiana) is by far the worst in the state as 1 in 9 (11% positivity) individuals are 

positive.  By comparison, both Marion County and Hamilton County have a rate of 1 in 14, so the 
positivity rate is just over 7% which is much better than it was a few weeks ago.   

 
IndyGo employees are also eligible for free testing after being seen by a medical authority at the following 
locations:  

 
 Marion County Public Health Department: 3838 N Rural St. – Monday – Friday from 9:00 AM – 4:00 PM 

and Wednesday from 9:00 AM – 6:00 PM 
 South District Health Office: 7751 Shelby St. – Tuesday and Thursday 11:00 AM – 6:00 PM 
 Sidney & Lois Eskenazi Hospital: 720 Eskenazi Ave. – Call for an appointment at 317-880-7666.  
 CVS: Multiple locations – site locator is https://www.cvs.com/minuteclinic/covid-19-testing. 
 Walgreens: Multiple locations – site locator is https://www.walgreens.com/findcare/covid19/testing. 
 LHI/Optum: Multiple locations – site locator is https://lhi.care/covidtesting. 
 Activate Health Clinic:  At this time the clinic has limited testing capacity.   

 
 
 
 

185

https://www.cvs.com/minuteclinic/covid-19-testing
https://www.walgreens.com/findcare/covid19/testing
https://lhi.care/covidtesting


C. Recruitment and Retention Data 
 

IndyGo’s hiring and retention data and shows that marked improvement in the recruitment and retention of 
employees, particularly Coach Operators, is necessary to fulfill IndyGo’s service expansion goals.  Human 
Resources offers the following information concerning its hiring and retention of employees:  

 
1.            Total IndyGo Employees:                                          830 
 
2.            Total Union Employees:                                            630 
 
3.            Total Coach Operators:                                               479 
 
4.            Annual Coach Operator Turnover Rate:                 23.15% 
 
5.            Total Non-Coach Operators Employees:                351                   
 
6.            Annual Non-Coach Operator Turnover Rate:         15.91% 
 
7.            Annual IndyGo Employee Turnover Rate:               20.16% 

 
D. Labor Negotiations  

 
On January 1, 2021, the successor collective bargaining agreement between and the Amalgamated Transit 
Union, Local 1070 (“ATU, Local 1070”) became effective.  Human Resources along with the Payroll and Finance 
Teams implemented all new financial elements of the new collective bargaining agreement.

186



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation 
dba IndyGo 

1501 W. Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46222 

www.IndyGo.net 

 
Inclusion & Workforce Development Division Report – 
November/December 2020 

 
To:   Chair and Board of Directors 
Through: President/CEO Inez P. Evans 
From:    Vice President of Inclusion & Workforce Development Denise Jenkins-Agurs 
Date:  January 28, 2021 

 

The Diversity & Inclusion Committee Has Created Their Mission & Vision 

Mission 
To be a diverse by nature and committed to creating an inclusive environment to break down barriers to connect 
everyone. 
 
Vision 
Together, we can create an IndyGo Community that is inclusive, equitable and equal, where all members are 
comfortable being themselves. 

Workforce Development Opportunities for Teammates 

Strengths Finder 
We are offering the Gallup StrengthsFinder assessment, book, and 2-hour virtual educational opportunity in January. 
This is a fantastic opportunity for all teammates to learn more about themselves both personally and professionally. It 
will help them understand and appreciate the unique ways they accomplish their goals by building relationships, 
thinking strategically, executing plans, and influencing others.  
 
Virtual Learning Opportunities  
We will be applying for a State Grant to offer to the following courses to teammates:  
 

 Aspiring Leaders - Leadership Skills for Success (9 days of education) 
o As an aspiring leader, this is an opportunity to learn the necessary tools and skills to succeed such as 

effective communication and listening, project management, managing stress, and conflict resolution.  

 Six Sigma Green Belt Training and Certification (6 days of education, & Green Belt Test & Certificate) 
o This course will allow our teammates to become  a change agent within IndyGo. They will learn about 

quality improvement  to help bolster their leadership skills. Teammates who complete all six days of 
training and pass the Green Belt Certificate test, will receive a Purdue Manufacturing Extension 
Partnership Six Sigma Green Belt Training Certificate. 
 

Coming Soon: 
Virtual Learning Opportunities Through a Learning Management System 
In 2021, we will be launching IndyGo’s first learning management system, which provides a virtual classroom with 
thousands of courses teammates can take at their leisure to improve their skills.  

187



Mentorship & Apprenticeship Opportunities 
In partnership with the ATU, we are in the process of developing Mentorship & Apprenticeship Programs for our 
Operator and Maintenance teammates.  

Teammate Engagement & Recognition 
IndyGo is Hosting its First Blood Drive of 2021 
When: Wednesday, February 10 
Time: 11 AM - 3 PM 
LOCATION: 1501 BOARD ROOM 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the report. 

Denise Jenkins-Agurs 
Vice President of Inclusion & Workforce Development

188



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation (IndyGo) 

INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

I. Purpose and Philosophy 

This Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”) is set forth to establish the investment objectives and 
guidelines for Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation (IndyGo).  This IPS also will serve 
as the primary basis for evaluation of the performance of the investment manager engaged by 
IndyGo.   

The Finance Committee of IndyGo recognizes that the ultimate responsibility for prudent 
investment decisions and satisfactory investment performance of IndyGo rests with the IndyGo 
Board of Directors.  This responsibility is best achieved by "managing the investment 
management function" rather than by "being the investment manager."   IndyGo believes that 
the best approach is to: 

A. Establish an investment philosophy. 
B. Set policy guidelines and objectives. 
C. Select a qualified investment manager. 
D. Monitor investment results to assure that policy objectives are being met. 
E. Communicate with those responsible for investment results. 

All investment actions and decisions must be based solely on the best interests of IndyGo.   

II. Definitions 

Finance Committee – subcommittee of the Board of Directors. 

Investment Manager – organization that makes investments in portfolios of securities on behalf 
of clients under the investment objectives and parameters the client has defined. An 
investment manager may handle all activities associated with the management of client 
portfolios, from day-to-day buying and selling of securities to portfolio monitoring, 
transaction settlement, performance measurement, and regulatory and client reporting. 

Indiana Code – code of laws for the U.S. state of Indiana. The contents are the codification of all 
the laws currently in effect within Indiana. 

III. Policy Objective 

The objective of the policy of IndyGo to invest funds in a manner that will provide the highest 
investment return possible while maintaining the maximum security of the principal and 
meeting cash flow demands. All investments will conform to the applicable laws and 
regulations governing the investment of public funds. 

189



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Investment Policy Statement Page 2 

 
 
IV. Investment Objectives 

The investment objectives of IndyGo are: 
A. Conform to all applicable legal requirements including, but not limited to, IC 5-13. 
B. Shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to preserve capital. At no time should the 

safety of the portfolio’s principal investment be impaired or jeopardized.  
C. Investment portfolio is to remain sufficiently liquid to enable IPTC to meet those 

operating requirements that might be reasonably anticipated. 
D. Yield/Return on investment should generate the highest available return without 

sacrificing the first 3 objectives outlined above. 

V. Responsibilities of the Finance Committee  

The Finance Committee is responsible for the review and oversight of IndyGo 
investments.  These responsibilities include: 

A. Establishing investment management objectives; 
B. Formulating and adopting investment guidelines and limitations; 
C. Monitoring and evaluating investment managers; 
D. Ensuring and documenting compliance with the IPS.  

VI. Investment Manager Responsibilities 

The Investment Manager is responsible for making investment decisions. The specific duties 
and responsibilities of the Investment Manager are: 

A. Implement these guidelines to achieve the objectives of IndyGo as outlined in this IPS; 

B. Notify IndyGo’s Finance Committee should circumstances occur in which the Investment 
Manager believes the guidelines need to be modified to achieve the objectives; and 

C. Outperform the benchmarks which are described herein. 

D. Invest and manage the assets under their supervision in accordance with the guidelines 
and limitations outlined in this IPS.  

E. Exercise full investment discretion with respect to buying, managing and selling assets 
held in the portfolio.    

F. Communicate to IndyGo Board all changes pertaining to the portfolio it manages.  

G. The Investment Manager will report any and all occurrences of non-compliance with this 
IPS.  

H. The Investment Manager will meet in-person with the IndyGo Finance Committee, at 
minimum, on a quarterly basis.   

190



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Investment Policy Statement Page 3 

 
 
VII. Duty of Care and Diversification 

Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which 
persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own 
affairs, not for speculation but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital 
as well as the probable income to be derived. 

IndyGo’s investment portfolio shall be diversified by institution, investment instruments, and by 
maturity schedule as much as is practical and prudent. 

VIII. Authorized and Suitable Investments 

A. United States Government Securities 

1. Securities backed by the full faith and credit of the United States Treasury or fully 
guaranteed by the United States and issued by any of the following: 

a. The United States Treasury. 
b. A federal agency. 
c. A federal instrumentality. 
d. A federal government sponsored enterprise. (IC 5-13-9-2(a)(1)) 

2. Securities fully guaranteed and issued by any of the following: 
a. A federal agency. 
b. A federal instrumentality. 
c. A federal government sponsored enterprise. (IC 5-13-9-2(a)(2)) 

B. Municipal Securities - Municipal securities issued by an Indiana local governmental 
entity, a quasi-governmental entity related to the state, or a unit of government, municipal 
corporation, or special taxing district in Indiana, if the issuer has not defaulted on any of 
the issuer’s obligations within the twenty (20) years preceding the date of the purchase. (IC 
5-13- 9-2(a)(3)) 

C. Money Market Mutual Funds - Investments commonly known as money market mutual 
funds that are in the form of securities of or interests in an open-end, no load, 
management- type investment company or investment trust registered under the 
provisions of the federal Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (15 U.S.C. 80a et. 
seq.). (IC 5-13-9-2.5(a)) 

1. Depositories. Investments in money market mutual funds, described in IC 5-13-
9- 2.5(a), shall be made through depositories designated by the State Finance 
Committee as depositories for state deposits under IC 5-13-9.5. (IC 5-13-9-2.5(b)) 

191



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Investment Policy Statement Page 4 

 
 

2. Portfolio. The portfolio of an investment company or investment trust described in 
IC 5-13-9-2.5 (a) must be limited to the following: 

a. Direct obligations of the United States 
b. Obligations issued by any of the following: 

i. A federal agency. 
ii. A federal instrumentality. 
iii. A federal government sponsored enterprise. 

c. Repurchase agreements fully collateralized by obligations described in 
subdivisions (a) or (b) directly above. (IC 5-13-9-2.5(c)) 

3. Rating. The form of securities of or interests in an investment company or 
investment trust described in IC 5-13-9-2.5(a) must be rated as one of the following: 

a. AAAm, or its equivalent, by Standard and Poor’s Corporation or its successor. 
b. Aaa, or its equivalent, by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or its successor. 
(IC 5-13-9-2.5(d)) 

4. Final Maturity. The form of securities of an investment company or investment trust 
described in IC 5-13-9-2.5(a) is considered to have a stated final maturity of one day. 
(IC 5-13-9-2.5(e)) 

5. Transaction Confirmations. The State Board of Accounts may rely on transaction 
confirmations evidencing ownership of the form of securities of or interests in an 
investment company or investment trust described in IC 5-13-9-2.5(a). (IC 5-13-9-2.5(f)) 

D. Repurchase Agreements - IndyGo may enter into repurchase agreements with 
depositories designated by the state Finance Committee as depositories for state deposits 
under IC 5-13-9.5 so long as the agreements involve the political subdivision's purchase 
and guaranteed resale of any interest-bearing obligations issued, or fully insured or 
guaranteed, by the United States; a United States government agency; an instrumentality 
of the United States; or a federal government sponsored enterprise. (IC 5-13-9-3(b)) 

1. Definition. A repurchase agreement is defined as an agreement: 

a. Involving the purchase and guaranteed resale of securities between two 
parties; and 

b. That may be entered into for a fixed term or arranged on an open or 
continuing basis as a continuing contract that: 

192



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Investment Policy Statement Page 5 

 
 

i. operates like a series of overnight repurchase agreements; 
ii. is renewed each day with the repurchase rate and the amount of 
funds invested determined daily; and 
iii.  for purposes of this article, is considered to have a stated final 
maturity of one day. (IC 5-13-9-3(a)) 

2. Collateral. The amount of money in this type of agreement must be fully collateralized 
by interest-bearing obligations as determined by their current market value. This must 
be determined daily by the depository. (IC 5-13-9-3(b)) If the market value of the 
obligations being held as collateral falls below the level required under IC 5-13-9-3(b) or 
a higher level established by agreement, the depository shall deliver additional securities 
to the political subdivision to make the agreement collateralized to the applicable level. 
(IC 5-13-9-3(c)) The collateral involved in a repurchase agreement is not subject to the 
maturity limitation provided by IC 5-13-9-5.6. (IC 5-13-9-3(c)) 

3. Ownership. To ensure that ownership of securities acquired under a repurchase 
agreement is vested in the governmental unit and to meet the requirements of IC 5-13-
9, the repurchase agreements shall be so written as to: 

a. Vest title of securities in the name of the governmental unit; 
b. Described the specific securities acquired; and 
c. Represent a safekeeping receipt for the securities so acquired. 

E. Other Authorized Investments 
1. Obligations issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the International Bank for 
Reconstruction and Redevelopment or the African Development Bank. (IC 5-13-9-3.3) 

2. The local government investment pool established by IC 5-13-9-11 and known as 
TrustINdiana. 

3. Certificates of deposits, transaction accounts, and other interest-bearing deposit 
accounts under the conditions and procedures stated in IC 5-13-9. 

IX. Prohibited Investments/Other Restrictions 

The investing officer may not purchase securities on margin or open a securities margin account 
for the investment of public funds. (IC 5-13-9-9) 

The total outstanding investments with maturity dates past two (2) years must not exceed 
twenty-five percent (25%) of the total portfolio of public funds invested by IndyGo, including 
balances in transaction accounts. (IC 5-13-9-5.7) 

193



Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Investment Policy Statement Page 6 

 
 
X. Maturity of Investments 

The investing officer may make investments having a stated final maturity for not more than 
five (5) years after the date of purchase or entry into a repurchase agreement. (IC 5-13-9-5.7) 

XI. Manner of Investing Funds / Interest Earnings 

Investments shall be made by fund. All interest devised from IndyGo’s investments shall be 
receipted into the fund of which they are a part unless required otherwise by IC 5-13-9-6. 
Interest on investments should not be added automatically to the investment. Instead, interest 
on investments should be paid to IndyGo at each maturity date and posted to the appropriate 
fund. Notwithstanding the above, the terms of an existing bond resolution must be followed. 
The bond resolution should be reviewed, and its terms and conditions adhered to without 
exception. 

XII. Accounting of Investments & Reporting 

The Director of Accounting shall maintain an inventory of monthly obligations and securities 
reports to be made available to the IndyGo Board of Directors upon request clearly provide the 
following information regarding the investment portfolio; types of investments; depository 
institutions; principal balances; maturity dates; rates of return; purchases; and sales. 

The Director of Accounting shall make an annual written report to IndyGo’s Finance Committee 
summarizing IndyGo’s investments during the previous calendar year. The report must contain 
the name of each financial institution, government agency or instrumentality, or other person 
with whom IndyGo invested money during the previous calendar year. (IC 5-13-7- 7) 

XIII. Investment Policy Term, and Modifications 

This Investment Policy terminates four (4) years from the date of enactment. However, the 
policy shall be reviewed, at minimum, annually by the Finance Committee at which time the 
board may terminate the policy, readopt the policy, or make modifications thereto. Due 
consideration will be given to new laws or other conditions that impact this policy and any 
necessary changes may be made to this policy at any time during the year in response thereto. 

 

194



IN
D

IA
N

A
PO

L
IS

 P
U

B
L

IC
 T

R
A

N
SP

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
T

IO
N

 (I
N

D
Y

G
O

)
R

E
PO

R
T

 O
F 

E
N

D
 O

F 
M

O
N

T
H

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S 

&
 E

A
R

N
IN

G
S 

B
Y

 F
U

N
D

FO
R

 T
H

E
 Y

E
A

R
 E

N
D

IN
G

 D
E

C
E

M
B

E
R

 3
1,

 2
01

9
Y

T
D

 In
te

re
st

A
ve

 E
O

M
 B

al
E

ar
ni

ng
s

Y
T

D
 E

ar
ni

ng
s

In
st

itu
tio

n
Fu

nd
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il
M

ay
Ju

ne
Ju

ly
A

ug
us

t
Se

pt
em

be
r

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r
D

ec
em

be
r

T
ot

al
 R

et
ur

n
A

ve
 R

et
ur

n
G

E
N

E
R

A
L

 F
U

N
D

:
C

ha
se

 *
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

62
85

55
14

6
91

,7
11

.6
1

91
,5

85
.9

2
91

,4
14

.4
2

90
,9

74
.6

7
90

,5
88

.8
0

90
,1

87
.0

4
89

,7
96

.7
2

89
,4

68
.8

9
89

,1
73

.8
0

88
,8

93
.0

1
88

,6
25

.3
0

88
,3

64
.7

5
90

,0
65

.4
1

Ea
rn

in
gs

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

76
54

02
70

49
8,

78
6,

59
8.

29
7,

86
7,

43
1.

83
2,

70
6,

44
8.

28
3,

22
0,

51
6.

72
12

,8
95

,8
61

.8
2

28
,3

10
,8

39
.1

9
12

,8
54

,0
11

.4
5

19
,4

25
,5

60
.4

3
11

,2
61

,5
66

.5
5

19
,2

94
,8

08
.6

5
26

,7
10

,6
28

.3
7

40
,4

82
,4

48
.7

9
16

,1
51

,3
93

.3
6

Ea
rn

in
gs

1,
97

5.
52

2,
32

1.
34

92
2.

17
0.

00
26

3.
20

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

5,
48

2.
23

45
6.

85
R

at
e 

(E
O

M
)

0.
02

%
0.

03
%

0.
03

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

2%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

7%

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

76
53

17
18

06
27

1,
01

3.
69

16
0,

76
6.

82
21

4,
43

4.
39

58
,5

86
.0

8
69

,3
48

.1
7

63
5,

28
0.

58
12

4,
75

5.
17

97
6,

04
6.

45
62

9,
75

5.
10

16
1,

85
2.

28
61

3,
40

4.
78

1,
10

3,
68

3.
49

41
8,

24
3.

92
Ea

rn
in

gs
94

.2
1

16
9.

36
82

.6
5

0.
00

15
.5

9
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
36

1.
81

30
.1

5
R

at
e 

(E
O

M
)

0.
03

%
0.

11
%

0.
04

%
0.

00
%

0.
02

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

0%
0.

00
%

0.
01

7%

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
9,

14
9,

32
3.

59
8,

11
9,

78
4.

57
3,

01
2,

29
7.

09
3,

37
0,

07
7.

47
13

,0
55

,7
98

.7
9

29
,0

36
,3

06
.8

1
13

,0
68

,5
63

.3
4

20
,4

91
,0

75
.7

7
11

,9
80

,4
95

.4
5

19
,5

45
,5

53
.9

4
27

,4
12

,6
58

.4
5

41
,6

74
,4

97
.0

3
16

,6
59

,7
02

.6
9

E
ar

ni
ng

s
T

O
T

A
L

2,
06

9.
73

2,
49

0.
70

1,
00

4.
82

0.
00

27
8.

79
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
5,

84
4.

04
48

7.
00

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

IN
SU

R
A

N
C

E
 R

E
SE

R
V

E
 F

U
N

D
:

N
B

O
FI

In
su

ra
nc

e 
R

es
er

ve
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
14

78
40

3
83

8,
16

2.
62

83
8,

59
4.

25
83

8,
87

9.
83

83
9,

02
0.

04
83

9,
11

3.
14

83
9,

18
2.

12
83

9,
24

3.
27

83
9,

29
6.

62
83

9,
35

1.
81

83
9,

40
8.

84
83

9,
46

4.
04

83
9,

52
1.

07
83

9,
10

3.
14

Ea
rn

in
gs

46
1.

16
43

1.
63

28
5.

58
14

0.
21

93
.1

0
68

.9
8

61
.1

5
53

.3
5

55
.1

9
57

.0
3

55
.2

0
57

.0
3

1,
81

9.
61

15
1.

63
R

at
e 

(E
O

M
)

0.
06

%
0.

05
%

0.
03

%
0.

02
%

0.
01

%
0.

01
%

0.
01

%
0.

01
%

0.
01

%
0.

01
%

0.
01

%
0.

01
%

0.
02

%

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
83

8,
16

2.
62

83
8,

59
4.

25
83

8,
87

9.
83

83
9,

02
0.

04
83

9,
11

3.
14

83
9,

18
2.

12
83

9,
24

3.
27

83
9,

29
6.

62
83

9,
35

1.
81

83
9,

40
8.

84
83

9,
46

4.
04

83
9,

52
1.

07
83

9,
10

3.
14

E
ar

ni
ng

s
T

O
T

A
L

46
1.

16
43

1.
63

28
5.

58
14

0.
21

93
.1

0
68

.9
8

61
.1

5
53

.3
5

55
.1

9
57

.0
3

55
.2

0
57

.0
3

1,
81

9.
61

15
1.

63
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
D

E
B

T
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 F

U
N

D
:

C
ha

se
 *

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 F
un

d
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
70

00
39

00
62

04
76

8,
69

7.
23

40
9,

47
6.

40
70

0,
25

5.
57

99
1,

03
4.

74
1,

28
1,

81
3.

91
1,

57
2,

59
3.

08
77

0,
77

3.
62

1,
06

1,
55

2.
79

1,
35

2,
33

1.
96

1,
64

3,
11

1.
13

1,
93

3,
89

0.
30

1,
08

1,
61

9.
47

1,
13

0,
59

5.
85

Ea
rn

in
gs

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
76

8,
69

7.
23

40
9,

47
6.

40
70

0,
25

5.
57

99
1,

03
4.

74
1,

28
1,

81
3.

91
1,

57
2,

59
3.

08
77

0,
77

3.
62

1,
06

1,
55

2.
79

1,
35

2,
33

1.
96

1,
64

3,
11

1.
13

1,
93

3,
89

0.
30

1,
08

1,
61

9.
47

1,
13

0,
59

5.
85

E
ar

ni
ng

s
T

O
T

A
L

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

C
U

M
U

L
A

T
IV

E
 C

A
PI

T
A

L
 F

U
N

D
:

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
 B

an
k

C
um

ul
at

iv
e 

Fu
nd

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

76
52

20
35

27
17

,6
61

,2
94

.6
7

14
,3

25
,7

87
.6

2
15

,6
59

,1
54

.5
0

15
,1

83
,9

33
.5

4
16

,5
16

,0
37

.3
2

19
,5

21
,4

76
.8

4
14

,1
62

,3
07

.9
3

14
,5

30
,9

19
.6

3
15

,8
61

,7
23

.6
2

7,
29

4,
22

0.
97

6,
04

0,
39

2.
96

7,
32

2,
92

5.
13

13
,6

73
,3

47
.8

9
Ea

rn
in

gs
2,

21
9.

64
2,

84
3.

26
2,

56
2.

89
0.

00
1,

29
9.

79
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
8,

92
5.

58
74

3.
80

R
at

e 
(E

O
M

)
0.

01
%

0.
02

%
0.

02
%

0.
00

%
0.

01
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
5%

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
 B

an
k

C
um

 In
ve

st
m

en
t M

gr
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
66

68
29

7
17

,6
64

,4
10

.9
0

17
,7

11
,5

19
.6

4
17

,8
25

,7
93

.8
0

13
,3

30
,0

31
.2

1
13

,3
16

,2
04

.6
0

17
,8

39
,4

20
.7

9
17

,8
43

,1
26

.9
3

17
,8

46
,3

37
.9

4
17

,8
46

,0
85

.8
5

17
,8

31
,2

26
.8

1
17

,8
51

,0
53

.5
9

17
,8

57
,4

93
.6

8
17

,0
63

,5
58

.8
1

Ea
rn

in
gs

29
,0

03
.4

7
45

9.
21

42
,6

15
.9

5
23

,3
25

.1
3

1,
10

4.
94

34
,4

07
.0

4
15

,7
16

.1
2

14
,4

74
.7

1
9,

16
2.

31
37

5.
24

26
,0

73
.4

3
11

,9
86

.7
9

20
8,

70
4.

34
17

,3
92

.0
3

R
at

e 
(E

O
M

)
0.

16
%

0.
00

%
0.

24
%

0.
17

%
0.

01
%

0.
19

%
0.

09
%

0.
08

%
0.

05
%

0.
00

%
0.

15
%

0.
07

%
0.

10
%

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
 B

an
k

C
ar

es
 In

ve
st

m
en

t 
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
98

84
01

6
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
17

,2
88

,0
13

.0
0

21
,7

29
,2

12
.6

0
21

,7
28

,4
40

.5
4

21
,7

24
,1

38
.5

4
21

,7
22

,1
90

.2
7

21
,7

19
,8

63
.5

6
20

,9
85

,3
09

.7
5

Ea
rn

in
gs

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

22
9.

00
-6

7.
11

-7
0.

50
-1

85
.8

2
34

9.
59

25
5.

16
42

.5
3

R
at

e 
(E

O
M

)
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

1%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
-0

.0
01

%
0.

00
2%

0.
00

%

C
ha

se
 H

ig
h 

Y
ie

ld
C

um
ul

at
iv

e 
Fu

nd
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
23

30
43

08
16

77
,5

17
.1

7
77

,5
47

.3
4

77
,5

59
.5

4
77

,5
62

.7
0

77
,5

65
.9

7
77

,5
69

.1
3

78
,5

72
.4

2
78

,5
75

.7
3

78
,5

78
.9

4
78

,5
80

.9
4

78
,5

82
.8

7
77

,5
84

.8
5

77
,9

83
.1

3
Ea

rn
in

gs
32

.2
4

30
.1

7
12

.2
0

3.
16

3.
27

3.
16

3.
29

3.
31

3.
21

2.
00

1.
93

1.
98

99
.9

2
8.

33
R

at
e 

(E
O

M
)

0.
04

%
0.

04
%

0.
02

%
0.

00
4%

0.
00

4%
0.

00
4%

0.
00

4%
0.

00
4%

0.
00

4%
0.

00
3%

0.
00

2%
0.

00
3%

0.
01

%

B
N

Y
 M

el
lo

n 
- T

ru
st

ee
 A

cc
ou

nt
 

B
on

d 
Is

su
e

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

41
97

77
16

,0
65

,9
57

.5
8

16
,0

85
,1

08
.3

2
15

,0
65

,2
32

.3
1

15
,0

72
,8

55
.8

6
14

,1
80

,9
78

.1
7

14
,1

81
,2

98
.9

4
13

,0
39

,5
30

.8
8

13
,0

39
,6

51
.1

4
13

,0
39

,7
64

.9
9

11
,8

56
,4

80
.8

3
11

,8
56

,5
88

.0
1

11
,8

56
,6

85
.5

7
13

,7
78

,3
44

.3
8

Ea
rn

in
gs

19
,8

21
.5

8
19

,1
50

.7
4

17
,4

55
.9

5
7,

62
3.

55
1,

12
2.

26
32

0.
77

13
2.

04
12

0.
26

11
3.

85
10

7.
14

10
7.

18
97

.5
6

66
,1

72
.8

8
5,

51
4.

41
R

at
e 

(E
O

M
)

0.
12

%
0.

12
%

0.
12

%
0.

05
%

0.
01

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
04

%

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
51

,4
69

,1
80

.3
2

48
,1

99
,9

62
.9

2
48

,6
27

,7
40

.1
5

43
,6

64
,3

83
.3

1
44

,0
90

,7
86

.0
6

51
,6

19
,7

65
.7

0
62

,4
11

,5
51

.1
6

67
,2

24
,6

97
.0

4
68

,5
54

,5
93

.9
4

58
,7

84
,6

48
.0

9
57

,5
48

,8
07

.7
0

58
,8

34
,5

52
.7

9
55

,0
85

,8
89

.1
0

E
ar

ni
ng

s
T

O
T

A
L

51
,0

76
.9

3
22

,4
83

.3
8

62
,6

46
.9

9
30

,9
51

.8
4

3,
53

0.
26

34
,7

30
.9

7
15

,8
51

.4
5

14
,8

27
.2

8
9,

21
2.

26
41

3.
88

25
,9

96
.7

2
12

,4
35

.9
2

28
4,

15
7.

88
23

,6
79

.8
2

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

G
R

A
N

D
 T

O
T

A
L

62
,2

25
,3

63
.7

6
57

,5
67

,8
18

.1
4

53
,1

79
,1

72
.6

4
48

,8
64

,5
15

.5
6

59
,2

67
,5

11
.9

0
83

,0
67

,8
47

.7
1

77
,0

90
,1

31
.3

9
89

,6
16

,6
22

.2
2

82
,7

26
,7

73
.1

6
80

,8
12

,7
22

.0
0

87
,7

34
,8

20
.4

9
10

2,
43

0,
19

0.
36

73
,7

15
,2

90
.7

8
Ea

rn
in

gs
G

R
A

N
D

 T
O

T
A

L
53

,6
07

.8
2

25
,4

05
.7

1
63

,9
37

.3
9

31
,0

92
.0

5
3,

90
2.

15
34

,7
99

.9
5

15
,9

12
.6

0
14

,8
80

.6
3

9,
26

7.
45

47
0.

91
26

,0
51

.9
2

12
,4

92
.9

5
29

1,
82

1.
53

24
,3

18
.4

6
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*

Su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 In
te

re
st

 E
ar

ni
ng

 A
cc

ou
nt

s O
nl

y
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
 o

f I
nt

er
es

t E
ar

ni
ng

 A
cc

ou
nt

s
61

,3
64

,9
54

.9
2

57
,0

66
,7

55
.8

2
52

,3
87

,5
02

.6
5

47
,7

82
,5

06
.1

5
57

,8
95

,1
09

.1
9

81
,4

05
,0

67
.5

9
76

,2
29

,5
61

.0
5

88
,4

65
,6

00
.5

4
81

,2
85

,2
67

.4
0

79
,0

80
,7

17
.8

6
85

,7
12

,3
04

.8
9

10
1,

26
0,

20
6.

14
72

,4
94

,6
29

.5
2

Ea
rr

ni
ng

s
53

,6
07

.8
2

25
,4

05
.7

1
63

,9
37

.3
9

31
,0

92
.0

5
3,

90
2.

15
34

,7
99

.9
5

15
,9

12
.6

0
14

,8
80

.6
3

9,
26

7.
45

47
0.

91
26

,0
51

.9
2

12
,4

92
.9

5
29

1,
82

1.
53

24
,3

18
.4

6
A

ve
ra

ge
 R

at
e

0.
45

%
0.

37
%

0.
49

%
0.

25
%

0.
06

%
0.

21
%

0.
10

%
0.

09
%

0.
06

%
0.

01
%

0.
16

%
0.

08
%

0.
02

%

A
nn

ua
l A

ve
ra

ge
 Y

ie
ld

 R
at

e
0.

40
%

Pa
ge

 1

195



Average Bank Balances by Financial Institution:
Chase, N.A. 1,298,644.39
Fifth Third Bank 57,799,198.86
National Bank of Indianapolis 839,103.14
BNY Mellon - Trustee Account 13,778,344.38
Total 73,715,290.78

Average Bank Balances by Fund:
General Fund 16,659,702.69
Insurance Reserve Fund 839,103.14
Debt Service Fund 1,130,595.85
Cumulative Capital Fund 55,085,889.10
Total 73,715,290.78

Average Return on Investment:
Average Balance of Interest Earning Accounts 72,494,629.52
Investment Earnings 291,821.53

196



IN
D

IA
N

A
PO

L
IS

 P
U

B
L

IC
 T

R
A

N
SP

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
T

IO
N

 (I
N

D
Y

G
O

)
R

E
PO

R
T

 O
F 

E
N

D
 O

F 
M

O
N

T
H

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S 

&
 E

A
R

N
IN

G
S 

B
Y

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 IN

ST
IT

U
T

IO
N

FO
R

 T
H

E
 Y

E
A

R
 E

N
D

IN
G

 D
E

C
E

M
B

E
R

 3
1,

 2
01

9
Y

T
D

 In
te

re
st

 
A

ve
 E

O
M

 B
al

E
ar

ni
ng

s
Y

T
D

 E
ar

ni
ng

s
In

st
itu

tio
n

Fu
nd

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch
A

pr
il

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
T

ot
al

 R
et

ur
n

A
ve

 R
et

ur
n

C
H

A
SE

, N
.A

.
C

ha
se

 *
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

62
85

55
14

6
91

,7
11

.6
1

91
,5

85
.9

2
91

,4
14

.4
2

90
,9

74
.6

7
90

,5
88

.8
0

90
,1

87
.0

4
89

,7
96

.7
2

89
,4

68
.8

9
89

,1
73

.8
0

88
,8

93
.0

1
88

,6
25

.3
0

88
,3

64
.7

5
90

,0
65

.4
1

Ea
rn

in
gs

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

C
ha

se
 *

 
D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

70
00

39
00

62
04

76
8,

69
7.

23
40

9,
47

6.
40

70
0,

25
5.

57
99

1,
03

4.
74

1,
28

1,
81

3.
91

1,
57

2,
59

3.
08

77
0,

77
3.

62
1,

06
1,

55
2.

79
1,

35
2,

33
1.

96
1,

64
3,

11
1.

13
1,

93
3,

89
0.

30
1,

08
1,

61
9.

47
1,

13
0,

59
5.

85
Ea

rn
in

gs
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00

C
ha

se
 H

ig
h 

Y
ie

ld
C

um
ul

at
iv

e 
Fu

nd
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
23

30
43

08
16

77
,5

17
.1

7
77

,5
47

.3
4

77
,5

59
.5

4
77

,5
62

.7
0

77
,5

65
.9

7
77

,5
69

.1
3

78
,5

72
.4

2
78

,5
75

.7
3

78
,5

78
.9

4
78

,5
80

.9
4

78
,5

82
.8

7
77

,5
84

.8
5

77
,9

83
.1

3
Ea

rn
in

gs
32

.2
4

30
.1

7
12

.2
0

3.
16

3.
27

3.
16

3.
29

3.
31

3.
21

2.
00

1.
93

1.
98

99
.9

2
8.

33

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
93

7,
92

6.
01

57
8,

60
9.

66
86

9,
22

9.
53

1,
15

9,
57

2.
11

1,
44

9,
96

8.
68

1,
74

0,
34

9.
25

93
9,

14
2.

76
1,

22
9,

59
7.

41
1,

52
0,

08
4.

70
1,

81
0,

58
5.

08
2,

10
1,

09
8.

47
1,

24
7,

56
9.

07
1,

29
8,

64
4.

39
Ea

rn
in

gs
T

O
T

A
L

32
.2

4
30

.1
7

12
.2

0
3.

16
3.

27
3.

16
3.

29
3.

31
3.

21
2.

00
1.

93
1.

98
99

.9
2

8.
33

R
at

e
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
FI

FT
H

 T
H

IR
D

 B
A

N
K

:
Fi

fth
 T

hi
rd

 B
an

k
C

um
ul

at
iv

e 
Fu

nd
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
76

52
20

35
27

17
,6

61
,2

94
.6

7
14

,3
25

,7
87

.6
2

15
,6

59
,1

54
.5

0
15

,1
83

,9
33

.5
4

16
,5

16
,0

37
.3

2
19

,5
21

,4
76

.8
4

14
,1

62
,3

07
.9

3
14

,5
30

,9
19

.6
3

15
,8

61
,7

23
.6

2
7,

29
4,

22
0.

97
6,

04
0,

39
2.

96
7,

32
2,

92
5.

13
13

,6
73

,3
47

.8
9

Ea
rn

in
gs

2,
21

9.
64

2,
84

3.
26

2,
56

2.
89

0.
00

1,
29

9.
79

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

8,
92

5.
58

74
3.

80

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
 B

an
k

C
um

 In
ve

st
m

en
t M

gr
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
66

68
29

7
17

,6
64

,4
10

.9
0

17
,7

11
,5

19
.6

4
17

,8
25

,7
93

.8
0

13
,3

30
,0

31
.2

1
13

,3
16

,2
04

.6
0

17
,8

39
,4

20
.7

9
17

,8
43

,1
26

.9
3

17
,8

46
,3

37
.9

4
17

,8
46

,0
85

.8
5

17
,8

31
,2

26
.8

1
17

,8
51

,0
53

.5
9

17
,8

57
,4

93
.6

8
17

,0
63

,5
58

.8
1

Ea
rn

in
gs

29
,0

03
.4

7
45

9.
21

42
,6

15
.9

5
23

,3
25

.1
3

1,
10

4.
94

34
,4

07
.0

4
15

,7
16

.1
2

14
,4

74
.7

1
9,

16
2.

31
37

5.
24

26
,0

73
.4

3
11

,9
86

.7
9

20
8,

70
4.

34
17

,3
92

.0
3

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
 B

an
k

C
ar

es
 In

ve
st

m
en

t 
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
98

84
01

6
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
17

,2
88

,0
13

.0
0

21
,7

29
,2

12
.6

0
21

,7
28

,4
40

.5
4

21
,7

24
,1

38
.5

4
21

,7
22

,1
90

.2
7

21
,7

19
,8

63
.5

6
10

,4
92

,6
54

.8
8

Ea
rn

in
gs

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

22
9.

00
-6

7.
11

-7
0.

50
-1

85
.8

2
34

9.
59

25
5.

16
21

.2
6

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

76
54

02
70

49
8,

78
6,

59
8.

29
7,

86
7,

43
1.

83
2,

70
6,

44
8.

28
3,

22
0,

51
6.

72
12

,8
95

,8
61

.8
2

28
,3

10
,8

39
.1

9
12

,8
54

,0
11

.4
5

19
,4

25
,5

60
.4

3
11

,2
61

,5
66

.5
5

19
,2

94
,8

08
.6

5
26

,7
10

,6
28

.3
7

40
,4

82
,4

48
.7

9
16

,1
51

,3
93

.3
6

Ea
rn

in
gs

1,
97

5.
52

2,
32

1.
34

92
2.

17
0.

00
26

3.
20

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

5,
48

2.
23

45
6.

85

Fi
fth

 T
hi

rd
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

76
53

17
18

06
27

1,
01

3.
69

16
0,

76
6.

82
21

4,
43

4.
39

58
,5

86
.0

8
69

,3
48

.1
7

63
5,

28
0.

58
12

4,
75

5.
17

97
6,

04
6.

45
62

9,
75

5.
10

16
1,

85
2.

28
61

3,
40

4.
78

1,
10

3,
68

3.
49

41
8,

24
3.

92
Ea

rn
in

gs
94

.2
1

16
9.

36
82

.6
5

0.
00

15
.5

9
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
36

1.
81

30
.1

5

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
 

44
,3

83
,3

17
.5

5
40

,0
65

,5
05

.9
1

36
,4

05
,8

30
.9

7
31

,7
93

,0
67

.5
5

42
,7

97
,4

51
.9

1
66

,3
07

,0
17

.4
0

62
,2

72
,2

14
.4

8
74

,5
08

,0
77

.0
5

67
,3

27
,5

71
.6

6
66

,3
06

,2
47

.2
5

72
,9

37
,6

69
.9

7
88

,4
86

,4
14

.6
5

57
,7

99
,1

98
.8

6
Ea

rn
in

gs
T

O
T

A
L

 
33

,2
92

.8
4

5,
79

3.
17

46
,1

83
.6

6
23

,3
25

.1
3

2,
68

3.
52

34
,4

07
.0

4
15

,7
16

.1
2

14
,7

03
.7

1
9,

09
5.

20
30

4.
74

25
,8

87
.6

1
12

,3
36

.3
8

22
3,

72
9.

12
18

,6
44

.0
9

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

B
N

Y
 M

E
L

L
O

N
:

B
on

d 
Is

su
e 

20
18

A
B

on
d 

Pr
oc

ee
ds

 F
un

d
C

as
h/

In
ve

sm
en

t B
al

an
ce

41
97

77
16

,0
65

,9
57

.5
8

16
,0

85
,1

08
.3

2
15

,0
65

,2
32

.3
1

15
,0

72
,8

55
.8

6
14

,1
80

,9
78

.1
7

14
,1

81
,2

98
.9

4
13

,0
39

,5
30

.8
8

13
,0

39
,6

51
.1

4
13

,0
39

,7
64

.9
9

11
,8

56
,4

80
.8

3
11

,8
56

,5
88

.0
1

11
,8

56
,6

85
.5

7
13

,7
78

,3
44

.3
8

Ea
rn

in
gs

19
,8

21
.5

8
19

,1
50

.7
4

17
,4

55
.9

5
7,

62
3.

55
1,

12
2.

26
32

0.
77

13
2.

04
12

0.
26

11
3.

85
10

7.
14

10
7.

18
97

.5
6

66
,1

72
.8

8
5,

51
4.

41

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
16

,0
65

,9
57

.5
8

16
,0

85
,1

08
.3

2
15

,0
65

,2
32

.3
1

15
,0

72
,8

55
.8

6
14

,1
80

,9
78

.1
7

14
,1

81
,2

98
.9

4
13

,0
39

,5
30

.8
8

13
,0

39
,6

51
.1

4
13

,0
39

,7
64

.9
9

11
,8

56
,4

80
.8

3
11

,8
56

,5
88

.0
1

11
,8

56
,6

85
.5

7
13

,7
78

,3
44

.3
8

Ea
rn

in
gs

T
O

T
A

L
19

,8
21

.5
8

19
,1

50
.7

4
17

,4
55

.9
5

7,
62

3.
55

1,
12

2.
26

32
0.

77
13

2.
04

12
0.

26
11

3.
85

10
7.

14
10

7.
18

97
.5

6
66

,1
72

.8
8

5,
51

4.
41

R
at

e
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*

N
B

O
FI

N
B

O
FI

 
In

su
ra

nc
e 

R
es

er
ve

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

14
78

40
3

83
8,

16
2.

62
83

8,
59

4.
25

83
8,

87
9.

83
83

9,
02

0.
04

83
9,

11
3.

14
83

9,
18

2.
12

83
9,

24
3.

27
83

9,
29

6.
62

83
9,

35
1.

81
83

9,
40

8.
84

83
9,

46
4.

04
83

9,
52

1.
07

83
9,

10
3.

14
Ea

rn
in

gs
46

1.
16

43
1.

63
28

5.
58

14
0.

21
93

.1
0

68
.9

8
61

.1
5

53
.3

5
55

.1
9

57
.0

3
55

.2
0

57
.0

3
1,

81
9.

61
15

1.
63

C
as

h/
In

ve
st

m
en

t B
al

an
ce

T
O

T
A

L
83

8,
16

2.
62

83
8,

59
4.

25
83

8,
87

9.
83

83
9,

02
0.

04
83

9,
11

3.
14

83
9,

18
2.

12
83

9,
24

3.
27

83
9,

29
6.

62
83

9,
35

1.
81

83
9,

40
8.

84
83

9,
46

4.
04

83
9,

52
1.

07
83

9,
10

3.
14

Ea
rn

in
gs

T
O

T
A

L
46

1.
16

43
1.

63
28

5.
58

14
0.

21
93

.1
0

68
.9

8
61

.1
5

53
.3

5
55

.1
9

57
.0

3
55

.2
0

57
.0

3
1,

81
9.

61
15

1.
63

R
at

e
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
C

as
h/

In
ve

st
m

en
t B

al
an

ce
G

R
A

N
D

 T
O

T
A

L
62

,2
25

,3
63

.7
6

57
,5

67
,8

18
.1

4
53

,1
79

,1
72

.6
4

48
,8

64
,5

15
.5

6
59

,2
67

,5
11

.9
0

83
,0

67
,8

47
.7

1
77

,0
90

,1
31

.3
9

89
,6

16
,6

22
.2

2
82

,7
26

,7
73

.1
6

80
,8

12
,7

22
.0

0
87

,7
34

,8
20

.4
9

10
2,

43
0,

19
0.

36
73

,7
15

,2
90

.7
8

Ea
rn

in
gs

G
R

A
N

D
 T

O
T

A
L

53
,6

07
.8

2
25

,4
05

.7
1

63
,9

37
.3

9
31

,0
92

.0
5

3,
90

2.
15

34
,7

99
.9

5
15

,9
12

.6
0

14
,8

80
.6

3
9,

26
7.

45
47

0.
91

26
,0

51
.9

2
12

,4
92

.9
5

29
1,

82
1.

53
24

,3
18

.4
6

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
*

197



2%

97%

1%

Average Bank Balances by Financial Institution

Chase, N.A.

Fifth Third Bank

National Bank of Indianapolis

23%

1%
1%

75%

Average Bank Balances by Fund

General Fund

Insurance Reserve Fund

Debt Service Fund

Cumulative Capital Fund

198


	VII. Duty of Care and Diversification
	VII. Duty of Care and Diversification
	VII. Duty of Care and Diversification
	VIII. Authorized and Suitable Investments
	VIII. Authorized and Suitable Investments
	IX. Prohibited Investments/Other Restrictions
	IX. Prohibited Investments/Other Restrictions
	X. Maturity of Investments
	X. Maturity of Investments
	X. Maturity of Investments
	XI. Manner of Investing Funds / Interest Earnings
	XI. Manner of Investing Funds / Interest Earnings
	XII. Accounting of Investments & Reporting
	XII. Accounting of Investments & Reporting
	XIII. Investment Policy Term, and Modifications
	XIII. Investment Policy Term, and Modifications
	1. Call to Order and Roll Call
	board cover_2021_jan28.docx
	A AGENDA for January 28, 2021 Board Meeting.docx

	2. Awards and Commendation
	A1 Awards & Commendation January.docx
	Excellence Awards.docx
	Excellence Awards Script 2021a.docx
	A1 Nov 2020 Safe Drivers BR.docx
	A1 Dec 2020 Safe Drivers BR.docx

	3. Committee Chairperson Reports
	A Finance Committee Chair Report January.docx
	A Service Committee Chair Report January.docx
	A G&A Committee Chair Report January.docx

	4. Consent Agenda
	1. Consideration and Approval of Governance & Audit Risk Universe/Heat Map
	A-9- Jan GA 2021_Heat Map.docx
	A-9 2020-8 Risk Refresh & Proposed Audit Plan_30DEC2020.docx

	2. Consideration and Approval of Procurement Review
	A-10- Jan GA 2021Procurement Review.docx
	A-10 2020-9 Procurement Process Review G&A Report_06JAN2021.docx

	3. Consideration and Approval of Grants Review
	A-11- Jan GA 2021Grants Review.docx
	A-11 2020-10 Grants-Assessment-Report-FINAL-01-07-21.docx

	4. Consideration and Approval of Compliance Environment Assessment
	A-12- Jan GA 2021 Compliance Assessment.docx
	A-12 2020-11 Compliance Assessment Report.docx


	5. Regular Agenda
	1. Consideration and Approval of Minutes from Board Meeting held on December 3, 2020 & January 19, 2021
	A-1 December Board Meeting Minutes.docx
	A-1 Special Board of Director's Meeting Minutes.docx

	2. Consideration and Approval of Ft Wayne Conversion Design & Construction Services - Lochmueller Group
	A-2 Board Action Item Ft Wayne Conversion -Lochmueller Group 1-2021.docx

	3. Consideration and Approval of IndyGo East Campus (former Celadon Property) Design – Woolpert
	A-3 Board Action Item 9503 IndyGo East Complex design  construction services 1-2021.docx
	A-3 Properties Developments Options  Phases.pdf

	4. Consideration and Approval of Mobility Solutions and Customer Service Center Design – The Etica Group
	A-4 2425 Michigan design  construction services 1-2021.docx
	A-4 Properties Developments Options  Phases.pdf

	5. Consideration and Approval of Contract with Corey Saunders, CPA PLLC
	A-5 Governance & Audit Consultant.docx

	6. Consideration and Approval of In Plant Pre-Build Bus (Fixed Route and Paratransit) Inspections
	A-6 Bus Inspections.docx

	7. Consideration and Approval of Microsoft Licensing Renewal
	A-7 Consideration and Approval of Microsoft Licensing Renewal.docx

	8. Consideration and Approval of an Amendment to WSP’s Task Order to Provide Purple Line Final Design Services
	A-8 Board Action Item WSP amendment for PL design services 1-2021.docx

	9. Consideration and Approval of Resolution to Sell and Transfer Real Property Located at 9050 E. 33rd Street, Indianapolis, Indiana to the City of Indianapolis on Behalf of the Indianapolis Fire Department
	A-13 Sale to City January 2021.docx
	A-13 Resolution.pdf


	6. Information Items
	1. DBE Department Update
	I-1 Supplier Diversity Board Update - January 2021..pptx

	2. Second Chance Hiring Initiative
	I-2 Information Item - Second Chance Hiring Initiative (January 2021).docx

	3. CEO Report
	I-3 CEO Report.docx

	4. Section 5307/5311 Update
	I-4 BoardUpdate_5307_5311.docx

	5. Governance & Audit Workplan Status Update
	I-5 Information Item - Jan 2021 GA - Workplan Status.docx

	6. Ethics Hotline Summary Report
	I-6 Information Item - Jan 2021 Ethics Summary.docx

	7. Capital Projects Updates for January 2021
	I-7 Information item - Capital Projects Task Order Update.docx

	8. Department Reports
	I-8a Risk & Safety Board Report Nov - 2020.docx
	I-8a Risk & Safety December Board Report 2020.docx
	I-8b PLANNING AND CAPITAL PROJECTS REPORT for January - final.docx
	I-8c Public Affairs Division Board Report January 2021.pdf
	I-8d Jan 2021 Operations Board Report.docx
	I-8e Human Resources Report (January 2021).docx
	I-8f Diversity  Inclusion  Workforce Development Division Report  January 2021.doc


	7. Adjourn
	8. Call to Order and Roll Call - Board of Finance Meeting
	9. Regular Agenda
	1. Board of Finance - Recommendation
	IPTC Investment Policy Final - Approved by BoD on May 23, 2019.pdf
	InvestIntEarn2020.xlsx


	10. Adjourn



